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No. 1 The Daishoin <tbBULAEESS . #HE>
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The Daishoin

The Daishoin was designed in 1916 by the famous architect Takeda Goichi (1872—1938), one of the architects of the
National Diet Building in Tokyo. The Daishoin was the former residence of the industrialist Murai Kichibei (1864—
1926). It was moved to this location in the autumn of 1928 to commemorate the enthronement of Emperor Showa,
and to mark the 1150th anniversary of the establishment of Enryakuji on Mount Hiei. It is a typical example of Taisho
petiod (1912-1926) architecture, including modern architectural features into a traditional shoin or study style. The very

best materials were used in its construction, and the view of Lake Biwa from the building is magnificent.

Nowadays, the Daishoin serves as a guesthouse for important domestic and international visitors. It lodges imperial
envoys participating in special ceremonies at Enryakuji, for instance the presentation of robes by the emperor during
the week of April 4th to 11th. High-ranking monks stay here when they preside at ceremonies in the Daiko-do, such

as the Lotus Ceremony for Broad Learning,

Daishoin (lit. Great Study) VIP Reception Hall
Daiko-do (Great Lecture Hall)
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Daishoin

This building was erected in 1937 by the main priest of Enryaku-ji Temple as a 1,150 year Buddhist memorial service
to commemorate the opening of the temple on Mount Hiei. It was designed by professor emeritus Goichi Takeda of
Kyoto University.

Based on the traditional Kyoto shoin-zukuri style, and using the most luxurious materials and architectural techniques
of the time, it skillfully incorporates pure Japanese style harmonized with Western architectural accents, making it a
representative piece of modern architecture.

The Showa Emperor and Empress rested here when visiting in 1975. Daishoin is a guest house that welcomes

dignitaries from around the world who visit Mount Hiei.
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No. 2 Monju-ro <EEBULERESF. WE>
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Monju-ro (Important Cultural Property)

The Monju-ro is dedicated to the Monju Bodhisattva, the Bodhisattva of Wisdom, and stands high up on a ridge above
the Konpon Chudo at the top of a long flight of stone steps. The Monju-ro is used for one of the four types of Buddhist
practices (samadhi concentration). The practices are based on the Lotus Sutra and are described in the Makashikan,
written by the monk Chigi, the founder of Tendai Buddhism. The tower is used for “constantly-sitting samadhi,” in

which monks meditate in the full lotus position for ninety days without resting.

Saicho had planned to build a tower for meditation. After his death, the plan was realized by Saicho’s disciple Ennin
(794-864), who had visited the Monju or Manjusti Bodhisattva Hall, a center of Manjusri worship on Mount Wutai in
China. Construction began in 861, and sacred stones brought from Mount Wutai were buried in the five directions
around the altar. After Ennin’s death, his disciples carved a statue of the bodhisattva Manjusti in which incense from

China’s Mount Wutai had been placed and installed it in the hall.

In 1984, the Tendai abbot Yamada Etai made a pilgrimage to Mount Wutai, following in the footsteps of his

predecessors. He returned with sacred soil, placing it under the lion on which the Monju Bodhisattva sits.

The bodhisattva Manjusti is said to preach with perfect wisdom, and many pilgrims come to pray for success with their

academic studies or in entrance examinations.

Monju-ro is a designated cultural property of Otsu City.

C: Chinese

S: Sanskrit

Monju-ro (Monju Tower)
Monju (S. Manjusti)
Makashikan (C. Mohe zhiguan)
Chigi (C. Zhiyi)
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Monjuro

The Monjuro is located on a slightly elevated ridge at the front of Konponchu-do Hall in Enryakuji Temple, facing
east. It is a tower gate with a three-beam span, two-beam span, and tiered copper plate hip-and-gable roof with Monju
bodhisattva enshrined at the top.

It is as old as Konpnchu-do Hall. After being burned down by Oda Nobunaga, it was rebuilt along with Konponchu-
do Hall and the Kodo Hall during the reconstruction period of the Kan’ei era (1634 to 1641). However, it was again
burned down in 1668, and rebuilt immediately afterward, which is remains to this day. Despite being small, it is a
representative piece of architecture from the Edo period, and an eclectic building that blends a mainly Chinese style

with traditional Japanese style. In 1973 it was designated as an Otsu City cultural property.
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No. 3 Statue of Saicho (also known as Dengyo Daishi) as a Child <EEBULERESF. WE>
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Statue of Saicho (also known as Dengyo Daishi, 767-822) as a Child

This statue is an image of the famous Buddhist monk Saicho (767-822) as a child. He founded Enryakuji temple, one
of the most influential Buddhist monasteries in Japanese history, in 788. He is holding a small statue of Yakushi Nyorai,
the Buddha of Healing, since according to legend it was said that he was born holding a statue of Yakushi Nyorai.
Saicho’s parents lived in Sakamoto at the foot of Mount Hiei. They were childless, and in the hope of receiving divine
intervention, his father spent seven days in retreat in a hut on Mount Hachioji, a small peak at the foot of Mount Hiei,
praying to the Shinto deity Oyamakui no kami. On the fourth day, Saicho’s father had a dream that his desire for a
child would be fulfilled, and his son, Saicho, was born.

As a boy, Saicho was known by the name Hirono. He began his training in Buddhism at the age of twelve and was

tonsured as a novice monk at fifteen, when he received his Buddhist name, Saicho.

When Emperor Kanmu made Enryakuji a guardian temple for the nation in 794, Saicho designated Hiyoshi Taisha as

the protective shrine of Mount Hiei.

In Sakamoto at the Shogenji temple, there is a well from which water was drawn to wash Saicho after his birth, built
on the site of Saicho’s father’s house. The nearby Tonanji temple was built to preach the Lotus Sutra to the people of

Tozu Bay in commemoration of the monk’s father.
y

This statue of Saicho as a child was erected in 1937 to commemorate the 1,150th anniversary of the founding of

Entyakuji.
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Dengyou Daishi Statue

This statue was built in 1937 as to commemorate the opening of the temple on Mount Hiei 1,150 years before.
Dengyo Daishi Saicho’s final words were: “Since my birth I have never spoken a rough word, nor raised a hand to a
weak one. My disciples, please do not hit young, immature disciples. I will be very glad if you make an effort in this
regard.”

This statue was built with donations from elementary school children across Japan as a way to show the world the spirit

of Dengyo Daishi toward children.
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No. 4 Konpon Chudo Main Worship Hall (National Treasure) <EEBULERESF. WE>
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Konpon Chudo Main Worship Hall (National Treasure)

Enryakuji temple was founded in 788 by the Buddhist monk Saicho (767-822), who introduced the teachings of the
Chinese Tendai School of Buddhism to Japan in 806. The monastery is one of the most important monasteries in
Japan, and many of the new schools of Japanese Buddhism were founded by monks trained at Enryakuji. Japanese
Tendai Buddhism combines esoteric ritual and meditation, and its focus on the universality of the teachings of the
Buddha allowed for the reconciliation of Buddhist teachings with native Shinto. Saicho was ordained at Todaiji in Nara
in 785 at the age of twenty. He left the capital to find seclusion on Mount Hiei to pursue his study of the sutras and to
meditate. In 788, as the number of his followers increased, he built the Ichijo Shikanin temple to house the statue of
Yakushi Nyorai, the Buddha of healing, which he had carved from the wood of a sacred tree. That building is the
predecessor of the Konpon Chudo. The eternal flame that Saicho lit in front of the Yakushi Nyorai has been kept
burning for over 1,200 years. The choice of Mount Hiei by Saicho was fortuitous, since the temple is situated to the
inauspicious northeast of the new capital when it was moved to Kyoto in 793. In order to protect the capital from evil
from this direction, Enryakuji was ordered by Emperor Kanmu (r. 781-800) to recite sutras and perform the fire ritual
daily to pray for the safety of the nation and for peace. Saicho’s followers continue this practice today, praying for the

whole of humanity and for world peace.

One of the special features of the Konpon Chudo is that the main Buddhist statue is at the same level as the outer
sanctum where worshippers pray. This is because the inner sanctum stone floor is three meters lower than the outer
sanctum, and is an architectural expression of the Tendai School teaching that everyone can achieve Buddhahood. The

main hall of Saito, Tenpo Rin-do (Shaka-do), and the Yokawa Chudo (Konpon Kannon-do), are also built in this style.

Prayers for the peace and prosperity of the nation and its people are offered daily at Konpon Chudo. Sutras are chanted

and wooden tablets on which prayers are written (gomagi) are burnt in a sacred fire.
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This is the main hall at the temple on Mount Hiei. Mount Hiei was the first place Dengyo Daishi Saicho made his
hermitage in 788, and Konponchu-do Hall was built as the first dojo for the spiritual protection of the nation.

The current hall was rebuilt in 1642 by Tokugawa Iemitsu, the third shogun of the Edo shogunate. This hall features
the particular style of Mount Hiei, and enshrines Yakushinyorai, created by Dengyo Daishi himself, which is generally
hidden from public view. Every day in the inner temple, small pieces of wood are burned on the alter to invoke divine
help for the safety of the nation and the prosperity of the people. At the Hozen (before the enshrined gods and Buddha)

in the inner temple is the Eternal Light, a lamp which has continued to shine uninterrupted for 1,200 years.
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No. 5 Sanmen Shusse Daikoku-do Hall <tbBULAEESS . #HE>
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Sanmen Shusse Daikoku-do Hall

The hall stands at the place where Saicho encountered Daikokuten, one of the seven gods of good fortune, associated
with good fortune and the kitchen. When Saicho first climbed Mount Hiei, he met a hermit and asked him who he was.
The hermit answered by quoting the Lotus Sutra: “I remove the suffering of people and grant peace and the bliss of
nirvana to this world.” Saicho then asked, “Then please protect the livelihood of the mountain and the health of the
monks who practice here, and ensure there is enough food to feed them.” The hermit promised, “I will provide food
for three thousand people daily, and grant good fortune and long life to those who worship me.” Saicho realized that
the hermit must be Daikokuten, so he purified himself and carved an image of the Three-Headed Daikokuten with
three heads and six arms. Later, Saicho’s disciple Kojo (779-858) enshrined a sculpture made by Saicho here, and it

eventually became an administrative office and dining hall.

The central face of the Three-Headed Daikokuten is Daikokuten himself, provider and protector of food supplies. On
the left is Bishamonten, giver of courage and strength. Benzaiten, who grants beauty and talent, is on the right. The six
arms clutch various tools that remove suffering and grant good fortune. Many such statues are enshrined throughout

Japan today, but this was the first Three-Headed Daikokuten statue.

S: Sanskrit

Sanmen Shusse Daikoku-do (Three-Headed Daikoku Hall of Success)
Daikokuten (S. Mahakala)

Bishamonten (S. Vaisravana)

Benzaiten (S. Sarasvati)
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Daikokuten Hall of Success
When Dengyo Daishi Saicho built Konponchu-do Hall, this hall was the first hall enshrining the guardian deity
Daikokuten. Here monks prayed for the peace of the mountain and the well-being of the common folk. During the
Warring States period, Toyotomi Hideyoshi, who rose through the ranks from foot soldier to shogun, prayed here for

fortune and prosperity. This hall is also known as the Daiokuten Hall of Success, and is revered by many people.
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Manpai-do

This hall enshrines Buddhas and bodhisattvas, and the beneficent deities who protect the Buddhist Law, originating
from temples and shrines from all over Japan. These deities variously protect the people and the nation, practitioners

of the Lotus Sutra, and include the deities on earth who symbolize the universe that provides such good fortune.

Visitors are invited to enter the hall, thank the deities for their protection, and to pray for their personal concerns and

for world peace. Thirty protective deities, one for each day of the month, are portrayed on the walls.

Manpai-do (Hall of Ten Thousand Bows)
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Manpai-do Hall

This is a new hall built in modern times, enshrining the spirits all of the divided deities of Shinto shrines and Buddhist
temples from across Japan, including bodhisattvas and various good heavenly deities (gods of the land that represent
the workings of the universe and guard the ascetic of the Lotus Sutra, protect the people and the land, and bestow
happiness) where the monks pray for the peace of mankind day and night.

Every day at dawn, citcumambulating ascetics stand here and pray to the gods and Buddha for world peace and to
fulfill their requests.

Visitors to the temple should feel free to enter the hall to give thanks for protection, pray for world peace, and other

wishes they want to see fulfilled.
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Daiko-do (Important Cultural Property)

The Daiko-do was constructed after Saicho’s death by his senior disciple Gishin (781-833) and completed in 824.
Initially, the building was an annex to the Precepts Platform that was used as accommodation by the imperial envoy
during ordination ceremonies. Later, it became a center of academic study for monks. The Lotus Ceremony for Broad
Learning introduced by Ryogen (912-985) and the Tendai Assembly for Ten Lotus Lectures introduced by Saicho are
performed in the Hall. Rituals and debates, such as the Nirvana Assembly and the Memorial Service for Dengyo Daishi
Saicho, are performed here. Every four years, the hall is used for the Lotus Ceremony for Broad Learning, an important

rite of passage required to become a fully-fledged Tendai monk.

The central image is Dainichi Nyorai, the Great Sun Buddha, worshipped as the supreme, primordial sun Buddha.
Mount Hiei is a training monastery for the study and practice of four types of Buddhism: the teachings of Tendai
Buddhism, Zen meditation, Nenbutsu chanting of the name of the Buddha, and Esoteric Buddhism. Esoteric
Buddhism through “concealed teachings” offers Buddhahood and paradise on earth to the initiate through ritual
practice and the contemplation of sacred images. The Daiko-do enshrines images of many who studied and practiced
on Mount Hiei and went on to found new schools of Buddhism, which is why Mount Hiei is often called the mother

of Japanese Buddhism.

New Schools and Their Founders

Enchin (814-891), founder of the Jimon branch of Tendai

Ryonin (1072-1132), founder of the Yuzu Nenbutsu school

Honen (1133-1212), founder of the Jodo school of Pure Land Buddhism

Eisai (1141-1215), founder of the Rinzai Zen school

Shinran (1173-1262), founder of the Jodo Shinshu school of Pure Land Buddhism
Dogen (1200-1253), founder of the Soto school of Zen Buddhism

Nichiren (1222-1812), founder of the Nichiren school

Ippen (1239-1289), founder of the Ji school of Pure Land Buddhism

Shinsei (1443-1495), founder of the Shinsei branch of Tendai
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Daiko-do Hall

This building was erected by Gishin, the first head priest of Tendai Buddhism to serve as a school for study and
discussion by priests.

Once every four years the “Hokke Daickogaku Ryuki” is held here, a Buddhist sermon in accordance with the oldest
traditions of the Tendai sect. This is an important ritual for becoming a member of the Tendai priesthood started by
Jikei Daishi Ryogen, and continues to be carried on to this day.

The current building was relocated here from the foothills of Sakamoto after the original hall was lost in 1956. Statues
of founders of various sects of Buddhism that trained at Eizan can be found enshrined inside the hall. The hall has

been designated as an important cultural property by the Japanese government.
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Zento-in

Two theories exist about the origin of Zento-in: that it was the residence of Saicho’s disciple Ennin (794-864), and

that it was constructed by Enchin (814-891) in order to honor the attainments of Ennin.

The name “To-in” is used for the dwelling of monks who have traveled to Tang China. In Hiezan there are two To-in
halls, the Zento-in and Goto-in, one for Ennin and one for Enchin. Ennin went to China first, so his residence is called
the Zento-in (literally the Eatlier Tang China Temple). Enchin went to China after Ennin, and thus his hall is the Goto-
in (literally the Later Tang China Temple).

Saicho, the founder of Enryakuji, asked Emperor Kanmu for permission to visit Tang China in order to receive the
Buddhist Law directly from a master of the Tendai school, and to establish a center of Buddhism on Mount Hiei upon
his return. Permission was granted, and he set out in 804, travelling throughout China for eight months in search of
the Dharma, the universal truth proclaimed by the Buddha. Saicho studied Tendai and Zen, was initiated in esoteric
Buddhism, and returned with many Buddhist scriptures. Kukai (774—835), who left for Tang China with Saicho,

returned to Japan two years later with a greater knowledge of Esoteric Buddhism.

After Saicho passed away in 822 at the age of fifty-six, his disciples sought to acquire more esoteric Buddhist scriptures.
In 835 when he was already aged forty-two, Ennin was given permission by the emperor to visit Tang China, and he
departed in 838. He spent fourteen years travelling in the country and returned to Japan with 802 volumes of
commentaties on the sutras, mandala images, relics of the Buddha, and Buddhist ritual implements. The long and
arduous journey is documented in his famous diary, Records of a Pilgrimage in Search of the Dharma in China. The

Zento-in houses some of these texts along with a statue of Ennin, and serves as his memorial.

Zento-in (Earlier Tang China Temple)
Goto-in (Later Tang China Temple)
Recotrds of a Pilgrimage in Search of the Dharma in China (Nitto gubo junrei koki)
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Zento-in

The principal image of Jikaku Daishi Ennin, the third head of the Tendai sect is enshrined here.

In the past, this building served as a scripture house that stored the writings and mandala from the Shingon esoteric
Buddhism brought back from China (called “Tang” at the time) by Ennin.

Because Ennin visited Tang China before Chisho Daishi Enchin, the fifth head of the sect who founded Mii-dera
Temple, this is called the Pre-Tang Temple, whereas Chisho Daishi Enchin’s is called the Post-Tang Temple.
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Kaidan-in (Important Cultural Property)

Saicho’s most fervent desire was to be allowed to perform ordinations of monks on Mount Hiei using only the
Bodhisattva Precepts. At the time, Buddhist ordinations in Japan were allowed only at the Todaiji temple in Nara,
Kanzeoniji in Chikuzen (present-day Fukuoka), and the Yakushiji temple in Shimotsuke (Tochigi Prefecture), based on
the Theravada branch of Buddhism. Theravada is the oldest of the two extant schools of Buddhism. The Bodhisattva
Precepts differ from the teachings of Theravada Buddhism in that the teach that enlightenment can be attained in a
single lifetime, even by a layperson. By performing its own ordinations, Mount Hiei would become independent of the

control of the Office of Monastic Affairs in Nara.

Saicho wrote the “Regulations for Mountain Students” and “Treatise to Clarify the Precepts” to advocate for
independent ordination on Mount Hiei, and repeatedly asked Emperor Saga for permission to perform ordinations.

The emperor granted Saicho’s wish to build an ordination hall, which was officially approved on the eleventh day of
the sixth month of 822, seven days after Saicho’s death at the age of fifty-six. His senior disciple Gishin (781-833) was
responsible for the construction of the Ordination Hall. It houses images of Shakamuni Buddha (the Primordial

Buddha) and the bodhisattvas Monju and Miroku. Ordination ceremonies ate still conducted here every year.

A stone monument reproducing the “Regulations for Mountain Students” written by Saicho, and a statue of Saicho as

a young boy, stand next to the Konpon Chudo.

J: Japanese  S: Sanskrit

Kaidan-in (Precepts Platform Hall)

Regulations for Mountain Students (J. Sange gakushoshiki)
Treatise to Clarify the Precepts (J. Kenkairon)

Shakuson (S. Shakyamuni)

Monju (S. Manjusti)

Miroku (S. Maitreya)

Konpon Chudo (Central Hall)

“Single Vehicle Precepts” (J. Ichijokai)
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Kaidan-in Temple

Rituals in the Mahayana Buddhism discipline are catried out at this hall, where those who renounce the world and
receive the precepts of Buddhism are recognized as priests. This is the most important hall at Mount Hiei. Founder
Dengyo Daishi Saicho put his heart and soul into establishing Japan’s first Mahayana ordination hall. However, the
Imperial Court granted leave seven days after his death, and the building was erected in the year 828. Takuwa
Shakyamuni Buddha, Monju, and Maitreya Bodhisattva are enshrined in the inner temple, where ordinations are

carried out once a year.

Enryakuji Temple Kaidan-in, Building 1

The current structure was rebuilt in 1678. It features a shingled roof, a three-rowed, three-beam span, single tier,
pyramidal roof, and eaves made in a Chinese style gable. From the pent roof seen on the outside, it appears to be a
double roofed, five-sided Buddhist temple. It has elements of both Japanese and Chinese styles, the wooden parts
mainly colored with vermillion and black, with stone paving and a stone ordination platform on the interior. In August

1901 it was designated as an important cultural property.
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Amida-do

This hall is part of Saicho’s original plan for the Lotus Soji-in temple complex. Construction began at the request of
Emperor Montoku in 862. It was modeled after Seiryu-ji in the Chinese Tang-dynasty capital city of Changan (present
day Xi’an), which Ennin had visited. The hall was completed after decades of work as the center for practicing Tendai

Esoteric Buddhism.

Today the Amida-do constitutes the core of the Todo eastern tower district of the monastery. It is connected to the
Kanjo-do to the south, and the Jakko-do to the north by corridors. The original buildings were all burnt down in 1571
by the warlord Oda Nobunaga (1543-1582), who attacked Enryakuji to end Buddhist militancy, as part of his campaign

to reunify Japan after a century of civil war.

The current structure was built in 1937 as part of the 1150th anniversary celebrations of the founding of Tendai
Buddhism on Mount Hiei. It is the only hall in the Enryakuji complex devoted to memorial services. The statue at its

center is the Amida Buddha and is 4.8 meters high. Pure Land nenbutsu chanting practices are cartied out daily.

The benefits of good actions are transferred to others, prayers are offered for the peaceful repose of ancestors and
other relations, and many ceremonies such as the spring (March 18th—24th and autumn (Sept. 201-26%) equinox

ceremonies), the Ullambana ancestral festival (August 13th—16th), and the fall equinox ceremonies are conducted here.

J: Japanese

Amida-do (Amida Hall)

Changan (J: Choan)

Kancho-do (Initiation Hall)

Jakko-do (Quiescent Light Hall)

Spring equinox ceremonies (J. haru higan-e)
Ullambana ancestral festival (J. Urabon-e)

Fall equinox ceremonies (J. aki higan-e)
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Amida-do Hall

This hall was erected in 1937 as a Buddhist memorial service to commemorate the opening of the temple on Mount
Hiei 1,150 years before. The spitits of believers from across Japan are enshrined in the hall, which is a place of training
for chanting daily incantations for using the reward of one’s good deeds to atone for the sins of others.

The building is squatre shaped with five-span corners built in a purely Japanese style using construction methods from
the early Kamakura period (1185 to 1235). The interior features a fascinating color scheme, with the area around the
ceiling of the inner temple being particularly beautiful and richly colored. The principle idol is an approximately 4.8

meter statue of the Amida Buddha carved by Naito Koseki, the Buddhist image maker of Kyoto University.
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Hokke Soji-in To-do (Stupa)

The Hokke Soji-in To-do (Stupa) is considered the most important part of the temple complex as conceived by Saicho
(767-822), and occupies the highest elevation at Enryakuji. Saicho had planned to build six stupas throughout Japan,
each containing a thousand copies of the Lotus Sutra, to protect the country through the Buddha Dharma. Positioned
at the four cardinal directions, these were the Shimotsuke Stupa at Daiji-ji in Iwafune in Tochigi Prefecture to the
north, the Buzen Stupa at Usa Shrine in Usa in Oita Prefecture to the south, the Ueno Stupa at Johoji in Onishi-machi
in Gunma Prefecture to the east, and the Chikuzen Stupa at Kamado Shrine in Dazaifu, Fukuoka Prefecture in the

west.

The center of Japan would be protected by the Yamashiro Stupa, in the Saito (West tower) district of Mount Hiei, and
the Omi Stupa at the Todo (East tower) district of Mount Hiei was planned as the fulcrum of the whole plan. Only the
stupas at Shimotsuke and Ueno were completed during Saicho’s lifetime, and the plan was not completed until 110

years after Saicho’s death.

In 821, towards the end of Saicho’s life, the central pillar for this constellation of stupas was erected in the Todo district
of Mount Hiei in memory of the Emperor Kanmu (736—806). Saicho’s disciple Ennin completed the building of the

Lotus Soji-in.

This stupa was rebuilt in 1980. The main image is of the Buddha Dainichi Nyorai. A relic of the Buddha and copies of
the Lotus Sutra are housed in the stupa’s upper level. Copies of the Lotus Sutra made by worshippers are also stored

in this stupa.

S: Sanskrit

Hokke Soji-in (Lotus Attainment Temple)

Dainichi Nyorai (S Mahavairocana)
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Hokke Souji-in East Pagoda

Saint Dengyou Daishi Saicho built pagodas at six locations across Japan in order to protect the land and the people,
and the Hokke Soji-in East Pagoda is the focal point of these. In 1980, this temple was rebuilt for the first time in
approximately 550 years.

It is 30 meters tall and built of Japanese cypress. Principle images enshrined here include the Great Sun Buddha, the

five wisdom Buddhas, with a stupa and Lotus Sutra resting on the very top of the pagoda
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Sanno-in

Saicho is said to have built this hall during the Enryaku period (782—-8006). Enryakuji temple takes its name from the

Enryaku period, one of only four temples in Japan to have been granted this honor.

The central images enshrined here are of the Sho Kannon, the bodhisattva of compassion, and the Thousand-Armed

Senju Kannon Bodisattva of mercy, hence the temple’s alternative name “Senjudo.”

Enchin (814-891) began his studies under Saicho’s senior disciple Gishin when he was fourteen. He went to study in
Tang China in 853, five years after Ennin’s return. Enchin returned in 858 at the age of thirty-nine, having studied the
latest developments in Esoteric Buddhism in addition to Tendai Buddhism. During his tenure as Tendai Abbot (868—

891), the Sanno-was his main residence.

This temple housed the sutras and commentaries that Enchin had brought from China. This was one of the three
collections, the Sannozo. The other two were the texts that had been originally brought by Saicho when he founded
the Tendai school of Buddhism at Mount Hiei, and the collection of esoteric Buddhist texts gathered by Ennin. Since
Enchin went to China after Ennin, the hall was alternatively known as the “Goto-in” (Later Tang China Temple), as

opposed to Ennin’s “Zento-in” (Eatlier Tang China Temple).

The hall served as a memorial to Enchin after his death, enshrining a statue of Enchin in which his bones were placed.
A hundred years later, a dispute about leadership of Mount Hiei broke out between the Ennin- and Enchin-branches
of Tendai, and this statue was carried down from Mount Hiei and placed in Miidera, the temple that became the

headquarters of the Enchin branch, in the city of Otsu at the foot of the mountain.

The Senju Kannon statue that was originally enshrined in the Sanno-in Hall is kept at Enryakuji and designated an

Important Cultural Property.

Sanno-in (also called Goto-in: Later Tang China Temple)

Senju Kannon (Thousand-Armed Avalokitesvara)




Sho Kannon (Noble Avalokitesvara)
Senjudo (Thousand-Armed [Avalokitesvara] Hall)
Sannozo (Sanno Collection)

Shingonzo (esoteric materials)
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Sanno-in Hall (Post Tang)

Its full name is Hokke Chingo Sanno-in, also called the Post Tang temple, whose chief priest Chisho Daishi Enchin
was the fifth head of the sect. Because the thousand-armed Kannon is enshrined here, it is also known as the Senju-do
Hall, and Senju-in Temple. For 100 years after the death of chief priest Enchin, there was conflict between the disciples
of Enchin and scholar priest disciples of Jikaku Daishi Ennin, and it is said that the disciples of Enchin catried the
statue of Chisho Daishi Ennin on their backs to Otsu Mii-dera Temple (Onjo-ji Temple). This hall is an extremely

important part of Buddhist history.
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Hoshi-Mine Inati Shrine

At around the time Enryakuji was founded on Mount Hiei, it is said that the deity Dakiniten appeared in the form of a
sacred fox, white as snow, purifying people of their sins and granting good fortune, and this shrine was built for the
worship of Dakiniten. Dakiniten is a member of the entourage of the deity Daikokuten, the god the five cereals.
Daikiten is a type of female demon and was later merged with the worship of the Inari Shinto deity of the rice harvest
when Buddhism and Shinto were merged. She is worshipped for her special powers of granting wishes, and her
following was strong among particularly the court nobles. People come to this shrine to pray for personal achievements,

business success, and a prosperous family life. Goshuin stamps for this shrine are available at the Monju-ro.
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Seiho Inari Shrine

Dakiniten, the principal idol enshrined here is the divine fox king bodhisattva who saves all living things from the six
realms (Nakara realm, hungty ghost realm, animal realm, Asura realm, human realm, deva realm). This Buddhist deity
(deva realm) originally comes from the Indian Hindu god Yakshini (demigoddess), and is a syncretic fusion with the
Japanese Inari faith.

Around the time Enryaku-ji Temple was built, Dakiniten transformed into the divine white snow fox, and came to the

star ridge in that area. Dakiniten then wiped away the sins and impurities of the people and bestowed good fortune




upon them.

Ever since then the nobles showed faith in Dakiniten, and it is said that their prayers were answered with remarkable

SUucCCess.

Offer your prayers here for prosperity in business, fortune and prosperity for your family, and success in life.
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Jodo-in (Important Cultural Property)

The most sacred site on Mount Hiei, this temple is a mausoleum dedicated to Dengyo Daishi Saicho (767-822), the
Great Master who founded the temple complex of Enryakiji on Mount Hiei. Saicho dedicated his entire life to gaining
permission from the emperor to ordain monks based on the Mahayana precepts, which held that even laypeople could

achieve enlightenment in this life. Saicho passed away in 822.

The Jodo-in temple was built in 854 by Saicho’s leading disciple, Jikaku Daishi Ennnin. It enshrines the remains of
Saicho, and was modeled after the Chikurinji temple in China. A monk called the jishin or true watcher has been
stationed at the mausoleum ever since the mausoleum was built. The monk must be prepared to serve the spirit of
Saicho day and night as though Saicho were still alive, and must observe the strictest rules to maintain purity of mind

and body.

Bodhi and sala trees are planted near the mausoleum fence, evoking the paradise of the Gokuraku Pure Land. In
Buddhist tradition, the Buddha achieved enlightenment while sitting in meditation beneath a bodhi tree, and passed
away lying between two sala trees. The “true watcher” cleans the grounds, performs religious services and diligently
pursuing his studies from early morning to evening. He maintains a strict lifestyle following the regulations of “ascetic

practice on the mountain” and will not leave Mount Hiei for a period of twelve years.

J: Japanese  S: Sanskrit

Jodo-in (Temple of the Pure Land)

Jikaku Daishi Ennin (Great Master of Compassionate Awakening)
Chikurinji (Bamboo Forest Temple)

Mahayana Precepts Hall (Kaidan-in)

Sarasoju (S. Sala tree)

Bodaiju (S. Bodhi tree)

Gokuraku Pure Land (8. Sukhavati )

Ascetic practice on the mountain (J. rozan shugyo)




“True watcher” (J. jishin)
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Jodo-in Temple (Important Cultural Property)

This is the location of the mausoleum (where the spirit is enshrined) of Mount Hiei’s founder, Dengyo Daishi Saicho,
and the most pure holy ground in all of Mount Hiei.

Dengyo Daishi dedicated his entire life to bringing about the independence of the Mahayana court, attaining nirvana
(passing away) in the year 822.

In the year 854, his disciple Jikaku Daishi Ennin erected a mausoleum modeled after the five mountain bamboo forest
temple in China, in which he enshrined the remains of Daishi. Since then, the priests who watch over the mausoleum
have been called jishin, who are prepared to remain on the mountain for the rest of their lives, purifying the mind and
body under the strictest precepts to serve the living Daishi both day and night, making offerings in the service of the
dead.

Sal trees and linden trees planted around the shrine fence in front of the mausoleum create an atmosphere like that of
the promised land.

From eatly morning to evening the jishin clean and carryout religious services, engage in studies, living by the laws of

Rozan training by remaining on the mountain for twelve yeats.
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Jogyo-do (Important Cultural Property)

The hall is also called the Jogyozanmai-in and is used for the practice of the “constant-walking samadhi.” This is one
of four types of samadhi or concentration practices described in Makashikan, a text written by Chigi, the monk who
founded Tendai Buddhism. This text is among the most important in Tendai Buddhism and it had a profound influence
on Saicho. The hall enshrines a statue of the Amida Buddha. In “constant-walking samadhi,” monks chant the name
of the Amida Buddha, concentrating on the Amida Buddha while walking within the hall without resting for ninety

days.

The practitioner is not allowed to lie down, and must remain standing even while sleeping. When the practitioner enters
the state of intense concentration or samadhi, he will see the Buddha before his eyes. Thus, this practice is also called
the butsuryu-ganmai, or the “standing Buddha samadhi.” The hall is still used for this practice, and silence must be

observed in the area around the hall.

There were Constant-Walking halls in the East Pagoda (Todo), West Pagoda (Saito), and Yokawa areas. Today, only

the Saito area hall still remains.

C: Chinese

Jogyo-do (Constant-Walking Hall)

Jogyozanmai-in (Constant-Walking Samadhi Temple)
Tendai (C. Tiantai)

Chigi (C. Zhiyi)

Makashikan (C. Mohe zhiguan)

Butsuryu-zanmai (samadhi in which the Buddha appears standing in front of you)
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Jogyo-do Hall, Building 1

This hall features a shingled roof, five-rowed, five-beam span, single tier, pyramidal roof, and a pent roof (protruding
center section of the roof) at the front. It is connected to the neighboring Hokke-do Hall by a four-rowed, single-span
Tang-style hallway, and these two similatly-shaped halls and hallways are called Ninai-do Hall.

Jogyo-do Hall was built in 1595, and is a superb example of Japanese style that incorporates both latticed shutters and
plank doors with no framework. The principal image of Jogyo-do Hall is Amida Nyorai and samadhi through constant
walking is practiced here. The inside of the hall is a bit unique because it has all of its pillars.

In June 1955 Jogyo-do Hall and Hokke-do Hall were both designated as important cultural properties by the Japanese

government.
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No. 17 Hokke-do (Important Cultural Property) <EEBULERESF. WE>
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Hokke-do (Important Cultural Property)

The Hokke-do is used for one of the four types of samadhi meditation described in the Makashikan text, the “half-
walking and half-sitting samadhi.” In order to attain the wisdom of the Buddha, for twenty-one days the practitioner
walks around the inside of the hall performing full body prostrations in worship of the Buddha and in repentance, as
well as sitting in mediation. The hall is still used by practitioners today. The central image is that of the bodhisattva

Fugen, the Bodhisattva of meditation and practice.

In his “Regulations for Mountain Students,” Saicho required all Tendai monks to spend twelve years on Mount Hiei,
choosing to practice either the Tendai course, or the esoteric course. The four types of samadhi concentration were
the most fundamental practices for the monks who chose to study and practice the Tendai meditation course. Saicho
intended to build a hall for each of the four types of samadhi concentration. The Lotus Samadhi Hall in the Eastern
Pagoda district was the only hall completed during his lifetime. After his passing, Ennin and other disciples fulfilled
Saicho’s wishes. There was a Lotus Samadhi hall in each of Enryakuji’s three districts, but today only the hall in the

Western Pagoda (Saito) area remains.

C: Chinese

J: Japanese

S: Sanskrit

Hokke-do (Lotus Hall )

Makashikan (C. Mohe zhiguan)

Fugen (S. Samantabhadra)

Regulations for Mountain Students (J. Sange gakushoshiki)
Tendai Lotus/Samatha-vipasyana coutse (J. shikan-go)

Esoteric Vairocana course (J. Shingon mikkyo; shana-go)
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Hokke-do Hall

This hall features a shingled roof, five-rowed, five-beam span, single tier, pyramidal roof, and a pent roof (protruding
center section of the roof) at the front. Because it is connected to the neighboring Jogyo-do Hall by a four-rowed,
single-span Tang-style hallway, the hallway is called Ninai-bo (palanquin pole), and the two halls are called Ninai-do
Hall.

Hokke-do Hall was built in 1595, and is a superb example of Japanese style that incorporates both latticed shutters and
plank doors with no framework. The principal image of Hokke-do Hall is Fugen bodhisattva and lotus samadhi is
practiced here. Just like Jogyo-do Hall, the inside of the hall is a bit unique because it has all of its pillars.

In June 1955 Jogyo-do Hall and Hokke-do Hall were both designated as important cultural properties by the Japanese

government.
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No. 18 Tenborindo or Shakado <tbBULAEESS . #HE>
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Tenborindo or Shakado (Important Cultural Property)

Also called the Shakado, or the Saito Chudo, this is the central hall of the Western Pagoda area. This area was developed
by the second Tendai Abbot Encho (771-836) who received his religious training directly from Saicho, who also built
this hall. The central image is of the Buddha Shaka Nyorai, carved by Saicho himself using sacred wood from the Todo
district’s northern valley. The stone floor of the inner sanctum is lower than the level where worshippers sit so that the
statue of the Buddha is at the same level as the worshippers. This is a feature of Tendai Buddhist architecture, and

follows the style of the Konpon Chudo in the Todo eastern district.

The hall temporarily fell into disrepair before it was restored by Ryogen (912-985). This hall was burnt down by the
warlord Oda Nobunaga (1534-1582) during the siege of Mount Hiei in 1571 as part of his campaign to reunify Japan
after more than a century of civil war. In 1595, the monk Senshun (1540—1600) made a request for the rebuilding of
the hall to Toyotomi Hideyoshi (1537-1598) who reunified Japan after the death of Nobunaga. The Miroku-do of the

Miidera temple was moved here. Dating back to 1347, it is the oldest surviving Buddhist hall on Mount Hiei.

S: Sanskrit

Tenborindo (Hall for Turning the Wheel of the Law)
Shakado (Shakyamuni Hall)

Konpon Chudo (Central Hall)

Saito Chudo (Central Saito Hall)

Shaka Nyorai (8. Shakyamuni Buddha)

Mirokudo (Maitreya Hall)
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Buddhist Sermon Hall (Shaka-do Hall)

This hall features a copper plate shingled gable roof, seven-rowed, seven-beam span, and a single tier. After the original
hall was burned down by Oda Nobunaga, Miroku-do Hall (main hall) of Onjo-ji Temple, which was built in 1347 was
moved here in 1595 on the orders of Toyotomi Hideyoshi, making it the oldest existing building on Mount Hiei.

This outer chamber of this hall features flooring typical Tendai Buddhist halls, and the inner temple has the
conventional earthen floor one step lower, however, a unique feature of the hall is the front bay which consists of
portals (doorways) only. Two rooms from the front on the side features a portal, with a wood siding wall for the lattice
window, and only part of the front and side with a border.

In 1959 the hall was dismantled for repair, restoring it to its original calm, beautiful form.

In April 1900 the hall was designated as an important cultural property by the Japanese government.

Buddhist Sermon Hall (Shaka-do Hall)

This hall is currently the main hall at the center of the West Pagoda, and is called the Shaka-do Hall because its principal
image is Shakyamuni.

It is currently the oldest hall at Enyraku-ji Temple, and originally the main hall at Onjo-ji Temple (Mii-dera Temple) in
Otsu, which was moved and reassembled here on the orders of Toyotomi Hideyoshi in 1596. Records from Onjo-ji
Temple prove that it was built in 1347.

Its original ornamental details are well preserved, and just like Konponchu-do Hall it is representative of the Tendai
style, with the palace enshrining the principal image resting on a platform in the center of an earthen floor in the inner

temple.
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No. 20 Tsubaki-do <tbBULAEESS . #HE>
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Tsubaki-do

Legend has it that long before Saicho established Enryakuji, Shotoku Taishi, (574—622) founded what became the
Tsubaki-do by enshrining a statue of Kannon that he had carried up the mountain. Prince Shotoku was appointed as
regent in 593 according to tradition, and was a fervent supporter of Buddhism. The hall was named after a large camellia
tree next to it that is said to have grown from a staff made of camellia wood that Shotoku Taishi thrust into the ground.

Sometimes this hall is used for the practice of “constantly-sitting samadhi” concentration.

S: Sanskrit

Tsubaki-do (Camellia Hall)

Shotoku Taishi (Prince Shotoku)

Kannon (S. Avalokitesvara)
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Tsubaki-do Hall

Legend has it that long ago Prince Shotoku used a staff made of tsubaki (camellia) when climbing Mount Hiei and
thrust it into the ground. On that spot a camellia shot appeared and grew into a large tree, which is where Tsubaki-do

Hall received its name.

There is a large camellia tree next to the hall from which it takes its name.
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No. 21 Tatsu-ga-lke Benten and the Dragon God <EEBULERESF. WE>
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Tatsu-ga-lke Benten and the Dragon God

The Yokawa district was developed by Ennin (794-864). It was the last of the three districts of Enryakuji to be
developed and is the furthest north. The area was expanded by Ryogen (912-985), who led a revival of Tendai
Buddhism in the latter part of the tenth century. According to legend, a large serpent once lived near the Dragon Lake
(also referred to as the Serpent Lake or the Red Lake). The serpent caused much harm to the local community, which
caused a decrease in the number of pilgrims. Ryogen captured the serpent and said, “I heard that you have the power
to freely transform the size of your body. Show me!” The great serpent answered, “As you wish,” and grew so large
that his body extended all the way around the Central Hall of Yokawa. Next Ryogen asked, “How small can you be?”
The serpent shrank so much in size that he fitted into the palm of Ryogen’s hand. Immediately Ryogen called upon the
power of the bodhisattva Kannon to confine the serpent within the waters of the lake. The serpent became a servant
of Benzaiten, the goddess of everything that flows including water. The dragon god protects travelers, and is also the

god of rainfall.

In ancient times during a drought, people from the neighboring villages would come and seclude themselves for seven
days at the Hiyoshi Taisha shrine, after which they would raise a ceremonial flag, and visit the lake to pacify the serpent

and to pray for rain.

J: Japanese S: Sanskrit

Ryu-ga-ike (Dragon Lake)
Kannon (S. Avalokitesvara)
Benzaiten (S. Sarasvati)

Dragon God (J. ryujin)
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Ryugaike Benten and Ryujin

This pond is called both Ryugaike (Dragon Pond) and Akaike (Red Pond). Ryugaike Benzaitennyo is enshrined in the
center of the pond. Since long ago, the story of Ganzan Daishi and the Dragon has been associated with this pond.
This is the story. Ganzan Daishi is another name for Jike Daishi Ryogen.

Long ago, a dragon lived in this pond who terrorized the monks and villagers by spitting poison at them. When learning
of this, Ganzan Daishi visited the dragon. “Is it true what I’ve heard about you possessing the miraculous power to
transform yourself into any shape you like?” he asked. “It’s true,” the dragon replied, “there is nothing I cannot do.”
Daishi then said to the dragon, “Then transform into a large dragon.” The dragon replied “An easy task,” growing
more than tenfold in size. Daishi spoke to the dragon again, saying, “Now make yourself small enough to fit in the
palm of my hand if you can.” The dragon replied, “As you wish,” shrinking in size and alighting on his hand. Then by
the power of Kannon, Daishi confined the dragon in the pond. Then Benten came and was enshrined here, and the
shrunken dragon became Benten’s attendant. The dragon was thereby admonished by Daishi, and swore to him that
he would repent of his evil ways, serving as Ryujin (dragon god) to Benten. He would use his divine powers for good
deeds, keeping safe those travelers on the road to Yokawa, and helping fulfill their wishes.

Also known as Amagoi Benten, together with Ryujin, they protect people with their miraculous powers.




770

No. 22 Konpon Nyoho- to <EEBULERESF. WE>
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Konpon Nyoho- to

Ennin (794-864) became a disciple of Saicho at the age of fifteen, and stayed on Mount Hiei for almost twenty years.
He travelled to the Kanto region before returning to Mount Hiei. When he was forty, Ennin fell ill and lost his eyesight,
so he retired to a small hut in Yokawa, expecting to die. He spent three years practicing the four types of samadhi
meditation, as well as the repentance rituals based on the Lotus Sutra, also known as the Lotus Samadhi. Eventually
his health improved and he regained his sight. Ennin ground ink on an inkstone made of graphite hard enough to last
a thousand years, and made brushes made of grass, and then made copies of the eight volumes of the Lotus Sutra,

which he enshrined in a small stupa. This stupa was the origin of the Konpon Nyoho-do.

The practice of making copies of the sutras, in particular of the Lotus Sutra, and then burying them is said to have
originated in Japan with Ennin. After purification before commencing, the person copying the sutra would follow
certain rules such as the use of special water and a graphite inkstone, and not using animal-hair brushes. Between the
Konpon Nyoho- to and the Yokawa Chudo is the Hall of the Sacred Water Well (Aka-ido), whose water is used for

copying the sutras.

Ennin built his hut and stupa at the Central Cedar Cave (Konpon Sugi no Hora), which is named after a very large
Japanese cedar tree next to it. Copies of the Lotus Sutra were enshrined in the stupa, along with statues of the historical
Buddha and the Buddha of Abundant Treasures, both central figures in the Lotus Sutra. The two Buddhas together
signify the non-duality of the ultimate and the historical, that at a given moment in the real world, one can touch the

ultimate.

J: Japanese  S: Sanskrit

Konpon Nyoho-do (Central Nyoho Stupa)

Yokawa Chudo (Yokawa Central Hall)

Repentance rituals based on the Lotus Sutra (J. Hokke senbo)
Lotus Samadhi (J. Hokke zanmai)

Shaka-nyorai (S. Shakyamuni Buddha)




Taho-butsu (S. Prabhutaratna Buddha)
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Konpon Nyoho-to Pagoda

The origin of this hall is when Jikaku Daishi Ennin, the third head of the Tendai sect, built a dharma light to enclose
the Lotus Sutra Part 1, Volume 8 that he copied himself with a graphite and grass brush (a writing brush made of grass
and particularly hard graphite that does will not wear down even when used for more than 1,000 years). It is called the
Konpon Nyoho-to Pagoda because it is the origin of the sacred places of Yokawa.

The principal deities of Shakyamuni and Taho are enshrined here. Items such as a copper cylinder containing the
teachings of Buddha, and gilt bronze Tang style sutra box patterned with flowers (national treasure, Enryaku-ji Temple
collection) have been unearthed from the temple grounds.

The current pagoda was built on the donations of pious businessman Gendo Yamaguchi in 1925. The thirty guardian
deities who protect the Lotus Sutra (thirty deities who take turns guarding the country, one for each day of the month)

are enshrined in the small shine in front of the pagoda.
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Yokawa Chudo

This great hall at the center of the Yokawa district is also known as Shuryogon-in and Konpon Kannon-do. It was built
by Ennin in 848 after he returned from Tang China, which he visited from 838 to 847. On his way to China, he
encountered strong winds, and he called on Kannon, the goddess of mercy, for help. Bishamon appeared and calmed
the winds, which is why Ennin enshrined statues of Sho Kannon and Bishamon at this temple. Ryogen renovated it in
975 and added a third statue, that of Fudo Myo-o, to make a triptych. Fudo Myo-o is the most important of the Five
Wisdom Kings, and is particularly revered in Tendai Buddhism. It is said that the architecture of the hall is modeled

after a Tang-period boat, with the roof shaped like the hulls once used to cross the sea to Tang China.

The Yokawa Chudo is considered the eighteenth stop on the Saikoku Kannon Bodhisattva pilgrimage, a series of thirty-
three temples in the Kansai area dedicated to Kannon, and is a center of faith in Kannon worship. The first station is
at Nachi Falls in the Kumano area of Wakayama, and many of the stations are temples in the Kyoto and Nara vicinity.
Throughout the Yokawa district are stone Buddhas representing the Saikoku pilgrimage’s thirty-three stations. Visiting

each of the statues can be likened to completing a virtual circuit of the actual pilgrimage, with similar spiritual benefits.

S: Sanskrit

Yokawa Chudo (Yokawa Central Hall)
Shuryogon-in (Heroic Valor Temple)

Konpon Kannon-do (Central Avalokitesvara Hall)
Kannon (S. Avalokitesvara)

Bishamon (S. Vaisravana)

Sho Kannon (Noble Avalokitesvara)

Fudo Myo-o (8. Acalanatha)
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Yokawa Chu-do Hall

This hall is called the Shuryogon-in Temple and is the main hall at the center of Yokawa. It was founded in the year
848 by Jikaku Daishi Ennin, the third head of the Tendai sect, and enshrines the main image of Sho Kannon. This hall
was burnt down during the burning of Mount Hiei by Oda Nobunaga, and then rebuilt on the orders of Toyotomi
Hideyori and Yodogimi. It was again burnt down in 1942 when it was struck by lightning. Thankfully the statue of Sho
Kannon was spared from the disaster, and in 1971 a beautiful red-lacquered parapet reminiscent of the original design
was restored as a way to commemorate the 1500th anniversary of the passing of Dengyou Daishi Saicho.

This hall is also the 18th site of the Shin Saigoku 33 Kannon Temple Pilgrimmage, and an important site for the
Buddhist faith. The Saigoku 33 Kannon Temple Pilgrimmage and stone Buddhist image course runs across the entire

Yokawa area, making for an enjoyable quiet, spiritual location.
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Sekizan-gu

Before Ennin (794-864) travelled to Tang China in 838 in order to absorb Buddhist culture, he asked the god of Sekizan
for protection. He vowed that in return he would build a Zen temple and spread Buddhism in Japan. After Ennin
returned safely back to Japan after nine years in China, he enshrined the Sekizan deity at Yokawa, but he died before
he could build the temple. Annen (794-868?) and other disciples of Ennin built the Sekizan Zen Temple at the foot of
Mount Hiei in 888, in fulfilment of Ennin’s vow. Later, following the lead of Ennin, the monks of Yokawa built a new
shrine for the deity of Sekizan as a guardian shrine of the Nyoho-do, which later became the Sekizan “Red Mountain”

Temple.

Prayers are said at Sekizan-gu for a long life, the purging of misfortune, and the purging of ill fortune arising from

unlucky directions.
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Sekizan-gu Shrine

When granted leave from the rulers of Japan to go study in Tang China, Jikaku Daishi Ennin beseeched Shinra Myojin
to be his guardian god during his Buddhist studies at Sekizan. He accepted Shinra Myojin as his god in the teachings
of Buddhism, by whose grace he returned safely to Japan after ten years of training, enshrining him at Sekizan-gu.

Since then, all temples across Japan have revered Jikaku Daishi as the saint of the Tendai tradition, and Sekizan Shinra

Myojin is enshrined as the guardian deity of Tendai Buddhism.




Sekizan Myojin is worshiped as a god that protects one from calamity and also the incarnation of the Jizo Bodhisattva.
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Eshin-do

This temple was built for Ryogen (912-985) by Fujiwara no Kaneie (929-990), an important courtier and politician
who became regent to the emperor in 986. The hall enshrines an image of Amida Nyorai and is used for the practice
of the nenbutsn zanmai or “samadhi concentration of praying devoutly to Amida Nyorai.” Later, Genshin (942-1017), a
disciple of Ryogen, lived here in isolation at Yokawa, far from the distractions of the world, in order to concentrate on
spiritual practices and his writing. In 985, at the age of forty-four, he compiled the Ojoyoshu, a collection of sutra
passages and treatises dealing with the Gokuraku (Great Bliss) paradise of Amida. This text, in three volumes, became
the foundation of the new school of Pure Land Buddhism in Japan. It provided guidelines for the Niju-go zanmai-e, a
group of twenty-five Pure Land nenbutsu practitioners for whom Genshin is said to have also produced a “twenty-five
samadhi ceremony.” Through the production of paintings such as the Rokudo jikkai-zu and the Amida raigo-zu, images
of hells and paradise became became fixed in the minds of Japanese people. Genshin was known by the honorary title

of Eshin Sozu, after the Eshin temple in which he lived.

Samadhi Concentration of Praying Devoutly to Amida Buddha (nenbutsu zanmai)
Ojoyoshu (Essential Passages on Rebirth)

Niju-go zanmai-e (Twenty-Five Samadhi Assembly)

Niju-go zanmai-shiki (Twenty-Five Samadhi Ceremony)

Rokudo jikkai-zu (Drawing of the Six Destinies and Ten Realms)

Amida raigo-zu (Drawing of Welcoming the Arrival of Amida)

Pure Land Buddhism (Jodo Bukkyo)
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Eshin-do Hall

This is the historic site of Eshin Sozu Genshin, and was originally built by Fujiwara Kaneie for Ganzan Daishi Ryogen.
Amida Nyorai is enshrined here, and this is a training center for devoutly praying to the Buddha.

Genshin secluded himself in this hall to train and focus on writing, forming the foundation of Pure L.and Buddhism

based on his famous Ojyoyoshu and Nijugozanmaishiki penned in the year 985.
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Shiki Kodo (Important Cultural Property)

The origin of the Lecture Hall of Four Seasons dates back to the Joshinbo dwelling of Ryogen (912-985).

It used to enshrine a statue of the bodhisattva Miroku. However, in 967, when Ryogen was fifty-four, Emperor
Murakami decreed that the building should be used for the study and discussion of the Mahayana sutras by students
throughout the year, hence the name “Shiki Kodo.” Ryogen became the eighteenth Tendai Abbot at age fifty-five.
During his nineteen-year tenure, he refurbished many of the buildings on Mount Hiei that had been damaged or fallen
into disrepair due to various conflicts or natural disasters. He introduced reforms for the monks, and improved the

level of scholarship by establishing a curriculum of broad formal debates.

The Yokawa district produced many outstanding monks such as Genshin, and its population of monks grew to over
three thousand, putting it on a par with the Eastern and Western Pagoda areas of Mount Hiei. Posthumously, Ryogen
was given the honorary title of Master, or “Ganzan Daishi.” Great spiritual strength is attributed to him, and he is
worshipped as an incarnation of Nyoirin Kannon, a form of the goddess of mercy, or the Fudo Myo-o, the preeminent
deity of the Five Wisdom Kings. Ryogen is credited with the introduction of omikuji fortune-telling strips. He also
features on a popular talisman believed to ward off evil, which portrays him sporting horns, the Tsuno Daishi, “Great

Horned Master.” It is said that Ryogen’s reflection in a mirror would appear in the form of a devil.

Ryogen passed away during the New Year in 985 and hence his title is Ganzan Daishi, which means “the Master who
died on the third day of the New Year.” An image of him was enshrined in the hall, which became the center for the
worship of Ganzan Daishi in Japan. Every year on the anniversary of Ryogen’s death, a lecture and debate on the Lotus
Sutra is held in his memory, and his birthday, on the third day of September, is celebrated with a Nyoirin Kannon
Mandala memorial service. Buddhist services with lectures on the “Eight Lotus Sutra Lectures” are conducted in each
of the four seasons. The abbot of the Yokawa-innai temple performs ceremonies and gives lectures every day in
memory of Ryogen. These practices ate so exacting that they are called the “Hell of Chanting the Sutras,” one of the

three hell-like religious practices on Mount Hiei, along with the practices of “circling the peaks” and “cleaning.”

S: Sanskrit




Shiki Kodo (Four Seasons Lecture Hall) (also Ganzan Daishi-do)
Miroku (S. Maitreya)

Nyoirin Kannon (Wisdom Ring Avalokitesvara)

Fudo Myo-o (S. Acalanatha)

Tsuno Daishi (Great Horned Master)

Kankin jigoku (hell of chanting the sutras)

Kaiho jigoku (hell of circling the peaks)

Soji jigoku (cleaning hell)
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Shiki Ko-do Hall (Ganzan Daishi-do Hall)

This hall is the successor to the ruins of the atrium of head priest Jike Daishi Ryogen (Ganzan Daishi), who served for
19 years as the 18th head of the Tendai sect, and is revered as the one who restored Entryaku-ji Temple.

The Shiki Ko-do Hall (Four Seasons Lecture Hall) derives its name from discussions on the Lotus Sutra cattied out
during all four seasons on the decree of Emperor Murakami (926 - 927).

At the beginning, Miroku bodhisattva was venerated as the principal image of this hall, however, the image of Ganzan
Daishi is now enshrined here. It is now the main training center for the Daishi faith, and also well known as Ganzan

Daishi-do Hall.




775

No. 27 Site of Shiga-in Monzeki <EEBULEESF. WE>
(iiiTEe2 =) WA= )]
(BT EEAK] B

TEhofc kBRI X
Site of Shiga-in Monzeki

This site was originally a small village temple for Jien (1155-1255). In 1615, the Emperor Go-Yozei (1571-1617) gave
the Hoshoji temple, where many emperors took the tonsure, to Tenkai (1536—1642) who moved it this location. In
1655, Emperor Go-Mizunoo (1596—-1680) gifted to the temple the income from a large tract of land and the title “Shiga-
in.” From 1656 until 1871, the head of the Enryakuji, the gas#, was a member of the imperial family who had taken the

tonsure. Since this was their residence, it was often referred to as the Shiga-in Palace.

The palace burned to the ground in November 1878. In 1880, each of the three districts of Mount Hiei donated their

best building to be moved here.

The perimeter white wall in the magnificent anozumi stone style encloses a garden designed by Kobori Enshu (1579—
1647). The building has illustrated fusuma sliding doors painted by the Kano school artist, Watanabe Ryokei (?—1645).
The inner temple hall enshrines the Buddha Yakushi, the Buddha of Healing, flanked by images of Chigi, or Tendai
Daishi, the Chinese founder of Tendai Buddhism, and Saicho, who introduced Tendai Buddhism to Japan. Prayers for

peace and the security of the nation are offered here daily.

C: Chinese  S: Sanskrit

Shiga-in Monzeki (Shiga Temple)
Yakushi (8. Baisajyaguru)

Chigi (C. Zhiyi)

Tendai (C. Tiantai)

Saicho (Dengyo Daishi) “the great master who transmitted the Buddhist teachings”
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Jigen-do (Important Cultural Property)

This was the memorial temple for the great monk Tenkai (1536—1643) who was posthumously given the honorary title
of Jigen Daishi. Tenkai lived in the Nanko-bo temple on Mount Hiei and worked to restore Mount Hiei after it had
been completely destroyed in 1571. He served as an advisor to three successive Tokugawa shoguns: Ieyasu, Hidetada,
and Iemitsu. When Tenkai passed away at the age of 108, in 1643, the shogun Iemitsu (1604-1651) ordered this temple

to be built in Tenkai’s memory. It enshrines a wooden image of Jigen Daishi in a sitting position.

On the western side of the Jigen-do is a memorial stupa honoring Emperor Kanmu built by Tenkai. It is surrounded
by stone stupas in honor of Emperor Go-Yozei and Tosho Daigongen, the deified Tokugawa Ieyasu (1543-1616), who
founded the Tokugawa shogunate (1603—1867). There are also stupas for Jigen Daishi, Emperor Go-Mizunoo (1596—
1689), Nitta Yoshisada (1301-1338) who toppled the Kamakura shogunate (1185-1333), Murasaki Shikibu (978-1016),
who wrote the Tale of Genji, the poetess Izumi Shikibu (976—1030), Sei Shonagon (966-1025) the author and poetess,
and the graves of the post—Edo period Tendai abbots.

Jigen Daishi (Great Teacher with the eye of wisdom)
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Shogeniji Temple

The temple is said to be where Saicho was born on August 18th, 767. Originally the home of Saicho’s father, it was
later converted to a temple. Images of Saicho’s parents, his father Mitsuno Obito Momoe and his mother Fujiwara no
Toshi, are enshrined here. The main Buddha image is of the Eleven-Faced Kannon and said to have been carved by

Ennin (794-864). The current main hall was rebuilt in 1595 by Senshun (1540—1600) and rebuilt in 1710.

A celebration is held here every year on August 17th—18th to commemorate Saicho’s birth. Water from a well on the
temple grounds is said to have been used to bathe the newborn Saicho. Nearby is a mound where the afterbirth was
buried, and there is also a stone coffin containing the pot used to boil the water when Saicho was born.

S: Sanskrit

Kannon (S. Avalokitesvara)
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Bussoku seki

These are carvings of the footprints left by the historical Buddha Shakyamuni when he died. The oldest examples in
Japan are at the Yakushiji temple in Nara, dating from 753. These footprints were carved in 1819 in the same ancient
style by Myoyu (1781-1854) of the Raigoji temple in Ise-Matsuzaka. For many centuries after the death of the historical
Buddha, there was a reluctance to represent him in human form, and symbols of the Buddha such as these footsteps
were worshipped instead. They are located near the Shaka-do that enshrines a statue of the historical Buddha
Shakyamuni. The practice of paying homage to these stone footprints is said to bestow great benefits in cleansing away

past sins.

Bussoku seki (Stone Footprints)

Shaka-do (Shakyamuni Hall)
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Memorial Stupa for the Martyrs of the Genki Rebellion of 1571

The Peace Tower (Heiwa no To) and the Mound for Pacifying the Spirits of Martyrs of the Buddha Dharma
commemorate the attack on Mount Hiei by the warlord Oda Nobunaga (1534—-1582) on November 12th, 1571. Oda
Nobunaga’s forces attacked Sakamoto at the eastern foot of Mount Hiei, burning down the city and all twenty-one
shrine buildings of the Hiyoshi Taisha shrine, which protects Enryakuji. Nobunaga’s troops then climbed Mount Hiei
and for three days and nights destroyed the Konpon Chudo (Central Hall) and more than five hundred temples in the
three main areas and sixteen valleys of Mount Hiei. Over a thousand people who had fled to Mount Hiei from the fires
in Sakamoto, and more than a thousand monks, were massacred. Oda Nobunaga was trying to reunify the country after
more than a century of civil war, and Enryakuji was allied with feudal clans such as the Asakura of Echizen and the

Azai of Omi, which were opposed to Nobunaga.

Mount Hiei was rebuilt under the patronage of Toyotomi Hideyoshi (1537-1598), who completed the reunification of
Japan, and Tokugawa leyasu (1543-1616), who established the Tokugawa shogunate, which ruled Japan from 1603
until 1867. However, the terrible events of 1571 continued to cast a lingering shadow, and over four hundred years
later, it was decided to build a commemorative mound for the martyrs of the Buddha Dharma. Relics were buried and
a stupa erected to pacify the spirits of those killed by Nobunaga. Transcending feelings of love and hatred, familiarity
and resentment, commemorative services are also held for the spirit of Nobunaga who himself was assassinated in
1582, dying in the flames of Honnoji in Kyoto. The characters for “world peace” carved on the stupa are in the hand

of Yamada Etai (1900-1999), the 253rd Abbot of Hiezan.
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Goshuin (Vermillion Seal Stamps)

shrine, and the name of the main deity in black ink.

Seal stamps were originally used to certify the receipt by a temple of a sutra copied by the recipient. Today, seals are
given to people who have come to pray at a particular temple or shrine. A book filled with these stamps can make a

wonderful souvenir. Each temple has its own design, and the stamps also give the date, the name of the temple or

Vermillion seal stamps are available at the following places at Enryakuji on Mount Hiei and in the Sakamoto area:

Images of | The Chinese | Chinese characters of the | The Buddha represented | Places to receive
the seals characters that are | seals with English translations | on the seal seals
stamped on seals.*
[EEFEY | Io-den (Hall of the Medicine | Yakushi Nyorai Konpon Chudo
King) (the Buddha of healing)
75 E U+ 1, & Z | To-den forty-ninth station on | Yakushi Nyorai Konpon Chudo
BFEHZE MM+ 1 | the Saigoku  Forty-Nine | (the Buddha of healing)
BHIETR] Yakushi Pilgrimage
(fEN=%ER) Seal Stamp for Eika Poetry Konpon Chudo
[ 2 EFEET Hoshi no Mine Inari (Star | Inari Konpon Chudo
Peak Inari Shrine)
[ STRRETGE | Monju Bosatsu Monju Bosatsu Monju-to
(Bodhisattva Manjusti) (Bodhisattva Manjusti) (Manjusti Tower)
[KEX] Daikokuten Daikokuten Daikoku-do
(Three-Faced Mahakala) (Three-Faced Mahakala)
[KBEu0EE | Dainichi Nyorai Dainichi Nyorai Daiko-do (Great




(S. Mahavairocana) (S. Mahavairocana) Lecture Hall)

[ AIEES | Daihi-den Senju Kannon Manhai-do

(Hall of Great Compassion) (S. Thousand-Armed
Avalokitesvara)

[ RESANk ] Gochi Nyorai Gochi Nyorai Hokke Soji-in in

(Buddha of Five Wisdoms) (Buddha of Five | the Todo district
Wisdoms)

[ TR | Jakko-den (Hall of Tranquil | Amida Nyorai Amida-do
Light) (Buddha Amida)

[ KIHERS | Daiyu-den (Great Hero Hall) | Shaka Nyorai Shaka-do

(Buddha Shakyamuni)

[ KHEEA KT | Dai Benzaiten-nyo (S. | Dai Benzaiten-nyo Shaka-do

Sarasvati) (S. Sarasvati) Minobuchi
Benten-do

[ KRR | Daihi-den (Hall of Great | Sho Kannon Yokawa  Chudo

Compassion) (Noble Avalokitesvara) (Main Hall of
Yokawa)

VTR EE — Daihi-den and the Twenty- | Sho Kannon Yokawa Chudo

&I AKIEE | Seventh Station of West Omi | (Noble Avalokitesvara) (Main Hall of
Lake (Sho-Kannon) Yokawna)

¥ 78 E £ 15 56 + | Daihi-den as the Eighteenth | Sho Kannon Yokawa Chudo

J\E[KIREY | Station of the New Saikoku | (Noble Avalokitesvara) (Main Hall of
Pilgrimage (Sho-Kannon) Yokawa)

[ 7c=KEl | Gansan Daishi (Ryogen) Gansan Daishi (Ryogen) | Shiki Kodo (Four

Seasons Lecture
Hall)

[ KHFEAR LT | Dai Benzaiten-nyo (S. | Dai Benzaiten-nyo Shiki Kodo (Four
Sarasvati) (Mizubuchi Benten- | (S. Sarasvati) Seasons Lecture
sha) Hall)

[3EZR A Honen Shonin Honen Shonin Honen-do

(Honen Hall)

[ SCHRAT Monjyu Daishi(S.Manjusti) Monju bosatsu Honen-do

(SIHRETE) Monju bosatsu (Bodhisattva | (Bodhisattva Manjusti) (Honen Hall)
Manjusri)

[ REHE | Fudo-son Fudo-son Enruyakuji

Shokaku-in Fudo (Acalanatha | Shokaku-in Fudo | Kaikan




Temple of Correct | (Acalanatha Temple of | (Enryakuji Hall)
Awakening) Correct Awakening)
FEE =+ /RNAE | Kinki sanjuroku Fudo-son | Fudo-son Mudo-ji Myoo-do
BEZIE KT+ /5| o dai-nijuroku-ban | (S. Acalanatha)
EAREHE | (Acalanatha of the Twenty-
Sixth Station on the Kinki
Thirty-Six Acalanatha
Pilgrimage)
[ KHEEA KT | Dai Benzaiten-nyo (S. | Dai Benzaiten-nyo Mudo-ji Benten-
Sarasvati) (S. Sarasvati) do (Temple of the
Unmovable)
[ RIRES | Daihi-den (Hall of Great | Ju-ichi-men Kannon Shogenji
Compassion) (Eleven-Faced
Avalokitesvara)
[ EERA0SE | To-den (Hall of the Medicine | Yakushi Nyorai Shiga-in Monzeki
King) (the Buddha of healing)
[#EENE | Mudo-son (The Unmoved), | Fudo Myo-o Ritsu-in  (Temple
Fudo Myo-o (S. Acalanatha) (S. Acalanatha) of Precepts)
[ 7o =_KEAM] Gansan Daishi (Ryogen) Ryogen Guho-ji (Temple
for Secking the
Law)

* The parts in the squate brackets are the main characters and appear largest
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No. 33 Mount Hiei World Religion Summit <EEBULERESF. WE>
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Mount Hiei World Religion Summit

Pope John Paul II, who was deeply committed to interfaith dialogue and cooperation, invited representatives of world
religions to gather in Assisi on October 27th, 1986 for a World Day of Prayer for Peace. Prayer services for world

peace were conducted by each of the different faiths.

Yamada Etai (1900—1999), the 253rd Tendai Abbot of Enryakuji, participated, and he later announced that he would
also convene a prayer gathering for world peace in Japan. Representatives of various religions in Japan were already
involved in an array of activities promoting world peace, and at Abbot Etai’s request, they became co-sponsors of the
event. The first “Mount Hiei World Religion Summit” took place at the top of Mount Hiei in August 1987. Leaders of
faiths gathered from many countries and prayed together for world peace. Prayers for peace are offered every year, and

a commemorative assembly is held on every tenth anniversary.

However, in contrast to these ideals, an increase in inequality and the concentration of wealth globally have led to
discrimination and terrorism, and the democratic values of freedom and equality are under threat. Dictators and
exclusionary movements that seek to assert their superiority by oppressing the weak, minorities, and refugees, ate
gaining social acceptance and expanding their power. Despite all obstacles and dangers, it is the duty of religious people

to work for the realization of wotld peace through dialogue and prayer.

The earth is a “shared boat” on which we all ride, and we must transcend selfish desires and face the world’s problems
with wisdom. The Mount Hiei Wotld Religion Summit seeks to define what wotld peace means, and to confirm the

duty and responsibility of all religions to work to achieve it.
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No. 34 Mount Hiei and the Tal of Genji <EEBULIERESF. WE>
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Mount Hiei and the Tale of Genji

The Tale of Genji is the world’s oldest extant novel, written in the eleventh century. It concentrates on the romantic life
of Genji, the son of an emperor, and describes the customs of aristocratic life at that time. Murasaki Shikibu (9737 —
1014?), author of the Talk of Genji, was a contemporary of the Mount Hiei monk Genshin (942—-1017), and themes from
the Lotus Sutra, Mount Hiei, and its monks appear frequently in the novel. Genshin’s fame was widespread among the
court and aristocracy of the time, and the fifty-third chapter of the Tal of Genyji, “Writing Practice,” gives a central role

to a Yokawa monk who may well have been modeled after Genshin.

Ukibune, the main character of the final Uji chapters, torn between her love for two men, Kaoru and Niou-miya,
attempts to commit suicide by throwing herself into the Uji River. Drifting and unconscious, her body comes to rest
in the gnarled roots of a great tree on the riverbank. The Yokawa monk discovers her and saves her by reciting magical

prayers. Later, at her own request, Ukibune takes the tonsure under his guidance.

At the beginning of the 54th and final chapter of the Talk of Genji, “The Floating Bridge of Dreams,” Kaoru, the son
of Genji, has constantly been making offerings of Buddhist sutras and Buddha images during frequent visits to the
Konpon Chudo (Central Hall) of Enryakuji. In this chapter he again visits the Konpon Chudo.

On the next day, unable to forget Ukibune, he goes to see the Yokawa monk and laments:

I traveled along this path

thinking it would take me

to the teacher of the Law,

but instead I found myself lost

on a path of love.

Other sections of the Talk of Genji also mention Mount Hiei. In Chapter 10, “The Green Branch,” Fujitsubo, Genji’s
paramour, accompanies monks of Mount Hiei attending the “Eight Lectures of the Lotus Sutra” to commemorate the
one-year anniversary of the death of Genji’s father, Emperor Kiritsubo. On that occasion, Fujitsubo, along with many

others, takes the tonsure and is ordained by the Tendai Abbot. Her uncle, a Yokawa monk, cuts off her hair in the

tonsure ceremony.
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No. 1 Overview, Minami Yamashiro <mBLLIk. REP>
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Minami Yamashiro

Minami Yamashiro is an area in southern Kyoto Prefecture. It is a picturesque locale with green, rolling hills and the
sedate Kizu River flowing through its center. Minami Yamashiro is an ancient area of Kyoto that today includes the
cities and towns of Kyotanabe, Ujitahara, Kizugawa, Seika, Kasagi, Wazuka, and the village of Minamiyamashiro. In

the past, many traveling and trade routes ran through this area.

Minami Yamashiro is renowned for its tranquility and for the quality tea harvested from its lush tea fields. Along the
river, there are also small but notable temples, many of which have origins that date back over a thousand years. While
some are so small as to comprise only a main hall amidst an expanse of nature, many are home to National Treasures
and Important Cultural Properties of striking beauty and historic value. Minami Yamashiro is worth a visit even just

for the unexpected finds that can be discovered in its ever-changing scenery.

History

Minami Yamashiro is a scenic area in which various important and influential figures in Japanese history have lived or
spent significant amounts of time. Empress Genmei (660-721), for example, had a private villa here, in Mikanohara.
Emperor Shomu (701-756) actually moved the imperial residence to Mikanohara some time later. This area was

renamed Kunikyo and, for a short time, it was the capital city of Japan.

Before the implementation of dams to prevent flooding, Kizu River was a waterway and fostered a prosperous
transport trade. The Manyoshu, the oldest existing collection of Japanese poetry, which was compiled in the eighth
century, has a section detailing the process of collecting materials needed for various (now famous) temples of Nara
from Minami Yamashiro and transporting them downstream to Izumi River Port. From there, they were brought on
land and then taken to Nara Prefecture. It is thought that this practical function gave rise to the name of Kizu River:
ki means “wood” or “materials” and g7 means “port.”” The Kizu River has thus played an important role throughout
history shaping the politics, economics, culture, and religion of the Minami Yamashiro region. Although it has since

narrowed and become shallower, Kizu was once fierce enough to flood and wash away nearby buildings.




The Charm of Minami Yamashiro

Minami Yamashiro has a subtle, yet undeniable, charm that reveals itself only upon closer inspection. The many temples
located in this area were founded in the early days of Japan, in the Asuka (552—645) and Nara periods (710-794).

Recent archeological excavations have revealed Minami Yamashiro’s early ties with Buddhism.

In ancient times, Minami Yamashiro was at the crossroads of important transportation routes, and travelers would
often stop by the temples for lodging and to offer up prayers. Nowadays, they house rare Buddhist statues of
immeasurable value, which visitors can view upon request, and are bastions for the preservation of Nara-period

Buddhism.
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Shuon’an (Ikkyuji Temple)

Shuon’an is popularly known as Ikkyuji due to its association with Ikkyu Sojun, the famed Buddhist priest and Zen
master who revived the temple in 1456. A wooden statue of him is enshrined at the temple. This statue was created by
one of his disciples during the final year of the priest’s life and is said to have been embedded with Ikkyu’s own hair
after his passing. The temple is also renowned for its gardens, which were designated a National Important Place of
Scenic Beauty. There are ten Important Cultural Properties of Japan at Shuon’an Ikkyuji Temple, including the Main
Hall, the Hojo (Abbot’s Hall), and the statue of Ikkyu. The grounds also house a Museum Treasury with writings from

Ikkyu, items used by previous emperors, and other treasures.

History

According to temple legend, Shuon’an was originally established between 1288 and 1293 as a Zen Buddhist training
monastery. It was devastated by a fire during a war in the eatly 1330s and subsequently fell into ruin. However, in 1456,
the famed Buddhist priest and Zen master Ikkyu Sojun revived the temple. Ikkyu continued his travels, but later came
back to settle at Shuon’an, spending the last years of his life here before passing away at the age of 88. He was buried

in the Sojun Obyo mausoleum in the annex of the temple.

Ikkyu Sojun

Ikkyu was a Zen Buddhist monk and poet. Born in Kyoto in 1394, he is thought to have been an illegitimate child of
the emperor at the time. He was initiated into the community of temple ascetics at the age of 6. While he did devote
himself to the study of Zen under renowned teachers, he is best known as a priest who worked outside formal
institutions. Because of his vagabond-like travels and sharp wit, he also gained a reputation as being somewhat of a

troublemaker. His eccentricity has been understood to express key tenets of Zen Buddhism.

Ikkyu became a talented poet, and his poetry collections are still treasured. He contributed greatly to infusing traditional

poetry and art with the ideals of Zen Buddhism.
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Shuon’an: Hondo (Main Hall)

The Hondo Main Hall, built between 1429 and 1441, is designated as an Important Cultural Property of Japan. Its
construction is believed to have been ordered due to the religious conversion of the shogun at the time and is the oldest
extant example of Chinese Tang-style temple architecture in the Yamashiro and Yamato areas (southern region of
Kyoto prefecture including parts of Nara prefecture). Tang-style architecture is perhaps most distinguishable by the
gable and hip roof covered in cypress bark. Enshrined in the hall is Shuon’an Ikkyuji Temple’s principal deity, a wooden
statue of Shaka Nyorai in a seated position. Shaka Nyorai is the Japanese name for the historical Buddha, or Prince

Siddhartha, the founder of Buddhism.
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Shuon’an: Rock Gardens

The structures of Shuon’an Ikkyuji Temple are surrounded by traditional Japanese Zen rock gardens of stunning
beauty. The temple is a prime spot to enjoy the richness of nature during the four seasons, particularly the cherry
blossoms in the spring and the changing foliage in the fall. Hojo Garden, which surrounds the Hojo (Abbot’s Chamber),

has been designated a national historic site of scenic beauty.

Each area of the garden has distinctive features. To the north is a traditional rock garden designed to reimagine the
sacred Mount Horai. Mount Horai is a mythological mountain that is home to the Immortals. It is also said that the
souls of the deceased gather here after death. The 2 m—tall stone found in the northeastern corner of the garden is
called the “Kannon Stone.” In the eastern garden are stones of various sizes that represent the sixteen defenders of
Buddhism. The southern section is designed to recall the sea and consists of a classical Zen garden with lush greenery,
including azaleas and large sago palms on its western end. Clockwise from the north, the different segments of the

Hojo Garden represent the journey from Mount Horai, the path to the sea, and finally the sea itself.
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Juhoji Temple

Juhoji Temple is thought to have been established in 704. It was originally known as Yamamoto no Odera Temple and
stood near the Kizu River. At that time, it was relatively prosperous and had seven halls. After a series of floods,
however, it was moved in 1732 to the quieter, elevated area where it currently stands. It is a much smaller temple today.
There is a park on the east side of the temple where visitors can enjoy cherry blossoms in the spring and beautiful
foliage in the autumn. The grounds used to be a stop for migrating cranes as well as a renowned place to celebrate the
Tsukimi Moon Viewing Festival in mid-autumn. Enshrined in the reliquary is Juhoji Temple’s principal deity, the

Thousand-Armed Kannon, which has been designated as an Important Cultural Property.

History

Since the temple was near the road that travelers took from Yamato (present Nara Prefecture) to San’indo (a historical
geographic area that generally corresponds to the present San’in region in southwestern Honshu), it often provided
food and support for those traveling along the road. The temple underwent restoration work in 1997 for the first time

in 2006 years.

Treasures and Artifacts

Along with its principal deity, the Thousand-Armed Kannon, which is enshrined in the reliquary, Juhoji Temple has
other consecrated Buddhist statues in the Main Hall, one of which is of Prince Shotoku. Prince Shotoku (574—622)
was a regent and political figure who played a key role in the rise of Buddhism in Japan. After his death, the name
Shotoku was bestowed upon him for his virtues and merit. This statue is believed to date from the Kamakura Period
(1185—1333) and depicts the prince at the age of sixteen, praying for the recovery of his ailing father, the emperor.
There are also twelfth-century statues of two of the five great wise kings, the Kongoyasha Myo-o and Gozanze Myo-
o. They are said to be the kings guarding the threshold between this world and the next, and are depicted with fierce

expressions and raised limbs.
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Juhoji Temple: Statue of the Thousand-Armed Kannon

This statue of the Thousand-Armed Kannon Bodhisattva was made in the latter half of the Heian period (794-1185)
from one single piece of wood. Kannon Bodhisattva, the avatar of mercy, is the deity venerated at Juhoji Temple. This
is one of only three Thousand-Armed Kannon statues in all of Japan that actually have one thousand hands. In addition
to the main three pairs of hands, twenty hands are carved on both sides of its body holding various items such as
moons, suns, swords, arrows, mirrors, clouds, and bones, embedded in an array of additional hands. There was once
an eye etched onto each hand. It was believed that Kannon has many eyes to discover suffering and many hands to
relieve it. At 180 cm tall, Juhoji Temple’s Kannon statue has a significant presence. Because of the ink framing its eyes,

eyebrows, chin, and mouth, its expression appears to change, from soft to stern, feminine to masculine, in different

lights.
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Omido Kannonji Temple

Omido Kannonji Temple is believed to have been established over 1,300 years ago by an imperial edict. At its height,
it was highly prosperous with thirty-three grand temple structures. Today, Omido Kanonji Temple is a fraction of its
past size and has only a main hall. It is known for its principal deity, an Eleven-Headed Kannon Bodhisattva that is
one of only seven recognized as National Treasures in Japan. Flanked on all sides by nature, Kannonji Temple’s
surroundings are considered particularly beautiful, with a line of cherry blossom trees and yellow flowers that bloom

in the spring, and stunning fall foliage.

History

In the eighth century, Omido Kannonji Temple was highly prosperous, having expanded to thirty-three structures. In
744, the statue of the Eleven-Faced Kannon was enshrined here as the principal deity. Over the centuries, the temple
suffered fire damage on multiple occasions, but was always rebuilt by members of the Fujiwara clan, a powerful family
that dominated the politics during the Nara (710-794) and Heian (794-1185) periods. A fire in 1437, however, razed
all thirteen halls and twenty priest quarters, and only the Main Hall was later rebuilt. Today, all that remains from the
original Omido Kannonji Temple’s is a cornerstone, thought to be the remnant of a five-storied pagoda. The temple

never regained its former size. The current main hall was last rebuilt in 1953.

Treasures and Artifacts

The deity venerated at Omido Kannonji Temple is Kannon Bodhisattva. Its representation, the Eleven-Headed
Kannon statue, is believed to be the original Kannon enshrined here at the temple’s beginnings and is one of only
seven of its kind recognized as a National Treasure. Its features are serene, exuding a gentle femininity. In the main hall
there is also a picture version of the Heart Sutra, which is called eshingyo. In the Edo period (1603-1867) it became

customary to write the text of the Heart Sutra with pictographs for those who could not read.
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Omido Kannonji Temple: Standing Eleven-Headed Kannon

(Juichimen Kannon Ryuzo)

The principal deity of Omido Kannonji Temple is a Standing Eleven-Headed Kannon Bodhisattva statue thought to
have been enshrined here since the temple’s foundation. Made in the Nara period (710—794), it is one of only seven of
its kind recognized as a National Treasure of Japan. The one at Kannonji is thought to have a particularly serene
expression, with features that exude a gentle femininity. The Kannon statue enshrined in this temple is made from a
single piece of wood and was covered with a lacquer mixture. Only two of the standing Eleven-Headed Kannon statues

recognized as National Treasures are made in this style.
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Kanimanji Temple

Kanimaniji Temple gained its fame from being mentioned in Konjaku Monogatari (““Tales of Times Now Past”), a famous
collection of tales from India, China, and Japan compiled during the late Heian period (794—-1185). In one tale, a young
girl devoted to Kannon, the Buddhist avatar of mercy, saves a crab from being tormented by another villager. Later
on, Kannon takes the shape of a crab to save the girl from a terrible fate. The girl and her father, in honor and gratitude,
build a temple to enshrine the crab. Kanimaniji celebrates its connections to this tale with its crab emblem. Also, its
annual crab-releasing festival on April 18 is another way to continue passing down the story. Its principal deity, a massive

2.2-ton gilt bronze Shaka Nyorai statue, is also a National Treasure of Japan.

History

The historical origins of Kanimanji Temple are unclear. The current temple is a modest one, with only one main hall,
but recent excavations revealed the remains of a temple much grander in scale that used to stand here over 1,300 years
ago. It is believed that this prior structure is the original temple, and judging from its size, the temple was probably
established by either national edict or a powerful local clan. As seen in many older texts, the original name of the temple
was “Kabata-tera,” and several theories exist regarding the etymology of its current name. Some say it is because the
patron clan was skilled at textile production, especially of &abata, a type of silk fabric. Others say the name was a
reference to cloth offered to the gods at the temple, also called &abata. Although it is believed that Kanimanji Temple
was once very prosperous and influential, fires and periods of disuse throughout the years caused the temple to decrease

in size.

After Kabata-tera had fallen into decline, there was a rise in the popular worship of Kannon Bodhisattva in Japan. A
parable concerning the repayment of kindness, common in Buddhist teachings, originated in this area. The story
involves a crab and was included in the Konjaks Monogatari (“Tales of Times Now Past”), a collection of Buddhist
parables from India, China, and Japan compiled during the late Heian period (794-1185). Kabata-tera became
associated with this crab fable, and its name was changed to Kanimanji Temple, which can be literally translated as

“Temple Full of Crabs.”




This tale from Konjakn Monogatari relates that there once was a family in this area who was fully devoted to the merciful
Kannon. One day, the daughter saw a crab about to be eaten by another villager and offered her food to spare the
crab’s life. On another day, her father happened upon a snake about to eat a frog, He offered up his daughter to be the
snake’s wife, to which the snake agreed and thus set the frog free. That night, the snake came to the family’s home to
collect on his end of the bargain but, unwilling to let his daughter go, the family prayed for Kannon’s help all night
until daybreak. When they peeked outside, they saw the carcasses of a swarm of crabs and the large snake. The family
was convinced that Kannon had taken the form of these crabs and saved the daughter to repay her for saving the life
of the crab. And so they buried the crabs and the snake and built a temple to Kannon on top of their graves. Thanks

to the swarm of crabs that saved the family from a tragic fate, the temple was called “Kanimanji.”

Treasures and Artifacts

Kanimanji Temple is dedicated to the Shaka Nyorai, also known as the historical Buddha or Prince Siddhartha, the
founder of Buddhism. The gilt bronze consecrated Buddha statue of Shaka Nyorai enshrined at this temple is massive,
weighing in at around 2.2 tons, with a height of 240 cm. It is believed to have been made over 1,300 years ago and has

been designated a National Treasure of Japan.
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Kanimanji Temple: Statue of Shaka Nyorai

Kanimanji Temple enshrines a Seated Shaka Nyorai statue. Shaka Nyorai, otherwise known as the historical Buddha or

Prince Siddhartha, the founder of Buddhism, is often prayed to for guidance and enlightenment.

Kanimaniji Temple’s Seated Shaka Nyorai is believed to have been made over 1,300 years ago, and its nearly perfect
state of preservation has led to its designation as a National Treasure of Japan. It is one of only four Buddha statues
in Japan made of gilt bronze during that period, and it is truly massive, weighing in at around 2.2 tons, with a looming

height of 240 cm.

Various theories exist as to whether the statue was originally placed here or moved from elsewhere, though none have
been confirmed. However, recent investigations have uncovered evidence pointing to the possibility that it may indeed
be this temple’s original object of worship. In addition to its massive size and excellent state of preservation, other
distinguishing characteristics of this Seated Shaka Nyorai statue are the severity of its expression and the shape and

placement of its hands.
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Jindoji Temple

Jindoji Temple is a small Buddhist temple located in a quiet town. This is an area where mountain Buddhism has
prospered, and practitioners of Shugendo, a type of Japanese mountain asceticism that incorporates both Shinto and
Buddhist concepts, have long had power and influence. Apparently, Jindoji was an important center for Shugendo
practices during the Heian period (794-1185). The Main Hall is an Important Cultural Property of Japan. Behind this
building is a repository of various consecrated Buddhist statues that are also Important Cultural Properties. Jindoji
Temple’s grounds are famous for their scenery, which is beautiful in any season. Every year on the second Sunday of
September, the temple holds its largest service where the goma fire ritual is performed and practitioners walk over hot

coals.

History

There are many theories about the origins of Jindoji Temple, and exact details are unknown. However, it is thought
that the temple was established in 596 by Prince Shotoku (574—622), a regent who ruled Japan from 594 to 622. He
was also a strong supporter and promoter of Buddhism, which had only recently been introduced to Japan at the time
of his rule, incorporating some of the religion’s tenets into his edicts and laws. The name Shotoku was bestowed upon

him after his death in praise of his virtue and merit.

En no Gyoja is the ascetic and mystic held to be the founder of a type of mountain asceticism unique to Japan called
Shugendo. In 675, Jindoji Temple legend says that En no Gyoja visited this temple to further his training, It was then
that two divinities, in the shape of children, appeared before him. En no Gyoja was so awed that he carved a statue of
Zao Gongen, a deity that is central to Shugendo. It was enshrined at this temple, which was then named
Jindokyogokokuji Temple. It is by this act that mountain asceticism is said to have spread to the area, making this

temple an important center for Shugendo practitioners.

In the late Heian period (1177-1181), war brought about many fires that destroyed numerous structures in the area,
after which the temple fell into disuse. The Zao-do Hall that enshrines a statue of Zao Gongen was rebuilt in 1406 and

continues to serve as the Main Hall today.




As Japan industrialized in the Meiji period (1868—1912), the Japanese government declared the separation of Buddhist
and Shinto religious facilities and suppressed Shugendo as an inappropriate mixture of the two religions. Following
World War II, with the passing of the 1947 Constitution, freedom of religion was guaranteed in Japan, and followers

of Shugendo were once again free to openly practice their faith.

Treasures and Artifacts

Jindoji Temple has several Important Cultural Properties. These include its Main Hall, which was built in 14006, and the
many consecrated Buddhist statues in its reliquary. The reliquary is a veritable Heian-period museum exhibit with
several awe-inspiring statues from that era (794-1185) on display. Visitors can walk past the fire pit behind the Main
Hall used for the goma fire ritual, enter the reliquary, and view Buddhist statues such as the Seated Aizen Myo-o, the

Standing Fudo Myo-o, the Seated Amida Nyorai, and the Standing Nikko and Gakko Bodhisattvas.
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Jindoji Temple: Main Hall

After being destroyed by fire, the hall that enshrines Jindoji Temple’s principal deity, Zao Gongen, was rebuilt in 1400.
Also called Zaodo Hall, it still serves as the Main Hall today. This building is recognized as an Important Cultural

Property.

Enshrined in the Main Hall is a statue of the temple’s principal deity, Zao Gongen. Zao Gongen is a deity central to
the Japanese form of mountain asceticism known as Shugendo, which champions harsh training as the path to
enlightenment. Zao Gongen resembles Fudo Myo-o (literally “Immovable,” a wrathful protector of Buddhism),
wearing a fierce expression. His representation here differs from that of Fudo Myo-o in that his right hand is raised
and right foot is placed forward. Jindoji Temple’s original Zao Gongen is believed to have been carved by En no Gyoja,
the ascetic and mystic held to be the founder of Shugendo, when he visited the temple. The current Zao Gongen dates

back to the Muromachi period (1336—1573).

It is rare to find representations of Zao Gongen as large as the one at Jindoji Temple. It is generally thought that the
temple enshrined Zao Gongen as its principal deity because Jindoji Temple was a place of serious contemplation and

intense training, and thus the temple sought a deity with a stern countenance that exemplified austerity and self-restraint.
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No. 13 Seated Aizen Myo-o, Standing Fudo-myo-o, Seated Amida-Nyorai, Standing Nikko and Gakko Bosatsu, Jindoji
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Jindoji Temple: Several Important Cultural Properties

In the repository behind the Main Hall of Jindoji Temple are several Buddhist statues from the Heian period (794—

1185). A few that have been designated Important Cultural Properties of Japan are listed below:

Seated Aizen Myo-o

Aizen Myo-o is popularly known as a deity that transforms worldly desire into spiritual awakening. This deity is often
depicted in varying shades of red and is called upon to help in matters of passionate love. Much like Cupid, Aizen
Myo-o sometimes holds a bow and arrow. Jindoji Temple’s Seated Aizen Myo-o statue is referred to as the Sky Bow
Aizen (Tenkyu Aizen) because its bow and arrow are pointed skyward, a posture that is unusual for Aizen Myo-o
figures. There are only four Aizen Myo-o statues that are designated Important Cultural Properties. This Aizen Myo-o

is 64.5 c¢m tall and made of wood.

Standing Fudo Myo-o

Fudo Myo-o is a Wise King believed to protect the faithful and to guide followers with the fierce love of a parent.
Jindoji Temple’s statue, called the White Wave Fudo (Namikiri Shiro Fudoson) is almost childlike in appearance, with
the wave motif reflected in his flowing attire and the cutled ringlets atop his head. He also flashes small fangs. There

are only four like it in Japan, and this is the only one that is white in color. It is 162.1 cm tall and made of wood.

Seated Amida Nyorai

Amida Nyorai is the Lord of the Western Paradise of Ultimate Bliss and is the Buddha who leads the souls of the dead
to be reborn there. This statue of Amida Nyoraiis 137 cm in height, made of wood, and is believed to have been made
in imitation of the one at Byodoin Temple.

Standing Nikko and Gakko Bodhisattvas




These two paired statues are bodhisattvas who represent sunlight and moonlight. While they usually flank the sides of
Yakushi Nyorai, the Buddha of Healing who relieves suffering, this pair at Jindoji Temple now stand alone. Usually
Nikko has its left hand raised and Gakko has its right hand raised, but in somewhat rare fashion, both statues in this

pair have their left hands raised.
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Kaijusenji Temple

Kaijusenji Temple is located half-way up Mount Sanjoyama, overlooking the city below with a view that takes in
renowned sites like Mikanohara (an area along the river in present-day Kizugawa City), the Kunikyo Ruins (an old
imperial palace), and the Kizu River (the heart of the Minami Yamashiro area). In 740, the Japanese emperor ordered
the national capital to be moved to Mikanohara. According to the temple legend, Kaijusenji was built northeast of the
city center, a direction traditionally occupied by the &inon, or demon gate. The &imon is located in the northeast because
it is believed that this is the direction from which demons come and go, and thus is a source of bad luck. Kaijusenjt
Temple is believed to have been placed there to pray for the safe construction of the new capital and of Todaiji Temple’s
great Buddha statue. Today, however, Kaijusenji Temple is known for its view of the lower valley as well as its Five-

storied Pagoda, which is a National Treasure.

History

In 740, Emperor Shomu (701-756) moved the capital to the Mikanohara area. Kunikyo, as this capital was called,
functioned as the center of the state until 744. In order for the capital to be protected from evil spirits, many temples
were built in this area. Kaijusenji is one such temple, built on the slopes of Mount Sanjoyama. According to Onmzyodo
(The Way of Yin and Yang), a traditional Japanese esoteric cosmology based on philosophies introduced from China
in the sixth century, the northeast is an unlucky direction associated with misfortune known as &zzon, or demon gate.

Kaijusenji Temple is thought to have been placed in the northeast in 735 to counteract the &zzon and safeguard the
area. In 1137, the original structures of Kaijusenji Temple were lost to fire, but the temple was reconstructed seventy
years later in 1208 by an influential Buddhist monk named Jokei (1155-1213). At its most prosperous, the temple
boasted over fifty-eight individual structures. The characters in the name Kaijusenji Temple mean sea (£as), dwell (j4),
and mountain temple (sexi), referring to the mythical pure land inhabited by Kannon (the Buddhist avatar of mercy),

which is said to lie far off in the southern seas.

Treasures and Artifacts

Kaijusenji Temple also has several important works of art and cultural treasures. Among Kaijusenji Temple’s structures,




its five-storied pagoda is a designated National Treasure, and its Monjudo Hall is an Important Cultural Property. They
were both originally constructed in the Kamakura period (1185-1333). The Standing Four Heavenly Kings (Shitenno
Ryuzo) statues from the same period used to be enshrined in the pagoda but are now entrusted to the Nara National
Museum. The main hall and the sanctuary both enshrine consecrated Buddhist statues of Kannon, the beloved
Buddhist avatar of compassion. These two Standing Eleven-Headed Kannon are thought to date back even eatlier, to

the Heian period (794-1185), and are Important Cultural Properties.
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Kaijusenji Temple: Five-Storied Pagoda

The Five-Storied Pagoda of Kaijusenji Temple is a Japanese National Treasure. It is a rare remaining example of
Kamakura period (1185-1333) temple architecture, standing at about 17.7 m. The pagoda was constructed to serve as
a reliquary for bussharz, the precious physical remains of Shaka Nyorai, the historical Buddha otherwise known as Prince
Siddhartha. When Prince Siddhartha died, his body was cremated by his disciples. In 1214, Jokei (1155-1213), an
influential Buddhist monk, bestowed two pieces of busshari he received from the emperor to Kaijusenji Temple. This

five-storied pagoda was built to enshrine them.

The original construction did not include a mokoshi (skirt story, or secondary roof), but one was added decades later.
The mokoshiwas lost during later reconstruction. Finally, when the pagoda was restored in 1962, the #okoshi was installed
once again. This additional roof is one of the unique features of this pagoda. Of the five-storied pagodas built since
the Edo period that have a mokoshi, this is one of only two that remain. The pagoda used to house Kaijusenji Temple’s

Four Heavenly Kings (Shitenno), but these statues are now at the Nara National Museum.
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Kaijusenji Temple: Pair of Standing Eleven-Headed Kannon Statues

The main hall enshrines the principal deity of Kaijusenji Temple, a consecrated Buddhist statue of Kannon, the beloved
Buddhist avatar of boundless compassion. An Important Cultural Property, this Standing Eleven-Headed Kannon

statue was made in the Heian period (794-1185).

The sanctuary houses another Standing Eleven-Headed Kannon statue, which is also an Important Cultural Property
dating to the Heian period. This sculpture is 45.5 cm in height and is carved from a single piece of wood. Its rounded
features are reminiscent of a carving style from an era even earlier than its creation. Viewed from the front, the hip is

twisted left and the right knee is somewhat bent.

From the side, its upper body leans back slightly while the right hand is somewhat extended from the elbow. This
posture provides the impression of movement as though Kannon is trying to move its right arm and leg forward. This
composition may point to the intent of the sculptor to draw a vital sense of movement out from a single, stationary

piece of wood. The statue is now part of the Nara National Museum collection.
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Zenjoji Temple

Zenjoji Temple is a Buddhist temple that dates back over one thousand years. Located in the town of Ujitawara, an
area between Nara and Kyoto known for its beautiful tea fields (now designated a Historical Natural Conservation
Area), it has throughout history been referred to as the “temple just beyond the mountains of Ujitawara.” Today, it is
known for its rare collection of Important Cultural Properties that includes historically famous Buddhist statues and
noteworthy historical documents relating to the temple. The temple’s architecture and grounds are also remarkable.
The main hall is an excellent example of seventeenth-century temple design, built with a large thatched roof, and the

grounds are lush with persimmon trees.

History

The grounds of Zenjoji Temple originally served as a summer villa for the Fujiwara clan that ruled Japan during the
Heian period (794-1185). In response to a request by a pious member of the Fujiwara family, however, an imperial
edict later established Zenjoji Temple in 991 (construction completed in 995) as a subtemple of the larger, more famous
Todaiji Temple in Nara. Several wooden Buddhist statues were created and enshrined at the temple on this occasion.

These statues have been designated Important Cultural Properties.

In the latter half of the twelfth century, Zenjoji Temple was converted into a subtemple of Byodoin Temple, a World
Heritage Site located in Uji, Kyoto. The temple subsequently fell into disuse for a few centuries before it was converted
into a Soto Zen Temple in 1680. Under the management of an influential head priest named Gesshu (1618—1696), the
grounds were rebuilt and a new main hall with a meditation and training hall (zendo) was added. The main hall remains
to this day and maintains the massive thatched roof characteristic of the temple architecture of the time. The present

temple complex consists of a garden, five halls, living quarters, and a repository.

Zenjoji Temple is located in the town of Ujitawara, in Tsuzuki, Kyoto. Since ancient times, it has often been called “the
temple just beyond the mountains of Ujitawara.” The old road by Zenjoji Temple was linked to the Tokaido, one of
the main roads of Japan before modern times that was used by travelers since the Heian period (794-1185). The road

by Zenjoji Temple was used as a shortcut between Kyoto’s Yamashiro area and the Omi area (present-day Shiga




Prefecture).

Treasures and Artifacts

In Zenjoji Temple’s repository are several Important Cultural Properties of Japan that date back to the Heian period
(794-1185). Of these, the most important is the wooden Standing Eleven-Headed Kannon statue. The other
consecrated Buddhist statues designated as Important Cultural Properties are as follows:

Nikko Bosatsu (Sunlight Bodhisattva)

Gakko Bosatsu (Moonlight Bodhisattva)

Shitenno (Four Heavenly Kings)

Monju Bosatsu kishizo (Manjusti Bodhisattva riding a lion)

Jizo Bosatsu fumisagezo (Life-Prolonging Jizo Bodhisattva)

Daiitoku Myo-o (Conqueror of Death)
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Zenjoji Temple: Treasures and Artifacts

In Zenjoji Temple’s repository are several Important Cultural Properties of Japan that date to the Heian period (794—
1185). Of these, the most important is the wooden Standing Eleven-Headed Kannon statue. It is thought that this is
the original object of worship at Zenjoji Temple and that it was created in 991. At 286.4 cm, it is also the tallest Kannon
statue in the Kyoto area. The wooden statue’s round face and rippling pattern of clothing recall an older design, but

the shallowness of its carving is exemplary of late tenth-century style.

The other Important Cultural Properties are as follows:
Nikko Bosatsu (Sunlight Bodhisattva)

Gakko Bosatsu (Moonlight Bodhisattva)

Shitenno (Four Heavenly Kings)

Monju Bosatsu kishizo (Manjusti Bodhisattva riding a lion)
Jizo Bosatsu Fumisagezo (Life-Prolonging Jizo Bodhisattva)

Daiitoku Myo-o (Conqueror of Death)
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Kunikyo Ruins, A Former Imperial Capital

The Mikanohara basin, which is surrounded by small hills, used to be home to Kunikyo, a former imperial palace that
stood here between 740 and 744 CE. For three years, the imperial capital was here. Today Mikanohara is a vast, idyllic
field with wildflowers located directly north of the nearby Kizu River. A careful eye, however, will easily notice the
appearance of stone slabs along with the landscape. These are the remains of the Kunikyo palace. Today, this area has
become a public space where the locals can come and enjoy the outdoors. The ruins of Kunikyo are still very much an

important part of local culture and heritage.

History

In 740, plagued by war and disease, Japan grew increasingly unstable. Emperor Shomu (701-756) declared the
relocation of the capital in an attempt to ward off the spread of disease. The move is also thought to be strongly
indicative of a power struggle between two influential court noble families, the Fujiwara clan and the Tachibana clan.
The Fujiwaras held power in the existing capital, Heijokyo. The Tachibanas’ power base was Minami Yamashiro, and
this relocation could have implied a shift in the balance of authority in favor of the Tachibana clan. Unfortunately, the
next year, when the emperor came to Kunikyo to welcome the New Year in a formal ceremony, the imperial palace had
yet to be completed. The next year as well, the city was still under construction and uninhabitable, so the New Year’s
ceremony had to be held in a makeshift building. In 744, the Emperor relocated the capital again, this time to
Naniwanomiya, thus ending Kunikyo’s short stint as capital after only three years. The city remained unfinished, and

that same year the remaining structures of Kunikyo were incorporated into Yamashiro Kokubunji Temple.

All that remains of the imperial palace today are its foundation stones. Not far away are the cornerstones of what used

to be a temple’s seven-storied pagoda. In a 1973 excavation, the foundations of even more buildings were unearthed.
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Genkoji Temple

Roughly 3 km to the southeast of Kaijusenji Temple is Genkoji Temple. Not much is known about the origins or
history of this temple, but it has existed since at least 1697 when, according to Kaijusenji records, it was rebuilt. It also
has a long-standing affiliation with Kaijusenji, which has managed Genkoji Temple since the end of World War II. The
temple currently has no residing priests, but the consecrated Buddhist statues enshrined there are Important Cultural

Properties of Japan. They include the Seated Eleven-Headed Kannon and the Four Heavenly Kings (Shitenno).

History

There is little known about the origins of Genkoji Temple. It appears in memoirs of Buddhist monks who traveled the
area, and it is also mentioned in the historical documents of surrounding temples. For example, it is known that in the
beginning of the Edo period, a scholar-monk named Unsho Jitsudo visited to pay homage to the Seated Eleven-Headed
Kannon, the statue that is enshrined here. He found the main hall in ruins, so he sent out requests for the temple to be
rebuilt. His request was granted by the ruling clans of the domain in 1681. This same monk was also closely involved
with the renowned Enshoji Temple in Nara. Genkoji Temple also has a long-standing relationship with neighboring

Kaijusenji Temple and close associations with other temples where members of the imperial family became nuns.

Treasures and Artifacts

Genkoji Temple’s principal deity, a wooden Seated Eleven-Headed Kannon, is enshrined in the reliquary. It has been
designated an Important Cultural Property of Japan. From close study of its facial composition and expression, it is
believed that the image was created in the late Kamakura period (1185-1333). This is one of only a few statues in Japan

that represent Kannon bodhisattva in a seated position.
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Genkoji Temple: Seated Eleven-Headed Kannon

The principal deity of Genkoji Temple is its Seated Eleven-Headed Kannon. Kannon is the Buddhist avatar who looks
upon all the world with mercy and compassion, with a plethora of eyes and ears to find all that needs healing and
salvation. This Kannon statue is thought to have been made in the thirteenth century and is one of only a few seated
Kannon consecrated Buddhist statues in all of Japan. Made using a joined wooden mosaic technique, the statue is about
74 cm tall and is praised as a particularly beautiful work, with a striking yet graceful androgyny. What stands out in
particular about Genkoji Temple’s Kannon are its eyes. To make them more realistic, the wood was fitted with crystal

coverings. It has been designated as an Important Cultural Property.
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Kasagidera Temple

South of the Kizu River, in a secluded mountain area atop the 288 m—high peak of Mount Kasagi, is Kasagidera
Temple. The temple is surrounded by a rugged terrain of mountain paths and giant boulders and traces its origins back
over 2,000 years to when the boulders themselves were considered sacred. Today, the temple is best known for its
enormous 16 m—tall Magaibutsu (Buddhist figures carved into boulders). The principal deity of this temple is unique
in that it is not a statue enshrined in the main hall, but one of the Magaibutsu carvings, namely the Maitreya (Miroku
Bosatsu). Miroku Bosatsu is a bodhisattva who will arrive on earth sometime in the future to achieve complete
enlightenment and save humanity. Due to its unforgiving terrain, Kasagidera Temple has long been a physical and

spiritual training ground for Buddhist monks. Visitors today can walk on these same paths and training routes.

History

Kasagidera Temple’s roots can be traced back over two thousand years ago. A fragment of a Yuhi-style stone sword (a
type of sword used in the Yayoi period, approx. 300 BCE to 300 CE) was discovered in the area, hinting at the ancient
origins of the temple. Temple structures and residences in this area were first established about thirteen hundred years
ago. Around that time, Roben, the high priest and founder of nearby Todaiji in Nara, and his disciple Jitchu carved
various consecrated Buddhist statues into the rock faces here. Kasagidera Temple then garnered a reputation as an

intensive spiritual training ground for monks.

By 1052, the pessimistic Mappo ideology had gained popularity in Japan, bringing many devotees to Kasagidera Temple.
According to this Buddhist theory, there will come a time when the teachings of the Buddha are forgotten, and the
world will deteriorate into universal suffering. Many followers of Buddhism at the time turned to Kasagidera’s Buddhas

that were carved into rock as a symbol of the Buddha’s lasting presence.

There was also a period in 1191 when the famous Buddhist scholar monk Jokei (1155-1213) resided at Kasagidera
Temple. It is thought that he came to Kasagidera Temple to concentrate on his studies, but Jokei was very active while

he resided at the temple, leading a movement to rebuild temples and foster reverence for Maitreya (Miroku Bosatsu).

His efforts aided Kasagidera Temple in growing to the height of its prosperity as a mountaintop religious centet.




In 1331, the emperor at the time fled to Kasagidera Temple after a failed plot to reclaim power by overthrowing the
shogunate (feudal military government). A month-long battle ensued in which, eventually, all of Mount Kasagi was set
ablaze. Kasagidera Temple was also consumed in this inferno. The temple recovered somewhat in the following
centuries, but by the Edo period (1603—1868) it had fallen into ruin, and by 1868 was completely deserted. A priest

named Joei began recovery efforts in 1876, and after twenty years, the temple was at last restored to its current state.

Treasures and Artifacts

Today, the temple is best known for its enormous 16 m Magaibutsu (Buddhist figures carved into boulders). The

temple’s main Magaibutsu has eroded over time, but others remain in sharp relief. There is also a reliquary with over
p g > p quary

twenty Important Cultural Properties, including an Eleven-Headed Kannon statue, scrolls, and other historical artifacts.
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Kasagidera Temple’s Bronze Bell (Gedatsusho, the bell of liberation)

Cast in 1196 in the Chinese style, Kasagidera Temple’s bell is a designated Important Cultural Property of Japan. This
bell has six notches at its base; it is the only bell in Japan with this shape. It was cast and donated to Kasagidera Temple
by the renowned monk Chogen as a gesture to Jokei (1155—1213), the influential Buddhist monk scholar who was

residing at Kasagidera Temple at the time.

According to temple legend, when Jokei was residing at Kasagidera Temple the earth suddenly rose up in a mound
before him and a servant of Enma, the lord of the underworld, appeared. The servant told Jokei that Enma had heard
of his eminence and wisdom, and sent the servant to fetch Jokei so Enma could learn more about Shaka Nyorai, the
historical Buddha. Jokei agreed and spoke with Enma at length about Shaka Nyorai. As he did so, Enma was so
impressed by Jokei’s eloquence that bestowed a gift of gold dust to Jokei. This gold dust, it is said, was used in the

casting of Kasagidera Temple’s bronze bell.
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Gansenji Temple

Gansenji Temple is located in the quiet mountain city of Kizugawa, Kyoto. Embraced on all sides by mountain forest,
the temple grounds burst into bloom in the spring and summer with camellias, plum blossoms, cherry blossoms,
hydrangeas, and water lilies This has earned the temple the nickname “Temple of Flowers.” It is particularly well-known
for its hydrangeas of which there are over thirty varieties and five thousand plants. The connection to hydrangeas is so
deep that a hydrangea symbol is carved into the sign at the temple gate. Because the base of the temple’s Three-storied
Pagoda, an Important Cultural Property, is located at the foot of a hill, its top can be viewed up close from the hilltop.
The temple’s principal deity, a neatly 3-meter tall wooden statue of Amida Nyorai, is thought to be the oldest of its

kind.

History

According to temple legend, Ganseniji traces its origins to 729 when, by imperial edict, a Buddhist priest named Gyoki,
famous for his work of spreading Buddhism to the common people, established the temple. This temple is said to have
been named Gansenji in 813 by Emperor Saga (786—842), who expanded the temple complex, building structures to
give thanks for the birth of his male heir. At its most prosperous, the complex is believed to have stretched nearly one
kilometer in all directions with a total of thirty-nine structures. Unfortunately, these were all destroyed in the fires of
war in 1221.

In 1442, the three-storied pagoda was constructed and remains to this day. The main hall and principal deity were
restored in the Edo period (1603—1868) via a donation from the Tokugawa family, the ruling clan of Japan at the time.

The current main hall was rebuilt in 1966.

Treasures and Artifacts

Gansenji Temple has several Important Cultural Properties in its main hall and in the temple grounds. Perhaps the
best-known are its principal deity, a neatly 3-meter tall wooden statue of the Amida Nyorai, the Lord of the Western
Paradise, and its Three-storied Pagoda. Around the temple grounds are also many Important Cultural Properties made

of stone, as the surrounding area is known for its quality granite.
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Gansenji Temple: Three-Storied Pagoda

In the center of the temple grounds of Gansenji, nestled in the hilly embrace of nature, is its towering Three-Storied
Pagoda. According to temple legend, the pagoda was built by Emperor Ninmyo (810—850) between the years 834—847
as a memorial to a renowned priest. However, during restoration work in 1943, an inscription was discovered with the
year 1442. Since most of Gansenji Temple’s structures were destroyed in a fire in 1221, it is believed that the date on

the pagoda inscription is likely to be accurate, and that the current pagoda dates to the Muromachi period (1336—1573).

While most temple pagodas can be viewed only from ground level, there is an upward path that wraps around the
pagoda at Gansenji Temple. This gives visitors the unique opportunity to view the 18 m structure from all sides as well
as from above. A close inspection reveals twelve small, carved figures at the corners of each level, which seem to be
supporting the rafters on their shoulders. These figures, called sumionz, or corner demons, each wear a different

expression, and have been designated as Important Cultural Properties.

The pagoda is opened for public viewing during special periods. On the walls of the first floor are colorful Buddhist
depictions that serve as a backdrop for an altar. The wooden statue of Fugen Bosatsu on an Elephant used to be
enshrined here before it was moved to the main hall. Fugen Bosatsu is a bodhisattva often associated with mercy and
intelligence. Gansenji Temple’s Fugen Bosatsu on an Elephant is thought to display a particular feminine grace, and
has long been considered a divinity that aids women and leads them in the cycle of rebirth. Made in the Heian period

(794—1185), it is designated as an Important Cultural Property.

AR DIRER (HAEEER)

EfinT | =B

BRAOENMREICBENCEMFORAORLCR. ZEENEVITVEY, FRICIN(E, 834 -847 FDR
(. ZBARE(810-850)1 BRMEEEZ(BATIO=EEZEZIULEZASNTVET . UM, 1943 F0
FRAMEIRDIRIC, 1442 FOHRXNFEREINEURL, 1221 FOFNCLNEMFORFEALDFERIKIZZEN
5. COHRXOBMIIEHETHZEEZSN. IRF I DB EREF (1336 —-1573) OEIIEHEISNTVE




a-o

FEALDFHROEETMR LFBDHTIN, ST T =EEORADZEDLSC N> TO/INENSHDE
T, COTCHREREFETHEULILC 18m DESDEZ ENS. FeHhb3AMNSRITETEET REDT
NENOWUBITNEMENHD. B TEAZI XA TS IONEIE TR TENE T COBROILZIIBRIEEVET,
ETERIBEELTED. EEXMLHA(TEESINTVEY,

BRI AREETRCE. =EEORNEN—AFBEEINE T . ¥IBOEE(C(L, SIBDEA(C(E, L BB TSN
ILEIMENM TVEY . KE(CHIANROI EEZERRE. LETEFIZEIESNTLELEZ. BEERE. EiRE
HAZEUCVWSERETY, afinFOEBEEERRE. LIEHRMEIHIZROL. LHEOIKBLAETEZE(LRE
EZIBNTEFUR. LB (794-1185) (D&E5N. EESUERTIEESNTVET,

AEELARIDREERRR
U




303

No. 26 Seated Amida Nyorai, Gansen-ji Temple <ELLitpk. REB>

(hEE# ) ST
(BfmF EBAK]> Iy WEB

TEhofc kBRI X
Gansenji Temple: Seated Amida Nyorai

Enshrined in Gansenji Temple’s main hall is its principal deity, a wooden statue of the Amida Nyorai, the Lord of the
Western Paradise, who leads the dead to the land of bliss. This Seated Amida Nyorai is an Important Cultural Property
of Japan and is nearly three meters tall. The fact that it is hewn from a single, enormous zelkova tree makes its size all
the more impressive. The precise date of its creation was brought to light upon the discovery of an inscription inside
the statue that notes its completion date over one thousand years ago in 946. Among the Seated Amida Nyorai statues
with known creation dates, Gansenji Temple’s is thought to be the oldest. In addition to its remarkable size and age, it
is also very well preserved. Vestiges of the original red dye of its clothes can still be seen on the left-hand side of the

statue.
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Joruriji Temple

The Joruriji Temple grounds were designed in the style of a Jodo Garden, or Pure Land Garden, in the Heian period
(794—1185). A Jodo Garden design attempts to replicate the Pure Land on earth and calls to mind Buddhist notions
of conscientious living. Accordingly, Joruriji Temple’s Three-Storied Pagoda stands in the east where the sun rises
(symbolizing birth), and its Main Hall is in the west where the sun sets (symbolizing death), facing each other over a
central pond that represents the ocean between this life and the world beyond. The pond also serves as a symbol of
Amida’s paradise. Both the Main Hall and the Three-Storied Pagoda are National Treasures of Japan. Joruriji Temple
is also sometimes referred to as Kutaiji Temple (“the temple of the nine statues”) in reference to the group of nine

Amida Nyorai statues enshrined in its Main Hall.

History

Located in the city of Kizugawa, Kyoto, Joruriji Temple is believed to have been founded during the eighth century as
a place for monks to train and study, though the exact date is unknown. Records state that the first Main Hall was built
in 1047 and that a small, carved wooden statue of Yakushi Nyorai (the Medicine Buddha) was enshrined here as the
principal deity. This is believed to be the same Yakushi Nyorai that is enshrined at the temple at present. In 1107, the

nine wooden statues of Amida Nyorai were enshrined at Joruriji Temple, among other Buddhist statues.

Historical records indicate that temples containing nine statues of Amida Nyorai, the Lord of the Western Paradise,
were quite common at one time and were built at the request of court nobles or members of the imperial family. Joruriji
Temple is the last remaining example of such a temple and is thus a significant testament to the importance placed in
honoring Amida Nyorai and the Western Paradise at that time. The present Main Hall was moved to its current location
in 1157, but it is unknown from where. The Three-Storied Pagoda, originally built in Kyoto, was dismantled and moved
to Joruriji Temple in 1178. The Pure Land garden and its pond were originally constructed in 1150, excavated in 1976,

and subsequently restored.

Treasures and Artifacts




Joruruiji has several National Treasures and Important Cultural Properties. Its Three-storied Pagoda and Main Hall are
both National Treasures. A wooden statue of Yakushi Nyorai, the Medicine Buddha, is enshrined in the pagoda, and
is an Important Cultural Property. It can be viewed on the eighth day of every month, if the weather is clear. The Main
Hall houses a horizontal line of nine wooden statues of Amida Nyorai and the Four Heavenly Kings that are also
National Treasures. There are also several other Important Cultural Properties in the Main Hall, such as the hidden
statue of Kichijotennyo, who is represented as a graceful lady, to whom prayers for peace and prosperity are offered.

This statue can be viewed only on certain days of the year (January 1—15, March 21-May 20, October 1-November

30).
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Joruriji Temple: Hondo (Main Hall)

The current Main Hall of Joruriji Temple is a National Treasure of Japan. Completed in 1107 and moved to its present
location in 1157, it is a well-preserved example of Buddhist architecture from the Heian period (794-1185). It is also
appropriately situated on the west shore of the temple’s central pond, to represent its connection to the Amida Nyorai,

the Lord of the Western Paradise, enshrined within.

There are nine wooden consecrated statues of the Buddha Amida (Amida Nyorai) enshrined in the Main Hall, lined
up behind the hall’s nine sliding doors. Amida Nyorai is called the Lord of the Western Paradise. This deity is often
called upon to lead the souls of the dead to the world beyond this one. According to historical records, during the
twelfth century, many temples with groups of nine Amida Nyorai were built at the request of the imperial family or
court nobles. However, Joruriji Temple is believed to be the only remaining example of those temples. The line of nine

statues represents nine manifestations of Amida Nyorai corresponding to the nine patterns of human rebirth.

It is believed that the central Amida Nyorai within the Main Hall, the largest, was the first to be created and was carved
in the late eleventh century. The other eight would then have followed shortly after in the early twelfth century. The
statues show various differences in expression, as well as variety in the motifs on the halos behind their heads. These
statues were built using yosegizukuri, or joined woodblock technique, and they are hollow on the inside. When the largest
statue underwent restoration work, woodblock prints of Amida Nyorai were discovered inside the Amida statue,

thought to have been there since the statue’s creation.
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Joruriji Temple: Three-Storied Pagoda

The Three-Storied Pagoda of Joruriji Temple is a National Treasure of Japan. It was moved to its current location on
the eastern shore of the temple’s central pond in 1178 from Kyoto and is the only remaining Kyoto structure from the
Heian period (794-1185). The other structures were all burned down or destroyed during periods of war. It is presumed
to have been moved shortly after construction. Paintings of Buddhist divinities along the walls of the first floor

presumably date from the late Kamakura period (1185-1333) when restoration work was performed on the pagoda.

The pagoda enshrines a wooden statue of Yakushi Nyorai, the Buddha of Healing. Yakushi Nyorai is believed to save
all sentient beings from worldly suffering. The statue was made in the twelfth century using the 7chibokn technique,
which involves the piece being carved from a single tree trunk, and is now an Important Cultural Property of Japan. It
is still seated on its original lotus pedestal. While this statue is not usually open to the public, it can be viewed on the
eighth day of every month provided the weather is clear. It is also viewable on the day of the spring and autumn
equinox, which are particularly special for the temple. On the day of the equinox, the sun rises in the east from directly
behind the pagoda and traces an arc overhead to set right behind the Main Hall to the west. The temple’s design takes
this equinoctial trajectory in mind, and it is believed that one can feel the presence of Pure Land Paradise most intensely

on these days.
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Hamaguri Gomon Gate

The gate acquired its name Hamaguri Gomon (“Clam Gate”) after a great fire burnt down many of the buildings within
the compound. As the fire raged, this gate is said to have opened up like a clam tossed on the flames, allowing residents

to flee.

This gate is also famed as the site of the Kinmon Incident (Kinmon no Hen), also known as the Hamaguri Imperial
Gate Incident. In 1864, near the end of the feudal Edo period (1603—1868), the Sonno Joi party, who aimed to restore
the power of the emperor and expel those they saw as barbarian foreigners, rose in rebellion and attempted to storm
the palace. It is still possible to see the bullet marks left in the weathered beams by the fighting that took place as the

rebels were repulsed.
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Hamagurigomon Gate
Towards the end of Edo era, in 1864, a fierce battle took place near this gate, with the Choshu clan fighting against the

Aidzu clan allied with Satsuma and Kuwana clans which guarded the Imperial Palace. This battle is known as the

Kinmon Incident (or the Hamagurigomon Incident). Evidence of what appears to be bullet marks can be seen on the



https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Meretrix_lusoria

beams of the gate. Then known as Shinzaikemon, the gate was first opened for evacuation of the citizens from a huge
fire in Kyoto in the Edo era. Previous to the fire, it had been closed “like a clam” (hamaguri), and thus became known

as Hamagurigomon.
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The Site of the Kan-in no Miya Residence

Throughout its history, the imperial family has periodically created cadet branches in order to support the preservation
of the imperial bloodline. Founded in 1710, the Kan-in no Miya family was the youngest of the four additional imperial
houses created in the Edo period. When the 118th Emperor Go-Momozono (1758-1779) passed away suddenly
without any heir in the main family line, nine-year-old Emperor Kokaku (1771-1840) from the Kan-in no Miya lineage

ascended to the throne in his place.

After the imperial family moved to Tokyo in 1877, the residence served as the Kyoto branch office of an association
of nobles and as a court of law. It was rebuilt in 1883 to house the newly-established Kyoto branch of the Ministry of

the Imperial Household.
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Remains of the Kan-in-nomiya Residence Founded in 1710, the Kan-in-nomiya family was the newest of the four
royal houses in the Edo era. When the 118th Emperor Gomomozono passed away suddenly, 9-year-old Emperor
Koukaku from the Kan-in-nomiya family ascended to the throne. The residence was used as the Kyoto branch office
of an association of nobles or as a court of law after 1877 when the imperial house moved to Tokyo. It was re-built

when the Kyoto branch of the Imperial Household was set up in 1883.
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Demizu Stream

The network of streams that flow around the buildings and walls of the Kyoto Imperial Palace are known as Mikawa-
mizu. The sight and sounds of the streams contribute to the atmosphere of peaceful refinement that pervades the

gardens.

The Demizu Stream is a tiny brook that draws its water from the Mikawa-mizu. Just 5 cm deep and some 110 m long,
its riverbed is covered with the same pebbles as the footpaths in the garden. Groundwater from a well is recycled and

filtered to keep the stream flowing;

In the Kokin wakashn (905), one of the most famous and important collections of poetry in Japanese literary history, a
poem by Sugano Takayo (eatly 9t century) describes the mesmerizing sight of blossoms floating past the Crown
Prince’s palace on the Mikawa-mizu stream. We can tell from this poem how much the people of the time loved the

stream:

The petals of the cherry blossoms
so fleetingly fall
from the branches,

become the bubbles

of the flowing stream.

(Eda yori mo [ adani chiri ni shif hana nareba/ ochite mo mizn no/ awa to koso nare)
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Demizu Stream

Until recently, there was an aqueduct for fire-safety known as Gosho-Suido installed in the Imperial Palace. This was
a privatededicated canal diverted at Keage point, east side of Kyoto from the Lake Biwa Sosui canal which opened in
Meiji era at Sanjo-Keage point located in the east side of Kyoto. Drawing water from where the canal runs around the
Imperial Palace (known as Mikawa mizu) is a tiny brook some 100m long and some 120cm deep called Demizu Stream,
built in 1981. The riverbed of the stream is paved with the same pebbles as and the footpaths in the garden are paved
with pebbleswhich are from River Adogawa, which flows into Lake Biwa. Since the Imperial Aqueduct was closed in

1992, groundwater from a well is recycled and filtered to keep the stream flowing;
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Site of the Kaya no Miya Residence

The expanse of land that stretches from here to Karasuma Street once held the residence of Prince Asahiko (1824—
1891), the fourth son of Fushimi no Miya Kuniie. For many years, the prince served as a Buddhist priest, rising to
become head of the Tendai-sect Shoren-in Temple in Kyoto. However, due to the increasing reliance placed on him by
Emperor Komei (1831-1867), the prince eventually left the priesthood so he could provide his full support to the

Emperor. On his return to secular life, he became formally known as Nakagawa no Miya.

A large Japanese forreya (kaya) tree grew on these grounds, giving the prince the nickname, Kaya no Miya. During the
political ferment that led to the Meiji Restoration, Prince Asahiko supported a policy of reconciliation between the
Imperial Court and the shogunate. This made him enemies in the faction of imperialist loyalists who sought to expel
foreigners and restore the imperial primacy. As a result, Prince Asahiko was exiled to Hiroshima in 1868, although he
was later pardoned. A large stone monument (7han-hi) praises his achievements and his service to the Emperor. Among

the names carved into the stone is that of Prince Nashimoto no Miya (1874-1951), his fourth son.
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Remains of the Kayanomiya Residence




In the area stretching from here to Karasuma Street was the residence of the fourth prince of Fushiminomiya Kuniie,
Prince Asahiko. Prince Asahiko served as head priest of the Tendai Sect Shorenin temple, but due to the immense trust
placed in him by the Emperor Komei, he returned to the secular world under the name of Nakagawanomiya to support
the emperor. He was also known as Kayanomiya, being named after a huge kaya tree in the garden of this residence.
He was regarded as an enemy by those espousing the "revere the Emperor and expel the batbarians" philosophy
because of his policy of reconciliation between the imperial court and the shogunate. Consequently, he was exiled to
Hiroshima after the Meiji-Ishin. Here is the “Ihan-hi”” stone monument for praising achievements performed by Prince
Asahiko. In the monument it can be seen carved among others the name “Prince Nashimotonomiya Morimasa”, who

is the fourth son of Prince Asahiko.
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Site of the Saionji residence

The Saionji were a prominent noble family that headed a school of Japanese lute (biwa) music and included many
powerful political figures renowned for their cultural activities. One of the most prominent members of the family,
Saoinji Kintsune (1171-1244), was an extremely influential politician who served as Grand Minister. He built the Saionji
temple and also constructed a smaller temple, known as Myo’ondo Temple, in its precinct. Saoinji Kintsune was also

responsible for building Kitayama-dono Villa, where the Kinkakuji (Golden Pavilion) now stands.

The composition of Japanese waka poetry played a central role in the cultural life of the nobles who lived in and around

the palace. Saionji Kintsune read the following poem at a literary gathering at Saionji in Kitayama:

Let us plant mountain cherries
along the peak along the ridge,
so that generations yet to come
can look back and see

what the spring was like for us.

(Yamazakura | mine ni mo [o ni mo | ue okan | niinuyo no haru o | bito ya shinobu ts)

(From the poetry collection named Shinchokusen wakashu (1235), No. 1040)

In 1878, Myo’ondo became a Shinto shrine. It was renamed Shirakumo Shrine after the village of Shirakumo just to

the north of the site. Much later, Saionji Kinmochi (1849-1940), another famous member of the family who served as

Prime Minister of Japan twice in the eatly 20 century, founded there his private preparatory school, Ritsumeikan.

AR DIRER (HAEEER)

7o EEF B
FAREFRE. EBEEORFKTH). EFEBCEBMULBNBUA R ZEZEH UL TSNS ERDFT




TY, —IEOFTEROBERRBAMO— ANBETFAETT ARERENOHIBUART. KEARELTE
BUFU. KEARFZAZEL. TDRAWEELVIZOSEZEZTHUL, S5 IREZEFHIEO TLS
BRRCAELEREIF(EN BRI ZRLEUE.

R ZFOLFEEPZORILCES T EREDEAERICHNT, FOMREEIZRIZLTVELZ A8 E
JELIOFEESF THESNERET, ROLSBHFEIALTOET .

IIEBIZCEECEEREND RBHOFZAPLLOAE
(FrEniEANEREE 1040 &)

FREFRNIRR(TTEOLED 1878 . AN BID(CLNYEEFHHANLZZSNFURL. ZUT, DI
(C{ﬁ%?ZoEiEEN(ZBU% BEMHERRINEL. S5ITECBOT, 20 HITOYIRICTECDOTHRIEX
EZHIAETAEN . COMCFARE - ZaEEZRIILFEU,

ARBELBI DR B S

Remains of the Saionji residence

The Saionji family is the head family of Biwa school of music. It is said that Myoondo temple was built alongside
Kitayamado Villa in praise of the goddess of music “Myoonten" or "Myoonbenzaiten" by a court noble, Saionji
Kintsune in the Kamakura era. It was originally built on the site where Kinkakuji temple (the Golden Pavilion) currently
stands, and was moved here in 1769. In 1878, after the Saionji family moved to Tokyo, the hitherto practiced
syncretization of Shinto and Buddhism was renounced, and so the temple was made into a shrine, and was named
Shirakumo Shrine after Shirakumo village where it was located. Saionji Kimmochi founded his private preparatory

school, Ritsumeikan, here.
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Site of the Biwadono Residence

The regent Fujiwara no Mototsune (836—891) lived here during the early Heian Period. The Biwadono residence was
passed down to his third son, Nakahira (875-945), and was later occupied by generations of noblemen and women

related to the imperial family. Illustrious literary figures, such as Fujiwara no Atsutada (906-943), also resided here.

The composition of Japanese waka poetry played a central role in the cultural life of the nobles who lived in and around
the palace. While little remains of the residences in which they lived, the poems they wrote open an enduring window
onto their elegant world. The Hyakunin Isshu (dating to the second half of the 13th century) is the most famous
collection of poetry in Japanese literary history. The following well-known poem by Atsutada is included in this

compilation. It shows the capacity for intense emotion and deep love that was typical of Japanese classical poets:

When I compare my heart
From before we met

to after we made love,

I know I had not yet grasped

the pain of loving you.

(aimite no | nochi no kokoro ni | kurabureba | mukashi wa mono o | omowa-zarikeri)

In 1002, the building was refurbished for Fujiwara no Michinaga (966-1028) and his second daughter Kenshi (994-
1027). After a fire destroyed the Imperial Palace, Emperor Ichijo (980-1011) resided here from 1009 along with such
literary giants as Murasaki Shikibu (eatly 11th century), author of one of the most famous Japanese novels, The Tale of
Genji (eatly 11t century), and Sei Shonagon (ca.966-1025), author of the renowned diaty, The Pillow Book (eatly 11t

century). Both were in the service of the court.
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Remains of the Biwadono Residence

It is said that the Biwadono residence was located in this area. In the eatly Heian era, the residence was passed down
from Fujiwarano Mototsune to his third son Nakahira. Its grounds were lined with storehouses filled with rare treasures.
From 1002, the building was refurbished as the residence of Fujiwarano Michinaga and his second daughter Kenshi.
When the emperot's residence in the Imperial Palace was burnt down, it was used as an external emperor's residence.
In 1009, Emperor Ichijo took up residence here, with such literary giants as Murasaki Shikibu (the author of The Tale
of Genji) and Seishonagon (the author of a collection of tanka poems called The Pillow Book), who were in the service
of the court. In 1014 when the emperot's residence in the Imperial Palace was destroyed by fire, Emperor Sanjo

abdicated from the throne to be succeeded by Emperor Goichijo at this residence.
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Muku Tree of the Shimizudani Residence

This venerable muku tree (Aphananthe aspera) has stood in the estate garden of the noble Shimizudani family for over
300 years. The Shimizudani were a branch of the influential Saionji family, many of whose members attained renown
as poets or political figures. In the Edo Period, the most prominent member of the family was Shimizudani Sanenari
(1648-1709), one of the leading poets of his day. Sanenari was known for his fresh, at times even playful, approach to
poetry. He had many pupils and apprentices, drawn not just from the aristocracy but also from among the more

educated class of common folk.

Waka poetry spread throughout society in the Edo Period and many people composed waka poems, including Sanenari’s

students. This is one of Sanenari’s poems:

Flowing on and on

the plaintive sound

of the garden stream,

like the birds and flowers of spring

that also flow quickly on.

(Z\]ﬂgare yuku/ oto 0 sabishiki/ bana tori no/ haru mo tomaranu/ niwa no yﬂﬂ'mz'gu)

(From the collection Hoei Sento Chakuto Hyakushu (1705)) (Poems Read at the Palace of the Retired Emperor Reigen)

In 1864, the Choshu samurai Kijima Matabe (1817-1864) committed suicide beneath this tree. Matabe was the leader
of Yugeki-tai, a faction of the radical Sonno Joi group, which supported the restoration of imperial power and the

expulsion of foreign influences from Japan.
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Muku tree of the Shimizudani Residence

This venerable tree is known as the muku tree of the Shimizudani residence after the house of a court noble
Shimizudani familyresidence who lived nearby. The tree is some 300 years old, one of the few big muku trees found in
this garden. When the Kinmon Incident In 1864, near the tree, a Choshu samurai, Kijima Matabee who led Yuugeki-
tai, a radical “revere the Emperor and expel the barbatians” ("Sonnojoi") group, is said to have died a heroic death

beside this tree in the Kinmon Incident.




319

No.8 Agatai Well <FREBHE. REBAT>
(Messa] B
(BT EERAK] Bk

TEhofc kBRI X
Agatai Well

This well takes its name from the Agata no Miya Shrine, which was once located nearby. The name “Agatai” appears
as eatly as the 10% century in two important works of literature, the famous Tales of Yamato (Yamato-monogatari) and the

Gosen wakashu, the second anthology of poetry ever commissioned by a reigning emperor.

The composition of Japanese waka poetry played a central role in the cultural life of the nobles who lived in and around
the palace. The Retired Emperor Gotoba (1180—1239) composed a poem on the elegance of this well and the beauty

of the yellow kerria roses (yamabuki) that grew nearby:

As spring comes to an end,

where the stream frogs sing
by the Agatai well,

they must be scattering now

the lovely yellow blossoms of kerria.

(kawazu naku | agata no ido ni | haru kurete | chiri ya shinuran | yamabuki no hana)

(From the poetry collection Shokugosen wakashn (1251), No.155)
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Agatai Well

It is said that a shrine named Agatanomiya was located near this well, and those aspiring to become local bureaucrats
purified themselves with the water from the well before presenting themselves before the emperor at the imperial coutt,
in the hope that their dream would come true. Until the Edo era, this area lay within the premises of the Ichijo family,
one of the five regent houses, and the water from this well is said to have been used as the newborn baby's first bath
after birth for Ichijo Haruko, who later married Emperor Meiji. It is also known as the well of healing water in the
Yamato-monogatati story, and was written about in tanka poems by poets such as Emperor Gotoba because of its

beautiful elegance by the well and Japanese yellow roses “Yamabuki” .
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No.9 Site of the Konoe Residence <REDHBE, REPRT >
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Site of the Konoe Residence

The Konoe family was one of the five houses whose family members served as regents or chancellors from the 12t
century until the end of the Edo Period. On the west side of the pond stood a large house and garden, once the
temporary residence of the emperor when the Imperial Palace was destroyed by fire. Itozakura cherry trees dot the

grounds in this area, attracting many visitors in early spring when they blossom.

Emperor Komei (1831-1867) so admired the Itozakura cherry trees here that he composed the following »aka poem

when visiting the Konoe family:

I’ve always known your name,
but seeing you today

for the first time,

I cannot tear my eyes away,

Ah, Weeping Cherry!

(Mukashi yori [ na niwa kike domo/ kyo mireba | mube | me kare senu | ito zaknra kana)

(From a makimono, Ei itozaknra waka kan (1855) (poems about weeping cherry blossoms)
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Remains of the Konoe Residence

This was the residence of the Konoe family, one of the five regent houses, many of whose members served as regents
or chief advisers to emperors until the end of the Edo era. To the west of the pond of this garden was a large house
that was once used as the temporary residence of the emperor when the Imperial Palace had been burnt down. People
have long been attracted to the Itozakura cherry trees by the pond. Emperor Koumei admired this tree in his tanka

poem.
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Saru ga Tsuji

Tucked up under the northeast eaves of the palace’ outer wall is a carved wooden monkey. Wearing a tall conical eboshi
cap and carrying a gohe/ wand with strips of paper attached, the monkey represents an emissary from the Hie Sannoh
Shrine, which guards against the misfortune believed to emanate from the northeast. Because of its mischievous ways,

the monkey has been caged behind a metal mesh to discourage its nighttime wanderings.

Toward the end of the Tokugawa Shogunate, Anekoji Kintomo (1840-1863) was assassinated close to this spot.
Kintomo was a court noble who opposed the opening of Japan to the outside world and spearheaded a movement to

expel the foreigners he saw as barbarians.
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Sarugatsuji

A carved wooden monkey is found beneath the roof where the Tsuijibei fence of the Imperial Palace curves, wearing
an eboshi cap and carrying a “Gohei” pole with zigzag paper strips. This monkey is supposed to be a messenger from
the Hie-Sannoh shrine guarding the north-east, or demon, gate of the Imperial Palace. It is said to have been locked

up in a metal

mesh as punishment for coming out at night and making mischief. This area is also where




Anegakoji Kintomo is said to have been assassinated in May, 1863 toward the end of the Tokugawa Shogunate (the
Sarugatsuji Incident). He was a court noble who spearheaded the movement to expel foreign "barbarians" | at the time

when those in favor of opening Japan to the world and those against it were locked in a fierce struggle.
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No.11 Site of the Nakayama Residence <TREPBTHZE. TREDRT>
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Site of the Nakayama Residence

Nakayama Tadayasu (1809-1888) was a senior courtier whose daughter, Yoshiko (1836—-1907), became concubine to
the emperor and gave birth to Prince Sachi no Miya in 1852. The prince ascended to the imperial throne as Emperor
Meiji (1852-1912). The house in which the future emperor was cared for during the first four years of his life still
stands behind the gate. The well that serves the residence replaced an earlier well that dried up during a drought when

the young prince was two. The new well, Sachi-no-i, was named after him.

The composition of Japanese waka poetry played a central role in the cultural life of the nobles who lived in and around
the palace. The Emperor Meiji was a highly prolific poet, composing some 100,000 waka poems or gyosei. Many of

these poems provide valuable lessons for life. One example reads:

Do not be swayed

by the raging storms

of every age. The human heart
must be steadfast,

a pine rooted deeply on a rock.

(Arashi fuku | yo ni mo ugoku na | hito gokoro | iwao ni nezasu | matsu no gotokuni)
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Remains of the Nakayama Residence

This is what remains of the residence of a noble who was a supreme court counselor, Nakayama Tadayasu. In 1852,
his daughter Yoshiko, a concubine of the emperor gave birth to Prince Sachinomiya, who later became Emperor Meiji.
The house where he was born remains on these premises. Prince Sachinomiya was cared for here for his first four years.
The well found here was dug to replace an older one that had dried up because of a drought in the summer when

Prince Sachinomiya was two years old, and so the well was named Sachinoi after him.
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Site of the Tsuchimikado Residence

The Tsuchimikado Residence was the home of Fujiwara no Michinaga (966—1028), who served as regent and prime
minister in the mid-Heian period. The estate extended two blocks to the north and south and was also known as
Joutomon-tei or Kyogoku-tei. Michinaga’s eldest daughter, Shoshi (988-1074), became empress when she married
Emperor Ichijo and made this building their imperial residence. Their sons, Emperor Go-Ichijo (1008-1036) and
Emperor Go-Suzaku (1009—1045), were both born here. On the auspicious occasion of Michinaga’s third daughter

becoming empress, he composed a famous waka:

Just as there is not
the slightest dent
in the full moon,
so this whole world

is gloriously mine!
(Kono yo 0 ba | waga yo to 30 omon | mochizuki no | kaketaru koto no | nashi to | omoeba)
(From the 11t century Shoyuki: The Records of Fujiwara no Sanesuke)
The composition of Japanese waka poetry played a central role in the cultural life of the nobles who lived in and around
the palace. While little remains of the residences in which they lived, the poems they wrote open an enduring window

onto their elegant world. Many of the poems dwell on the suffering of love and the impermanence of life. Michinaga’s

poem about taking delight in his own power is unusual in its forthright admiration of more tangible rewards.
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Remains of the Tsuchimikado Residence

This is the remains of the residence of Fujiwarano Michinaga who became regent and prime minister of state in the
mid-Heian era. It later expanded to cover two blocks of the street to the north and south, and was also known at that
time as Joutoumon-tei or Kyougoku-tei. The eldest daughter, Shoushi, of Michinaga was married to Emperor Ichijo
as his empress, and so this residence became an imperial residence within the capital. Her sons, Emperor Goichijo and
Emperor Gosuzaku were born as princes here. At a banquet given here Michinaga wrote a famous tanka which can be

translated as: “This world is mine, and the full moon never wanes.”
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Site of the Hashimoto Residence

The Hashimoto family was a branch of the illustrious Saionji family, many of whose members attained renown as poets

or political figures

It was in this residence that Princess Kazu no Miya (1846—1877), a younger sister of the 120th Emperor Komei (1831—
1867), was born. Her mother, Tsuneko (1826—1865), the daughter of Hashimoto Sanechisa (1790-1857), was a
concubine to Emperor Ninko (1800-1846). Princess Kazu no Miya lived here until she was fourteen. With the
relationship between the Imperial Court and the shogunate becoming increasingly strained, it was decided to seek a
reconciliation through marriage. The engagement between the princess and Prince Arisugawa no Miya was broken off
and she was married instead to the fourteenth shogun, Tokugawa Iemochi (1846—1866). Following the Meiji
Restoration, the princess used her influence to protect the life of the last shogun, Tokugawa Yoshinobu (1837-1913).
Princess Kazu no Miya died in 1877 while under medical treatment in Hakone and was buried beside Tokugawa Iemochi

at Zojoji temple.
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Remains of the Hashimoto Residence




It is said that Princess Kazunomiya, a younger sister of the 120th Emperor Koumei was born here. Her mother
Tsuneko, the daughter of Hashimoto Sanehisa, was a concubine to the 121st Emperor Ninko. Princess Kazunomiya
spent her first fourteen years in this residence. In order to promote reconciliation between the imperial court and the
shogunate, her engagement with Prince Arisugawanomiya Taruhito was broken off, and instead she got married the
fourteenth shogun Tokugawa lemochi. After the Meiji Restoration, she strove to have the life of Tokugawa Yoshinobu
(he was the last shogun) spared. In 1877, she died under medical treatment in Hakone, and was buried side by side with

Tokugawa lemochi at Zoujouji temple.
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Original Site of the Gakushuin

Emperor Kokaku (1771-1840), of the Kan-in no Miya family, ascended to the imperial throne in 1779. The emperor
was a great supporter of scholarship and worked hard to promote the education of the court nobles. In 1845, during
the reign of his successor Emperor Ninko (1800-1840), the Tokugawa shogunate permitted the construction of an
educational institution in the grounds of the Kyoto Imperial Palace. It opened two years later, during the reign of
Emperor Komei (1831-1867), and provided instruction in Japanese and Chinese classics for court nobles, officials of
the Imperial Palace, and their children. The school became known officially as Gakushuin with the bestowing of an

imperial plaque by Emperor Komei in 1849.

When the Imperial Palace moved to Tokyo at the start of the Meiji Period, the Kyoto Gakushuin was closed. However,
in 1877 Emperor Meiji (1852-1912) again granted an imperial plaque bearing the name “Gakushuin” to the newly

founded Peers’ School in Tokyo. The present Gakushuin School Corporation was established at that time.
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Original Site of the Gakushuin

In 1779, Emperor Kokaku, a court noble from the Kan'in-no-miya Imperial family, ascended the throne. Emperor
Kokaku prized scholarship, and worked hard to promote the education of the court nobles. In 1845, during the reign
of Emperor Ninko, the Tokugawa shogunate permitted the construction of an educational institution on the Kyoto
Imperial Palace grounds. The school opened on this site two years later in 1847, during the reign of Emperor Komei.
The school was intended to instruct both court nobles and the officials serving in the Kyoto Imperial Palace and their
children in the Japanese and Chinese classics. In 1849, Emperor Komei bestowed an imperial plaque bearing the name
"Gakushtin” to the school, making this the institution's official name. With the start of the Meiji Period and the
relocation of the Imperial Palace to Tokyo, the Kyoto Gakushuin was closed. However, in 1877, Emperor Meiji again
granted an imperial plaque bearing the Gakushtin name to the newly founded Peers' School in Tokyo, which adopted

the traditional Gakushtin name. Today's Gakushain School Corporation was established at this time.
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No.15 Site of the Gyokado <FREBiHFE. RECRT>
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Site of the Gyokado

Emperor Gosai (1638-1685), the 111th emperor, is said to have lived on this site. Gosal is remembered for his
contribution to the preservation of Japan’s literary tradition and for commissioning high-quality copies of many
important works in the palace archives. His farsighted approach means that, while precious manuscripts were later lost
when the palace was destroyed by fire, the works they contained remain available to us now thanks to the circulation
of his copies. Emperor Gosai maintained his interest in the preservation of literary and other manuscripts even after

he abdicated. The results of his accomplishments form the present-day Higashiyama Imperial Archives (Gobunko).

The composition of Japanese waka poetry played a central role in the cultural life of the nobles who lived in and around

the palace. The following poem was composed by Emperor Gosai to evoke the first day of spring:

The heart that celebrates
this first day of spring
never changes.

In many countries,

poets celebrate this day with poems.

(Yo 0 iwan | kokoro kawarade/ kara no uta mo | kaku ya haru tatsu | kyou no kotobuki)

(From the collection of poems, Shin-meidai wakashu (1710), no. 14)
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Remains of the Gyokadou

It is said that Sento Imperial Palace was located here after the 111th Emperor Gosai, abdicated in the Edo era. The
lord of the Aidzu clan, Matsudaira Katamori ~ who was reluctantly

posted to guard Kyoto. accepted the special favour of the Imperial Court and set up a provisional residence here due
to his declining health aHe accepted the special favor of the imperial court, and because of concerns of his health, set
up a provisional residence here around the time when the Kinmon Incident took place. On the hill, a lantern
contributed by Higashihonganji temple was erected beside a pine tree with a pond to the south. The pond was later
filled in under the reconstruction of the Palace before the coronation ceremony in the Taisho era, and the lantern
was moved to the side of Kujo pond. Since all metal fittings had to be donated to the

government to help with wartime efforts during the Second World War, all that is left is its a pedestal of the lantern.




3827

No.16 Site of the Sakuramachi Residence <REMHBE. REDRT >
(Hesssa] +H]
(BT EEAR] B

TEDNOIREERR X

Site of the Sakuramachi Residence

Amongst the greatest of the waka poets, Ki no Tsurayuki (872-945) is said to have lived in this area in the mid-Heian
petiod. The grounds here were noted for an abundance of cherry trees and a delightful garden that later became known

as the Sakuramachi residence (cherry tree district).

The composition of Japanese waka poetry played a central role in the cultural life of the nobles who lived in and around
the palace. While little remains of the residences in which they lived, the poems they wrote open an enduring window
onto their elegant world. In the following exquisite poem, Ki no Tsurayuki compares the scattering of blossoms to a

snow fall:

The wind that is blowing
beneath the cherry blossom tree
is not cold at all,

and the blossoms that fall—

A snow that has never known a cloud.

(Sakura chirn | kono shita kaze wa/ samukara de [ sora ni shirare nu/yuki 3o furi kern)

(From the collection of poems Shui-shu (ca.7006)No. 64)

The Nakagawa River flowed nearby. This river appears several times in Japan’s most famous novel, The Tale of Genji
(early 117 century), in particular in the chapter “The Lady at the Villa of Scattering Orange Blossoms.”

(Hanachirnsato) Genii recites this poem:

The cuckoo, pining for the fragrance
of orange blossoms,
which fill his heart

with nostalgia for the past




visits the village where the blossoms fall.

(Tachibana no | ka o natsukashi mi | hototogisu | hana chiru sato o | tazunete 30 ton)
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Remains of the Sakuramachi Residence

It is said that the Sakuramachi residence where Kinotsurayuki, a great poet in the middle Heian era, lived was located
in this area. It was famous for its exquisite garden where many cherry trees were planted. In the fictional world, some
of the residences described in The Tales of Genji, the wotld's oldest novel, were around here, including the residence
of Princess Suetsumuhana, the Nakagawa Residence where Emperor Kiritsubo’s consort Reikenden-no-nyougo and
her younger sister Hanachirusato lived, and the Kinokami-no-Nakagawa-no-ie house where Genji met Utsusemi, the

wife of the vice-minister of the Iyo domain.




3238

No.17 Site of a Kyoto Exposition Site <FREBHIE. RECKT>
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Site of a Kyoto Exposition Site

When the capital relocated to Tokyo, the people of Kyoto were apprehensive about the possible decline of their city’s
fortunes. In order to showcase the traditional industrial products of the city, it was decided to hold Japan’s first

exposition at Nishi Honganji Temple in 1871.

In the years that followed, eight further expositions were held to support Kyoto’s industries, including one in the Sento
Palace. In 1880, the city established the predecessor to Kyoto City University of Arts on the eastern hills to provide
training in the industrial, as well as traditional, arts. The artists trained here were encouraged to maintain Kyoto’s
reputation as the country’s leading center for artistic development and achievement. In 1914, a permanent exhibition
hall, called the Kyoto Municipal Kangyokan, was constructed near Heian Shrine in the Okazaki area to serve as a venue
for future exhibitions. Renamed Kyoto Miyako Messe, the current hall hosts a diverse range of artistic and cultural

cvents.
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Remains of the Exposition Site Concerned about the possible decline of Kyoto after the relocation of the capital to




Tokyo, the people of Kyoto decided to have the Japan's first exposition at Nishihonganji temple to display traditional
industrial products, thus encouraging industry in Kyoto to develop. The second through ninth expositions were held
in the Sento Imperial Palace, but from the tenth exposition in 1881, the expositions were held at a permanent exhibition
hall built here. To the south-east was the Kyoto School of Drawing (what is now the Municipal University of Art).
From 1914, the

Kyoto Municipal Kangyokan Hall in Okazaki was used as the venue for the

expositions.
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Site of the Takatsukasa Residence

The Takatsukasa lineage belonged to one of the five regent houses that had separated from the Konoe family in the
Kamakura period. In the mid-Edo period, Prince Atsu no Miya (1738-1813) of the Kan-in no Miya became the head
of the Takatsukasa family. His grandson, Masamichi (1789—1868), served as regent to the emperor for more than thirty
years toward the end of the Edo period. Masamichi was retained as a private adviser to the court when he retired,
informally maintaining his position even after his successor, Kujo Hisatada (1798—1871), was officially appointed as

I‘CgCI’lt.

During the Kinmon Incident in 1864, Choshu clan soldiers stormed the Takatsukasa residence and destroyed it by
setting it on fire. The blaze swept through Kyoto, cutting a huge swath of destruction through the city and eventually

consuming the Choshu residence as well.
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Remains of the Takatsukasa Residence

The Takatsukasa line was one of the five regent houses whicho separated from the Konoe family in the mid-Kamakura

era. In the mid-Edo era, Prince Atsunomiya of the Kanin nomiya family became the successor of the Takatsukasa




family. His grandson, Masamichi, served as the chief adviser to the emperor for more than 30 years at the end of the
Edo era, and continued to play an important role as Nairan and Taiko, a retired private adviser in the imperial court,
even after he was succeeded by Kujo Hisatada. Masamichi's wife was the elder sister of the lord of the Mito clan,
Tokugawa Narianki, and is said to have easy access to known early information on foreign states. During the Kinmon
Incident in 1864, Choshu clan soldiers stormed the residence and it was defeated by the fire. Another fire occurred and

grew huge, spreading relentlessly across Kyoto, involving the fire from the Choshu residence.
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Sakaimachi Gomon Gate

On August 18%, 1863, political and military forces staged a coup d’état to wrest back power from seven court nobles
who had seized control. A powerful alliance was formed in an attempt to expel from Kyoto Sanjo Sanetomi (1837—
1891) and the Choshu clan, the leaders of a group whose policies were based on the expulsion of foreigners and
securing political primacy for the emperor. Emperor Komei (1831-1867) came together with Nakagawa no Miya (1824-
1891), the Aizu and Satsuma clans, and a number of court nobles who favored reconciliation between the Imperial

Court and the shogunate, in order to create a united front in opposition to this group.

Aizu and Satsuma soldiers managed to secure the Sakaimachi Gomon gate before the Choshu soldiers assigned to
guard it could assemble. The Choshu soldiers and the seven radical court nobles were then expelled from the capital
and exiled to Choshu in southern Honshu. These events led to a temporary reconciliation between the Imperial Court

and the shogunate.
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Sakaimachigomon Gate

On August 18th, 1863, a political and military force staged a coup d' eotat. The force comprised Emperor Koumei of
the imperial court, Nakagawanomiya, some court nobles in favor of reconciliation between the imperial court and the
shogunate, and the Aidzu and Satsuma clans. Their aim was to expel from Kyoto the seven radical court nobles
including Sanjo Sanetomi and the Choshu clan who were spearheading the "revere the Emperor and expel the
barbarians" movement. By the time the Choshu clan soldiers assigned to guard the Sakaimachigomon gate had
mustered at the gate, it had been surrounded by Aidzu and Satsuma soldiers and the Choshu clan soldiers were not
allowed to go inside the gate. The Choshu clan soldiers were expelled from the capital, and the seven radical court
nobles were exiled to Choshu as a result ofin the resulting political change. A reconciliation between the imperial court

and the shogunate was temporarily realized in Kyoto.
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Site of the Kujo Residence

The Kujo family is one of five houses whose members served time and again as regent or chancellor to the emperor,
two of the most important positions in the Imperial Court from the late Heian period onwards. The influence these

families wielded was such that their daughters often provided the wife of the emperor, as was the case when Empress

Sadako (1884—1912) married Emperor Taisho (1879-1927).

One of the most famous members of the Kujo family was Fujiwara Ryokei (1169—1206), who lived at the beginning
of the thirteenth century. Ryokei served the emperor as prime minister but was also famous for his poetry. He used his

position to act as a patron of other poets and to institute a renowned poetry salon. Here is one of his poems:

As far as the eye can see

on the plain of Musashino
the earth and the sky are one
and the moon peeps out

from among the grasses.

(Yukusue wa | sora mo hitotsu no | Musashino ni | kusa no hara yori | izurn tsukikage)

(Shinkokin wakashu (early 13% century), (No.422)

Classical Japanese literature is centered around the capital city of Kyoto, which is surrounded by mountains. There are
countless poems that celebrate the rising and the setting of the moon over these mountains; in this poem Ryokei
subverts this expectation and expresses delight instead at the imagined scene of the moon rising over the entirely flat

plain of Musashino.

Towards the end of the Edo period, the Tokugawa shogunate began to favor accepting the demands of US Consul
General Townsend Harris (1804-1878) that Japan should sign the proposed Treaty of Peace and Commerce (the so-

called Harris Treaty). However, Emperor Komei (1831-1867) strongly objected to this plan. Negotiations between the




Imperial Court and the Tokugawa shogunate over this issue took place, in part, at the Kujo residence. All that remains
of this once vast dwelling is the Shusuitei Teahouse by the pond and the Itsukushima Shrine, the guardian shrine for

the Kujo family, which is located on the finger of land that extends into the pond.
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Remains of the Kujo Residence

The Kujo family is one of the five regent houses with many of its members having served as regent or chief adviser
to emperor, the two most important positions in the imperial court, since the late Heian era. Many daughters of these
families became an emperot's wife and empress, Sadako, who married Emperor Taisho, was one of the instances.
Towards the end of the Edo era, the Tokugawa Shogunate was in favor of the policy of accepting the demands of US
Consul General Townsend Harris that Japan would sign the Treaty of Peace and Commerce (the so-called Harris
Treaty), but Emperor Komei of the imperial court was against it. Negotiations between the imperial court and the

Tokugawa Shogunate took place at that time in Kyoto, and theis residence was used as one of the a sites for negotiations




by the then chief adviser to the emperor, Kujo Hisatada. All that is now left of what used to be a vast residence, is the
only Shusuitei Tea Ceremony House by the pond, and the Itsukushima Shrine on the island in the middle of the pond,

which served as the guardian shrine for the Kujo residences.
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Changes in Land Subdivision

Utrban zoning has changed the layout of Kyoto Gyoen and has led to the construction of new buildings. Fortunately,
an archaeological survey conducted from 1997 to 2002, in advance of the construction of the new State Guest House
(Geihinkan), uncovered many fascinating artifacts that date back as far as the Heian Period.

The discoveries span the entire period of this site’s use as the court noble’s residential area. Archaeological evidence
indicates that the district was fully formed by around 1610. After the great fire of 1708, a redistricting plan governed
new constructions in the area. Roads were widened and many homes moved further away from the Imperial Palace as
a fire prevention measure.

Excavation site

Overview of site

Sub-division in mid-Edo Period

Sub-division in late-Edo Period

Objects unearthed at site of Takatsukasa Residence

The Takatsukasa lineage belonged to one of the five regent houses that had separated from the Konoe family in the
Kamakura period. Excavations in the area of the family residence uncovered many ceramic artifacts, including small

roof tiles decorated with the imperial chrysanthemum crest.

Artifacts discovered during excavation ahead of the construction of State Guest House. Most of these Edo-period

objects are related to the court noble’s residential areas.
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Changes in Land Subdivision
This is a picture of the excavation before the construction of the Kyoto State Guest House. Many old remains appeared

below by this unexpected discovery.




833

No.22 Establishment of the Kyoto Imperial Palace <TREMHZE. REBRT>

(fEsxsa] PAbT= RPN REE
(BlEFERK] U-Jbyk

TEDHNOIREERR X

Establishment of the Kyoto Imperial Palace

When the capital first moved to Kyoto in the Heian Period, the Imperial Palace was situated 2 km west of its current
location. The first emperor to reside at the current site of the Kyoto Imperial Palace was Emperor Kogon, who turned
the Higashi no Toin Tsuchimikado-den into a temporary palace in 1331. This later became the official Imperial Palace
after the unification of the northern and southern dynasties in 1392.

From the medieval period onwards, rulers who were able to exert control over Kyoto often demonstrated their power
and prestige by rebuilding the Imperial Palace. In the Momoyama period, Toyotomi Hideyoshi decided to create an
area that would incorporate compounds for other members of the Imperial family, as well as houscholds of the
extended nobility, within the immediate palace surroundings. This became the court nobles’ residential area.
Locations of the Imperial Palace through the centuries

Before 994 until the time of Fujiwara no Michinaga

995 — 1027 until the death of Fujiwara no Michinaga

1028 — 1074 until the death of Fujiwara no Yorimichi

1075 — 1101 until the death of Fujiwara no Morozane

1102 — 1162 until the death of Fujiwara no Tadazane

Imperial Palace in the early Edo Period

Imperial Palace in the middle Edo Period

Imperial Palace in the late Edo Period




Perimeter of Kyoto Gyoen

Imperial Palace

Homes of Imperial Family members

Homes of nobility

Changes in the Imperial Palace during the Edo Period

In the eatly part of the Edo Petiod, machiya townhouses belonging to commoners existed in the area. However, these
were gradually replaced by the estates of the nobility. By the late Edo period, more than 140 compounds for the nobility
were located in this area.

Incremental changes also took place in the Imperial Palace itself, and in the houses of members of the Imperial Family.

Three Edo-period maps of Kyoto Gyoen show the changes in ownership of the palaces and court nobles’ residential

areas.

Kyoto Gyoen (light green in the diagram) is located at the northeast corner of the old Heian-kyo city. The other colored

areas on the map show the Imperial Palaces during the different petriods.
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Establishment of Kyoto Imperial Palace
Kyoto Gyoen (light green) is located at the northeast corner of the old Heiankyo city. The other colored points on the
map show the court nobles’ residential areas and Imperial Palaces during different period of time (Kyoto Imperial

Palace was also one of them).
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Life in the Court Nobles’ Residential Areas

The pictures below show examples of life in the court nobles’ residential areas. A screen painting depicts the 1620
wedding procession of Emperor Go-Mizunoo (1596-1680) and Masako (1607—-1678), fifth daughter of the second
Tokugawa Shogun, Hidetada (1579-1632). Walls separating the palace from the city were made of earth (#uzji-bei) or
wood (#ta-bei), rather than the stone walls or concrete that would be used today. At right are two pictures of nobles
visiting the palace, and commoners who have gathered to watch the proceedings. It is clear that this area was surprisingly

open, and not sealed off from the rest of the city.

The sight of nobles at the gates of their compounds was one of Kyoto’s main attractions, as depicted in many pictures

in city guides in the latter part of the Edo Period.

The scene from this folding screen depicts the marriage of Masako, the fifth daughter of the second Tokugawa shogun,
to Emperor Go-Mizunoo. 560 different bridal accessories from the Tokugawa family are on display. The enlarged

section at right shows the court nobles’ residential areas and the Imperial Palace.
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Bustle of Court Nobles’ Residental Area

These two pictures are taken from an old city guidebook which was published in Edo era. It vividly shows the scene

when the court nobles going for a worship in Kyoto Imperial Palace and the ordinary people who see the scenery.

This picture taken from a folding screen shows the scene when Masako (the 5% daughter of the 204 Tokugawa shogun)
married Emperor Gomizuno-o. On the right part in this picture, you can see the Court Nobles” Residential area and

the Imperial Palace.




835

No.24 Transition of the Kan-in no Miya Residence <FREBFEFE. RERT>

(fEsx] PRl =EPERINANRRER
(BT EEA] U-JLbwb

TEDNOIREERR X

Transition of the Kan-in no Miya Residence

The Kan-in no Miya was a branch of the Imperial family, which also included princes of equal rank from the Houses
of Fushimi no Miya, Katsura no Miya and Arisugawa no Miya.

The House of Kan-in no Miya was established in 1710 by Naohito Shinno, son of Emperor Higashiyama. At that time,
the Kan-in no Miya residence was a large (498 fsubo or 1,643 m?) L-shaped compound in the southwest part of the
court nobles’ residential areas. Other than the walls and gates, all the buildings here were moved from the former

Higashiyama villa.

Plan of Kan-in no Miya compound

Kan-in no Miya family lineage

Green: (Ist to 7th generations): House (generation number)

Purple (113th - 125th generations): Imperial Household (generation number)

Emperor Go-Momozono, the 118th Emperor, had no heir so the grandson of Naohito Shinno of the Kan-in no Miya
branch of the Imperial Family, Emperor Kokaku, was named his successor. This line of descent continues through to
the current emperor, the 125th holder of the title.

Kan-in no Miya compound and its surroundings, 1713

Kan-in no Miya compound and its surroundings, 1837

Kan-in no Miya compound today

The original buildings were lost in the Great Tenmei Fire. Details of later reconstructions are unknown. Records

suggest that the current structures were built in 1883 under the supervision of the Department of the Imperial

Household. It is believed that large portions of the structure and materials were salvaged from older buildings and




restored to the form they had taken in the Edo Period.
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Transition of the Kaninnomiya Residence

The purple line is the bloodline of Emperor. The green line is the bloodline of Kan-in-no-miya imperial family.

Here was once the residential area of the Kan-in-no-miya impetialfamily.




This is the plan ob residence where Kan-in-no-miya impelialfamily founded. But this residence was burnt down in
1788.

Some parts of this existing residence were assumed to be reused from the original Kan-in-no-miya residence in 1883.
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Transfer of the Capital to Tokyo and Decline of the Court Nobles’ Residential Areas

The capital’s move to Tokyo in 1869 began a difficult transition for the people of Kyoto. Indeed, for some it was as if
the life of the city itself had been extinguished. When the nobility moved to Tokyo, they left their splendid compounds
vacant. An administrative office, which later became the Imperial Household Agency, was created to maintain and
manage the Imperial Palace itself, but the court nobles’ residential area lost its special status and fell into disrepair.
Some of the compounds were converted into restaurants and the Palace area eventually became just another part of

the city.

Kyoto Shimbun, eatly Meiji Period
*Unrelated to today’s Kyoto Shimbun.

Kujo Pond and Shusuitei garden in the early Meiji Period
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Transfer of the Capital to Tokyo and Decline of the Court Nobles’ Residential Area

The Couer Nobles’ residential area became a general town after Emperor Meiji transferred the capital to Tokyo in 1869.

At that period, the newspaper recorded this event.
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Kyoto Gyoen Garden—DPreservation Project

In 1877, the Kyoto prefectural government took on the responsibility of preserving and maintaining the Imperial
Palace. It purchased the site, removed the old villas of the nobility, and built a wall of earth and stone around the
perimeter of the garden to prevent any possible spread of fire to the palace buildings that still existed within. Trees
were planted, pathways constructed, and other steps taken to preserve and beautify the area. Proud of these efforts,
the citizens of Kyoto offered their support by donating trees and money.

The wall along Karasuma-dori

Kujo Pond and Takakura Bridge, around 1877

Agreement on nomenclature between the Imperial State Minister and Kyoto Prefecture

In 1878, it was announced that the name of this site would be “Gyo-en” (Imperial Garden).

The Site of Gyokado (ZEBERN), around 1877

Planting trees and other greenery

Repair of walls and gutters

Repair and maintenance of gates

Details of Preservation Project

AR DIRER (HAEEER)

ARRIFEE




1877 . FEPRIMMHFROMEFLREDEF 25| SREFTLUIC REFEEHZBA L. AZROEBEZEDIEL.
1HFrZ NSNS ST I ERDREEZ T AR TEDEHEUZ. RMMEZSN. BHIMESN. BHIROREE
FEALDOTHDER R BIERNRITINFU IOUTEENCBRUVCREBDOA X (& BAPEZZHU. ZIBRUE
LTz,

BIERVOIRE

1877 EEDNS L EALE

EANEIEREFFORI TRDENT. R IIE
1878 £F(C(F. COXHZ[HFE LM R ENMTEINTVET .

1877 FLEADEEEER IR

HERHERRE

FOBOERE

FIDERELRE

RIFSEEDF

ARBRLIBIOREERRR X

Kyoto Gyoen Garden-Establishment Project

From 1877 to 1883 there was a project called “Kyoto Gyoen Garden-Establishment project”, or “O-uchi Hozon
Jigyou” in Japanese. At this period of time, Kyoto Prefecture has the ownership of this area. They removed buildings
to preserve and maintain environment the Imperial Palace. These are the pictures of the “Kyoto Gyoen Garden-

Establishment project.”
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Improvements Preparatory to Emperor Taisho’s Enthronement Ceremony

In 1883, it was decided that the imperial enthronement ceremony would continue to take place in Kyoto, despite the
movement of the Imperial Court and capital to Tokyo. Preparations began for the enthronement of the Emperor’s
heir Taisho (1879-1926) when he succeeded to his father’s position, including the widening of the path in front of
the Kenrei-mon Gate, and the planting of #bame oaks along the perimeter walls. These changes formed the Kyoto
Gyoen National Garden as it exists to this day.

Scene of enthronement of Emperor Taisho (near the Gyokado site)

Scene of enthronement of Emperor Taisho (in front of the Shishin-den)

Scene of enthronement of Emperor Taisho (Imperial procession)

Plan of improvements
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Improvements Preparatory to Emperor Taisyo’s Enthronement Ceremony
The landscape of Kyoto Gyoen was almost completed to prepare for the Emperor Taisyo’s Enthronement Ceremony.

This is the picture of the ceremony.
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No.28 Establishment as National Garden and Foundation of Environment Agency <FREBiHIE. REBAT>
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Establishment as National Garden and Foundation of Environment Agency

After World War 11, the grounds of the Kyoto Imperial Palace came under the control of the national government. In
December 1947, the Cabinet decided that the Ministry of Health, Labor and Welfare would manage the Kyoto Imperial
Palace site, Shinjuku Gyoen, and Kokyo Gaien as National Gardens. The garden now appears less like an Imperial
Palace garden and more like a public recreational facility, with amenities such as sports fields, children’s play areas,

drinking fountains and public restrooms.

Tennis courts, circa 1950

Nakadachiuri parking lot, May 1950

Children’s park, circa 1953

Nature-watching gathering

Children playing in a Demizu stream

When the Environment Agency was created in 1971, it took over responsibility for the National Gardens from the

Ministry of Health, Labor and Welfare. Nature-watching gatherings grew in popularity around this time, reflecting the

increasing interest of the public in learning about the local flora and fauna.
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Establishment as National Gaeden and Foundation of Environment Agency

After the World War two, Kyoto Gyoen became a National Garden, also its management control passed from the
Imperial Household Agency to the Ministry of Public Welfare.

These pictures are the sports fields and other public facilities were built by the Ministry of Public Welfare in those days.
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No.29 The plants and large fungi of Kyoto Gyoen. <FREBEHZE. REBRT>
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Plants

The greenery now present in Kyoto Gyoen is not the original vegetation. New landscaping was carried out after the

capital was transferred to Tokyo and the residences of the nobles removed. Over a century has now passed, and the

site has since been managed as a garden with approximately 500 different kinds of plants.

Pine trees

Plum trees

Deciduous trees

Evergreen trees

Kansai dandelions (Taraxacum japonicum)

Large Fungi

Because of the wide variety of trees that grow here — pines and other evergreens, as well as deciduous trees — fungi

also grow in abundant quantity and variety. Over 400 varieties of fungi have been identified in the gardens, including

several particulatly interesting varieties, such as various kinds of caterpillar fungus and the fungi that grow from pine

cones. Some of the local fungi were the first of their kind to be identified in Japan.

Pinecone Mushroom (Auriscalpinm vulgare)

Russian Conecap (Strobilurus stephanocystis)

Conifercone Cap (Bacospora myosura)




Ophiocordyceps heteropoda

Motchella esculenta var. vulgaris (provisional)

Tulostoma squamosum
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Plants
These are the plants, large fungi, insects and birds in Kyoto Gyoen.

Large Fungi
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No.30 The insects and birds of Kyoto Gyoen. <FREBEHZE. REBRT>
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Birds

With its location in the center of Kyoto, surrounded by the urban spaces of the city, in spring and fall the grounds of
Kyoto Gyoen are a key haven for migratory birds. The gardens are a place to breed in summer and certain species of

arboreal birds also spend the winter here. Over 100 species of birds have been spotted in the garden, of which 21

breed here.

Brown hawk-owl (ninox scutulata)

Dusky thrush (turdus eunomus)

Daurian redstart (phoenicurus auroreus)

Common kingfisher (alcedo atthis)

Northern goshawk (Accipiter gentilis)

Insects

The wooded areas, fields and ponds surrounding the Gyoen provide a fine environment for a wide variety of insects:

55 kinds of butterfly, 26 types of dragonfly and 8 kinds of cicadas have been confirmed to live here.

Molting cicada

Blue-tailed forest hawk (orthetrum triangulare melania)

Kempfer cicada (platypleura kaempferi)

Large brown cicada (graptopsaltria nigrofuscata)




Common bluebottle (graphium sarpedon)

Bear cicada (cryptotympana facialis)
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Birds

Insects
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No.31 Four Seasons and the Natural Environment of Kyoto Gyoen National Garden
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Four Seasons and the Natural Environment of Kyoto Gyoen National Garden

Common grass yellow (eurema hecabe)

Japanese tit (parus minor)

Old world swallowtail (papilio machaon)

Varied tit (parus varius)

Birdsong fills the garden in spring;

Japanese wagtail (motacilla grandis)

Long-tailed tit (acgithalos caudatus)

Gray heron (atdea cinerea)

Japanese white-eye (zosterops japonicus)

Four kinds of turtle

Wasp spider (Argiope amoena)

Siren butterfly (hestina persimilis japonica)

Forest Green Tree Frog ~ (Rhacophorus arboreus)




Wandering glider (pantala flavescens)

In summer, many kinds of frogs and dragonflies can be seen at the Dragonfly Pond.

Japanese pygmy woodpecker (dendrocopos kizuki)

Blue-tailed forest hawk (orthetrum triangulare melania)

Common bluetail (ischnura senegalensis)

Grey wagtail (motacilla cinerea)

Dragonfly (Sympetrum darwinianum)

Grasshopper (oxya yezoensis)

Grasshopper (atractomorpha lata)

Cricket (teleogryllus emma)

Blue-and-white flycatcher (cyanoptila cyanomelana)

In autumn, the gardens are home to locusts, grasshoppers (caclifera) and crickets; the air resounds with their beautiful

sounds.

Japanese green woodpecker (picus awokera)

Olive-backed pipit (anthus hodgsoni)

Blue admiral (kaniska canace)

Red-flanked bluetail (tarsiger cyanurus)

Bull-headed shrike (lanius bucephalus)

Some say the cry of the scaly thrush (zoothera dauma) is the origin of the tales of the nue, the strange legendary animal

of Japanese folklore that is said to haunt the Kyoto Imperial Palace grounds. The song of this bird is a plaintive and




spooky “hi-hyo!”

Scaly thrush (zoothera dauma)

Notthern goshawk(Accipiter gentilis)

In the dead of winter, when there is little to eat in the mountains, goshawks and sparrow hawks can be observed in

Kyoto.

Mallard (anas platyrhynchos)

Common kingfisher (alcedo atthis)

White-bellied green pigeon (treron sieboldii)

Black-crowned night heron (nycticorax nycticorax)

Dusky thrush (turdus eunomus)

Brambling (fringilla montifringilla)

Japanese grosbeak (eophona personata)

Daurian redstart (phoenicurus auroreus)

Black-faced bunting (emberiza spodocephala)
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Four Seasons and Natural Environment of Kyoto Gyoen National Garden




343

No.32 “Gosho-sukashi” Pine-Trimming Tools <FREMEIZE. SEBRT>
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“Gosho-sukashi”Pine-Trimming Tools

Stately pine trees grace the broad lawns of Kyoto Gyoen. The ends of the branches are difficult to reach, so gardeners
use special tools to prune them, with sickle or saw blades mounted on the ends of bamboo poles that may extend as

much as 4 to 5 meters. This kind of pruning technique is unique to Kyoto Gyoen.

@ Used for lifting up an inserting a cut on the underside of the branch.

(2) Used for pulling the branch towards the cutter and cutting branches.

Long-shaft sickle
The long-shaft sickle is a pruning tool that is used only in Kyoto. It has a sharpened blade on both sides, so it can be
used for lifting up an inserting a cut on the underside of the branch, and then for pulling the branch towards the cutter

and cutting branches.

Long-shaft saw

Pruning saw

A variety of saws are used to cut large branches. The narrow tip of this pruning saw can fit into tight spaces.

The Kyoto Gyoen-style pruning technique has the aesthetic aim of retaining the natural shape of the tree. The main
principle of this style of pruning is to be so subtle that people scarcely notice that a tree has been trimmed. The changes
are so delicate that the only thing an untrained observer might notice is a small pile of fallen branches or leaves at the

base of the tree.
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“Gosyo-sukashi” pine-trimming Tools
These pictures are the scenes of trimming Pine trees. The trimming technique is called “Gosho-sukashi”. With this

trimming technique, the outfit of the pine tree can be remained.
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No.33 Historic Spots in Kyoto Gyoen National Garden <TREPHIE, TREPHT >
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Historic Spots in Kyoto Gyoen National Garden

Kyoto Imperial Palace (Shishin-den)

The first Imperial Palace to occupy this site was built on the occasion of the enthronement of Emperor Kogon (1313—
1364) in 1331. The Shishin-den is the most prestigious building in the palace complex. Many important ceremonies are
held within this hall. The current structure was built in 1855 and was based on previous constructions.

Open to the public and free of charge.

Guides are available free of charge in English and Chinese.

Omiya Imperial Palace
The Omiya Imperial Palace was built as the residence of Tofuku-monin (Tokugawa Masako (1607-1678), wife of
retired Emperor Go-Mizunoo (1596—1680). Today, it is where members of the Imperial Family stay when they come

to Kyoto.

Sento Imperial Palace

Sento Imperial Palace was built in 1630 as the residence for retited emperors. Its first occupant was Emperor Go-

Mizunoo(1596-1680). The main building was destroyed by fire in 1854, but its teahouse and a magnificent garden

surrounding a large pond still remain.
Open to the public and free of charge.
Audio guides are available free of charge in English, Chinese, French, Korean and Spanish.

Kyoto State Guest House
Open to the public. Admission fee required.
Guided Tours provided in English; fee required.
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Historic Spots in Kyoto Gyoen National Garden

Kyoto Imperial Palace (Shi-shin-den)
Kyoto Imperial Palace was used by the emperor from 1331 (Kougon Emperor) to 1869 when the Meiji Emperor moved
to Tokyo Imperial Palace. Shi-shin-den is the highest main hall in the Imperial Palace, many important ceremonies were

held here. The buildings in the Imperial Palace were restored in the original style in 1855.

Omiya Imperial Palace
Omiya Imperial Palace was used for the Empress in the ancient time. Now it is used as the accommodation when the

Imperial family visit Kyoto.

Sento Impelial Palace
In the ancient time, Sento Imperial Palace was used by the retired Emperor.The original buildings were burned down

in 1854. Now a magnificent garden and a tearoom are there.
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No.1 Ikuno Kozanryo Bashamichi Remnants <{RoFGEE. TER>
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This path is part of the historical Silver Mine Carriage Road (the Ikuno Kozanryo Bashamichi, now known
as the Gin no Bashamichi) completed in 1876. The road was built to transport silver and other metals mined in the
mountains of northern Hyogo down to the Shikamatsu port in Himeji. Its designer, the French engineer Leon Sisley
(1847-1878), used the macadam style of road construction widespread in Europe at the time. As the first of its kind
in Japan, the Silver Mine Carriage Road is an example of industrialization during the Meiji Period (1868—1912).

Here, the segment of original road is roughly 100 meters long and curves around an Edo-period (1603—
1867) pond lined with cherry trees. Large stones used to support the sides of the road are visible along one edge. This

is the only part of the road that is preserved in its original state with all its layers intact.
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No.2 Ikuno Kozanryo Bashamichi Remnants <fRoFHEE. TER>
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A 100-meter stretch of the historical Silver Mine Carriage Road (the Ikuno Kozanryo Bashamichi, now
known as the Gin no Bashamichi) has been preserved in Kamikawa. Finished in 1876, this road was the first macadam-
style road built in Japan.. Curving around a pond lined with cherry trees, this section of road is remarkably preserved
and a part of the road was excavated in order to study its construction in 2016. The scenery is also largely unchanged

since the late nineteenth century.
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No.3 Ikuno Kozanryo Bashamichi Remnants <fRoFHEE. TER>
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A roughly 100-meter stretch of the historical Silver Mine Carriage Road (the Ikuno Kozanryo Bashamichi,
now known as the Gin no Bashamichi) can be found in the town of Kamikawa. Connecting the silver mines of
northern Hyogo Prefecture with the Shikamatsu port in Himeji, the road was designed by French engineer Leon Sisley
(1847-1878) and completed in 1876. It was the first of its kind in Japan, combining French road design pioneered by
Pierre-Marie-Jérome Trésaguet (1716-1796) with the macadam construction methods of Scotsman John Loudon
McAdam (1756-18306). Its completion anticipated the tide of Japanese industrialization that would continue throughout
the Meiji Period (1868-1912).

This section of the road curves around a pond lined with cherry trees, and the surrounding scenery has
changed little since its construction. Due to its excellent preservation, a portion of this stretch was excavated in 2016

to shed light on the road’s construction techniques.
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Completed in 1876, the 49 km road was the first dedicated industrial road in Japan and offered a direct route between

Ikuno and Himeji. The road is more commonly known as “Gin no Bashamichi”
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No.4 Former Site of the Shikamatsu Whatf <IROEEHEE. Z=EE>
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This area, now a part of Himeji Port, was once known as the Shikamatsu Loading Wharf (Shikamatsu
Monoageba). 1t was the termination point of the Silver Mine Carriage Road (the Ikuno Kozanryo Bashamichi, now
known as the Gin no Bashamichi), which allowed the transport of silver and other materials from the mines in northern
Hyogo to factories along the Seto Inland Sea. The road and wharf improved the speed and safety of this transport,
and their construction was one of the Meiji government’s earliest projects during the country’s rapid industrialization
in the Meijt Period (1868-1912). French engineer Leon Sisley (1847—1878) designed both the forty-nine-kilometer road
and the Shikamatsu Loading Wharf. Construction began in 1873 and finished in 1876.

By 1894, Japan’s infrastructure had developed to the point that ore from the northern mines could be
transported by rail, and the Shikamatsu Loading Wharf was no longer needed. Asada Chemical Industry bought it from
the government, and now uses it as a factory. All that remains today of the original wharf are a few parts of the walls

that make up the brick storage buildings.
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No.5 Monument to the Completion of the Gin no Bashamichi <fRoFHEE. TER>
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This stone monument celebrates the completion of the Silver Mine Carriage Road (the Ikuno Kozanryo
Bashamichi, now known as the Gin no Bashamichi) in 1876. The road connected the mines of northern Hyogo to the
Shikamatsu Loading Wharf (now part of Himeji Port). It took Asakura Moriaki (1843—1925), a member of the 1865
Satsuma delegation, and French engineer Leon Sisley (1847-1878) three years to complete. One challenging aspect was
the bridges—more than twenty for a forty-nine49-kilometer road. Of these, most difficult was the Yabutabashi Bridge,
renamed the Ikunobashi Bridge when construction was finished. This monument was erected nearby to commemorate

the greatest hurdle of the new road’s completion.
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No.6 The Miki Residence <IROEEHEE. Z=EE>
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The Miki residence was both the home and seat of government for a family of prominent officials in
Fukusaki. While the compound’s earliest structures date from 1697, building continued in stages. In 1874, construction
of the new Silver Mine Carriage Road (the Ikuno Kozanryo Bashamichi, now known as the Gin no Bashamichi) pushed
the home’s front property line back by 1.8 meters, necessitating a new front gate and southern wall.

In 1885, the residence hosted a young Yanagida Kunio (1875-1962), a scholar who became the “father of
Japanese folklore studies.” Only eleven at the time, he made extensive use of the Miki library—an experience that had
a significant impact on his future pursuits.

In 1972, the Miki residence was designated an Important Cultural Property of Hyogo Prefecture. Substantial
renovations from 2010 to 2016 restored the front offices and living spaces, reusing as much of the original material as

possible.
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The Miki residence was home to the Miki family, prominent local officials who took up residence in Fukusaki
in 1655. Construction of their home began in 1697 and continued in stages through the early Meiji Period (1868-1912).
In 1874 their property line was moved 1.8 meters back to make way for the new Silver Mine Carriage Road (the Ikuno
Kozanryo Bashamichi, now known as the Gin no Bashamichi).

Known for their tradition of scholarship, the Miki family were ideal hosts for a young Yanagida Kunio (1875—
1962), who spent a year in the home reading their collection of books. This experience helped inspire his future pursuits
as the “father of Japanese folklore studies.”

In 1972, the Miki residence was designated an Important Prefectural Cultural Property, and in 2010 the
eleventh-generation head of the Miki family donated it to the town of Fukusaki. Renovations began on its main
building and were completed in 2016. It is now one of the best-preserved Edo-period (1603—1867) houses in the

prefecture.
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This townhouse belonged to the village official in control of Tsujikawa Town. The building itself was built

sometime in the mid to late Edo Period (1603—1867), and a portion of the land around the residence was offered up

to make way for construction of Gin no Bashamichi, which would pass through the center of the town.
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The Miki residence was home to local officials who arrived in Fukusaki in 1655. While the compound’s
earliest structures date from 1697, construction continued in stages over the next two centuries. In 1874, the main gate
and southern wall were relocated to accommodate construction of the new Silver Mine Carriage Road (the Ikuno
Kozanryo Bashamichi, now known as the Gin no Bashamichi).

The home was built with various security features: wooden locks on the sliding doors, low ceilings to hamper
the swinging of swords, and many peepholes for guards to keep watch during tense meetings. In 1871, locals protesting
Meiji policy changes attacked the home, and cuts in the wood can still be seen in the Kami no Ma meeting room.

In 1972, the Miki residence was designated an Important Cultural Property of Hyogo Prefecture. Between 2010 and
2016, extensive renovation efforts restored its front offices and living spaces, reusing as much of the original material

as possible.
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Tsujikawa-machi is the birthplace of Yanagita Kunio (1875-1962), a famous Japanese scholar and folklorist.
His childhood home is now owned by the city of Fukusaki and is open to the public.

In his study of regional lore, Yanagita showed particular interest in tales involving yokas, or supernatural
creatures. Accordingly, the nearby Tsujikawa-yama Park has numerous joka: statues and two moving yoka: attractions.
Every fifteen minutes a trio of river monsters (Rappa) tise out of the pond; a few minutes later, a winged Zengu flies out

of a small tower. Signs located around the park explain the statues and even include stories characterizing the particular

_yokai that reside there.
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Tsujikawa is a post town along Gin no Bashamichi. The town was located at the intersection of the East-West and

South-North routes, and became a relay point to transport goods along the horse-drawn carriage way.
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Records document silver mining in northern Hyogo Prefecture a thousand years ago, and some sources make
it as early as 807 CE. The town of Yakatamachi prospered as a post town for travelers journeying between the northern
mines and the port of Himeji as far back as the 1600s. During the Edo Period (1603—1867), the town was controlled
by the shogunate, Japan’s military government. Silver from the mines was transported mainly on foot, its carriers
guarded by samurai. Because of the silver’s importance, government officials often visited the town to check its security.
In 1876, a project was launched by the new Meiji government to modernize the Ikuno mine and the road that connected
it to the Shikama-tsu warf in Himeji. They built the Silver Mine Carriage Road (the Ikuno Kozanryo Bashamichi, now
known as the Gin no Bashamichi) , a macadam road that made possible the transport of silver by horse-drawn carriage.

At its peak, Yakatamachi had eight inns: two for government officials (ggyoyado) and six for commoners
(zppanyado). 1t also had seven sellers of alcohol, four money-lenders, and a variety of other shops selling daily goods.
None of the buildings from its days as a post town remain today, but visitors can still follow the course of the old road

through town.
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Yakatamachi served as an important post town for traffic between the northern mines and the port of
Himeji. When the Silver Mine Carriage Road (the Ikuno Kozanryo Bashamichi, now known as the Gin no Bashamichi)
was constructed in 1876, Yakatamachi was a major rest stop. Although none of its historic buildings remain today, the

town’s streets are a Japan Heritage Site.
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Yakatamachi was an important post town for travelers on the road between the mines in northern Hyogo
and the port of Himeji. During the Edo Period (1603-1867), silver from the mines was transported mainly on foot.
Because of the silver’s importance as a source of government revenue, officials often visited Yakatamachi to verify its
security. After the 1868 Meiji restoration, the new Meiji government wanted to modernize the country as quickly as
possible. Japanese and French engineers were tasked with building a modern road that would allow horse-drawn
carriages to transport the silver south. In 1876 the Silver Mine Carriage Road (the Ikuno Kozanryo Bashamichi, now
known as the Gin no Bashamichi) was completed.

As the most prosperous post town along the road, Yakatamachi at its peak had eight inns, seven shops selling
alcohol, four money-lenders, and a variety of other stores selling daily goods. Although none of the buildings from its

days as a post town remain today, visitors can still travel the route of the old road.
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Yakata is a post town along Gin no Bashamichi. Although the original plans did not include the town being part of

Gin no Bashamichi, the villagers submitted a petition to have Yakata—which served as a lodging town since the Edo

Era—included in the direct path of the carriage road.
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Nakamura and Awagamachi were post towns on the road that connected the northern mines to the Himeji
port. At their peak, there were over forty shops in the combined towns. Two buildings dating from the Edo Period
(1603-1867) still stand today: the Takeuchi residence, home to a wealthy merchant, and the Nambashuzo sake brewery.
When the Silver Mine Carriage Road (the Ikuno Kozanryo Bashamichi, now known as the Gin no Bashamichi) was
built in 1876, Nakamura and Awagamachi remained an important post town along the way. In 1894, the Bantan train
line was built to transport silver from Ikuno mine, and for travel between the interior of Hyogo Prefecture and Himeji.
Travelers would take horse-drawn carriages from Tsurui train station and change carriages at horse station (##zaya) in

Awagamachi.
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Nakamura and Awagamachi was a post town for Edo- (1603—1867) and Meiji-period (1868-1912) travelers
on the road between the northern mining towns and the port at Himeji. At their peak, Nakamura and Awagamachi
contained over forty shops. Completion of the improved Silver Mine Carriage Road (the Ikuno Kozanryo Bashamichi,
now known as the Gin no Bashamichi) in 1876 increased the ease and speed of travel through the area.

Today, two buildings remain from the Edo Period: the Takeuchi residence and the former Nambashuzo sake
brewery. Wooden panels reminiscent of the Edo Period cover the Carriage Road community center, and the town’s
garbage drop-off location has been disguised as an old storehouse. Another place of historical interest is the Awaga
horse station (#maya), where travelers from the Bantan train line would change horse-drawn carriages.

The area produces several types of green tea, including sexreicha, hojicha, and konacha. In May, visitors can pick

tea leaves in the local tea fields, then return to town and fry them in tempura batter for a tasty snack.
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The post town of Nakamura and Awagamachi served as a rest stop along the route leading from the northern
mines to the port in Himeji. Holding over forty shops at its height, Nakamura and Awagamachi was one of the route’s
largest post towns. Travel through the area was improved in the early Meiji Period (18687—1912) with the completion
of the Silver Mine Carriage Road (the Ikuno Kozanryo Bashamichi, now known as the Gin no Bashamichi) in 1876.
Today, two buildings remain from the Edo Period (1603-1867): the Takeuchi residence and the former
Nambashuzo sake brewery. A visitor’s center occupies a renovated home beside the former Awaga horse station (##aya),

where travelers from the Bantan train line would change horse-drawn carriages.
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Awagamachi is a lodging town along Gin no Bashamichi. As a gateway to Ikuno, Awagamachi played a large role as the

starting point for necessary supplies being sent to the mine.
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The Takeuchi family were merchants who built their home in Awagamachi at the end of the Edo Period
(1603-1867). They traded in various things, including tea, soy sauce, and sake, which they produced themselves. As
wholesalers of the local variety of green tea known as senreicha, they earned acclaim as far away as Kyoto.

As was common for merchants at the time, the Takeuchi family used the front rooms of their house as a
storefront. Behind the home were four store houses, but today only one survives. A Buddhist altar stands in the center

of the house.
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The Takeuchi Residence is one of two buildings in Awagamachi that survive from the Edo Period (1603—
1867). The Takeuchi family were successful merchants andtown leaders. The front rooms of the home were used as a
storefront to sell goods, including tea, soy sauce, and sake.. In the back of the home, four store-houses once stood to
keep their products although now only one survives. They sold a unique type of tea known as senreicha. Even today, the

area continues to produce senreicha green tea as a local specialty.
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The Takeuchi family was a wealthy merchant family that built their home in Awagamachi at the end of the
Edo Period (1603—1867). They were also the heads of the town. The residence is one of only two buildings in the town
that survive from the Edo Period (1603—1867). The front rooms of the home were used as a storefront to sell goods,
including tea, soy sauce, and sake. Senreicha green tea was their specialty, and they even sent it to a temple in Kyoto
where it became quite popular. In the back of the home were four store houses for their goods, but today only one
survives. A room for the venerationthat served as a shrine Buddha sits in the middle of the house, as was customary

for homes in the Edo Period (1603—1867).
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This residence once flourished as the base of “Takeuchi-ke” tea wholesalers in Awaga. Japanese tea was in high demand

in Ikuno, and “senteicha” produced and sold by “Takeuchi-ke” tea wholesalers became widely known as a high-quality

tea.
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Rumor places the start of mining at Ikuno in the year 807 and written records confirm that the Ikuno mine
has existed for over 1,000 years. It ranked among the top five silver mines in the country, and in 1868 the Meijt
government chose it for the implementation of modern industrial techniques, like the use of dynamite. Several French
engineers, including the mine expert Jean Francisque Coignet (1835—1902), were hired to modernize the mine. Another
Frenchman, Leon Sisley (1847-1878) designed a new macadam road to replace the existing path between the mine and
the port in Himeji. The Silver Mine Carriage Road (the Ikuno Kozanryo Bashamichi, now known as the Gin no
Bashamichi) was completed in 1876 and allowed much faster transport of ore by horse-drawn carriage. Asakura Moriaki
(1843-1924), acted as a translator for the French engineers and later became the mine’s first director.

In 1896, the government sold the Ikuno mine to the Mitsubishi company, which continued operations there
until 1973. The following year, one level of the mine was renovated for visitors. The exhibit includes mining tools and
numerous mannequin workers, affectionately referred to as the “Ginzan Boys.” Outside, there is an information center

and a smaller building that explains the smelting process as it was performed in the Edo Period (1603-1867).
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When in operation, the Ikuno silver mine was one of Japan’s top five silver producing mines. In 1868, it was
also the first mine chosen by the Meiji government to undergo modernization with the help of French engineers. As
the starting point of the Silver Mine Carriage Road (the Ikuno Kozanryo Bashamichi, now known as the Gin no
Bashamichi), completed in 1876 and running south to ports of Himeji, Ikuno represented Japan’s march toward
industrialization.
The Ikuno mine was shut down in 1973 after more than 1,200 years of operation. Soon after, exhibits were set up in
the old tunnels to teach visitors about the mine’s history and mining techniques in different eras. Outside the mine

entrance is an information center and another building displaying the Edo-period (1603—1867) smelting process.
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After becoming a government-run mine directly under the control of the Meiji government in 1868, Tkuno became
the first modern mine in Japan adopting the latest technologies. Designated as the terminus of Gin no Bashamichi, this
area still has various historical locations related to the modernization of Japan scattered throughout, including smelting

plants built in the Meiji Period and still used today.
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The Ikuno mining town spans a roughly seven-kilometer stretch along the Ichikawa River. Once, a railway
ran from the mine along the river into town, but today only portions of the old track remain. Some can still be seen on
Himemiyabashi Bridge, which overlooks the river and offers a good view of town. At Ikuno’s highest point stands the
old smelting factory, built in 1874 and still actively smelting tin. The town center, known as Kuchiganaya, is a collection
of homes and buildings from many different eras, some dating as far back as the Edo Period (1603—1867). Four of
these old homes are open to visitors free of charge. One, known as Izutsuya, was home to the Kikawa family, who
headed the Ikuno mine during the Edo Period (1603-1867). The home was donated in 1999 to the town and displays
interesting artifacts from the town’s history. The Shimura Takashi Museum contains homes built by the Mitsubishi
mining company for its workers. These homes span the Meiji (1868—1912), Taisho (1913-1926), and Showa periods

(1926-1989), and even contain furniture and appliances from those time periods.
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The Ikuno mining town stretches about seven kilometers along the Ichikawa River. From the Himemiyabashi
Bridge visitors can look across the river at an assortment of homes and buildings from different eras, some dating to
the Edo Period (1603—1867). Four of the oldest homes have been renovated and are open to visitors free of charge.
The Shimura Takashi Museum preserves homes built for Mitsubishi company workers from the Meiji (1868-1912),
Taisho (1913-19206), and Showa periods (1926—1989). A local specialty is “hayashi rice,” a dish similar to beef stew
served with rice. Its heavy Western influence dates from the time when French engineers were living and working at

the Ikuno mine.
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This area was a mining town where mining officers and merchants as well as miners lived. Built with roofs adorned
with red ITkuno tiles, and with foundation and walls made from karami-ishi (slag stones, ore smelting byproducts), these

buildings create a unique townscape.
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No. 23 Mikobata and Habuchi Cast-Iron Bridges <fRoFHEE. TER>
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The Mikobata and Habuchi bridges were begun in 1883 as part of the Ore Road (Kosek: no Michi), and
completed in 1885 and 1887, respectively. The Ore Road, connecting the mining towns of Akenobe, Mikobata, and
Ikuno to the Silver Mine Carriage Road (the Ikuno Kozanryo Bashamichi, now known as the Gin no Bashamichi), was
the principal route by which silver and other ores were transported south to Himeji. Because bridges along the Ore
Road were expected to see heavy traffic from the towns’ newly expanded mining operations, cast -iron was chosen as
the most durable material for their construction.

The Mikobata Bridge is Japan’s oldest cast-iron bridge, and the third-oldest iron bridge in Japan. The bridges
were designed by the same office in France as the Eiffel Tower, and the casting was done in Yokosuka City. The parts
were then brought up the Silver Mine Carriage Road and assembled on-site.

Originally, both the Mikobata Bridge and Habuchi Bridge spanned the Maruyamakawa River. However, in 1995 the
riverbed was widened for flood prevention, and the Habuchi Bridge was relocated. The Mikobata Bridge remains in its

original location, and in 1977 was designated a National Heritage Site.
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No.24 Mikobata and Habuchi Cast-Iron Bridges <fRoFHEE. TER>
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The Mikobata and Habuchi bridges were completed in 1885 and 1887, respectively. Built as part of the Ore
Road (Koseki no Michi) that connected the Akenobe, Mikobata, and Ikuno mining towns to the Silver Mine Carriage
Road (the Ikuno Kozanryo Bashamichi, now known as the Gin no Bashamichi), they were made of cast iron to support
heavy traffic between the mines and the southern port of Himeji. The Mikobata Bridge, first along the route, is the
oldest cast-iron bridge and third-oldest iron bridge in Japan. Originally there were five bridges along the Ore Road, but
only the Mikobata and Habuchi bridges remain.

In 1995 the riverbed was widened to prevent flooding, and the Habuchi Bridge was moved. The Mikobata

Bridge, however, is still in its original location and in 1977 became a National Heritage Site.
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These iron bridges were created along Koseki no Michi (the Ore Road) connecting Ikuno and the Mikobata Mine.
Mikobata Cast Iron Bridge is the oldest all-cast-iron bridge in Japan. With its dual-arch construction, the Habuchi Cast

Iron Bridge has a different appearance from the Mikobata Cast Iron Bridge.
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No.25 Former Mikobata Processing Plant <fRoFHEE. TER>
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TEHNOIERFERRE
Silver mining at Mikobata began over a 1,000 years ago. By the fifteenth century, Mikobata had joined

Akenobe and Ikuno as one of the most productive mines in the region. Its most prosperous decades were during the
early Meiji Period (1868-1912), from the late 1870s to the mid-1890s. In 1896 the mine was sold to the Mitsubishi
Company, but by 1907 its silver and copper were mostly exhausted. In 1919 Mitsubishi transformed the site into one
of East Asia’s largest ore processing plants. Raw ore containing zinc, coppet, and tin was shipped by rail through the
mountain from Akenobe, where new veins had been discovered.

The Mikobata processing plant was built on a steep slope. Ore was delivered to the top, where it was crushed
and mixed with water to form slurry. As the slurry continued downbhill, it was separated using a variety of physical and
chemical processes. At the bottom of the hill, waste water was removed, leaving the minerals behind. The water was
then fed into huge cement funnels known as thickeners. These condensed the waste water into a thick sludge.

The plant closed in 1987 and was partially demolished in 2004, leaving only the concrete foundations and thickeners.
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No.26 Former Mikobata Processing Plant <fRoFHEE. TER>
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Mining at Mikobata has a history spanning over a 1,000 years. Along with the nearby mines in Akenobe and
Ikuno, Mikobata produced silver and copper for centuries, reaching peak production during the last part of the
nineteenth century. In 1919, with its ores exhausted, Mikobata was converted into an ore processing plant that became
one of the largest in East Asia.

Raw ore from Akenobe was delivered by rail to the Mikobata plant, where it underwent a variety of physical
and chemical separation techniques to concentrate the desired minerals in powder form. Once isolated, the powdered
coppet, zinc, and tin were shipped elsewhere for smelting;

The processing plant closed in 1987. Some of it was demolished in 2004, but the concrete foundations and

“thickeners,” huge cement funnels that condensed waste water, still stand.

ERARS X DIRER (HAEER)

PG 1,000 S ECHIZEEN DD, EICiHDBAIEC EFFOIRLLE FTHRF AR BDH
IRUAEEELTHD, 19 it KEICREOEERICELEUR, 1919 F, HiAEIREN, MFMEET
ST TRAFIRO—DIICRIER LIHZICEISNT,

BAEENSORSLE, FIBETHFMTISETIEGRN, TCTIEITAMIEN, (LEN DB TRIIENEEN
B EMFARCEN D, L\ DIEADBEENDE, MFRIROIR, i, #HIIAFERI Do Dizrrlcifmans.
FEIR T I5(E 1987 F(CEEU. T0—EB(E 2004 FICFRAINN, ID9)- M EEFKE RS 2E
ARULTTHRNEMERE | (FFTFEO TS,

RSB ZELIRIDRFEMRER X
Although once a mine itself, the Former Mikobata Mine became a processing center for ore mined at the Akenobe

Mine in 1917. The slope of the hillside was utilized in the center’s assembly-line operations.
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No.27 Former Mikobata Mine Office (old Mouchet house) <{RoFGEE. TER>
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This residence was built in 1872 in Ikuno for the French geologist and engineer Emile ThéophileEmile
Theophile Mouchet (1845-95). Designed by French architect M. J. Lescasse (dates unkown) in the French Colonial
style, it housed Mouchet, his wife, and five children while he worked as the second-in-command at Ikuno mine. After
his return to France, the house was moved in 1887 to Mikobata, where it was used as an administrative office by
Ministry of Finance officials. The following year, its use was transferred to the Department of the Imperial Household;
chrysanthemum rooftiles, symbolic of the emperor, still adorn its roof.

In 2004, after the closure of the Mikobata ore processing plant, the Mouchet house became a museum. Its
exhibits include pictures of the old plant, samples of ore and minerals, and dioramas that depict the ore-dressing
process. There is also a video showing the factory just before its closure in 1987.

While the building has seen some renovations, it remains largely as it was when first built. The original windows and
shutters are intact, and it is painted to match its initial appearance. In 1992, the Mouchet house was designated a cultural

heritage site of Hyogo Prefecture.
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No.28 The Former Mikobata Mine Office (old Mouchet house) <fRoFHEE. TER>

(M) IBEHFMEILLSHS (L-TIRE)
(BT ERAK] WEB YAk

http://wadachi73.jp/en/spot/13

TEHNOILREERRER X

The Mouchet house was first built in Ikuno in 1872 for the French engineer and geologist Emile Théophile
Mouchet (1845-1895). Tasked with helping to mechanize and modernize the Ikuno mine, Mouchet and his family
returned to France once the improvements were complete. In 1887 the Mouchet house was relocated to Mikobata for
use as an administrative office. Changing hands several times, the building saw continued use until the closure of the
Mikobata ore processing plant in 1987.

In 2004, the Mouchet house underwent renovations to restore its historical appearance, then opened as a
museum. Its exhibits include photographs, dioramas, ore samples, and video footage that depict the history and

operations of the Mikobata mine and processing plant.
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Built as the residence of foreign engineers, the Old Mouchet House was eventually relocated to the Mikobata for use

as an office.
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The Akenobe Mine Meishin Train was a six-kilometer electric railway built in 1929 to carry ore from Akenobe
through the mountain tunnel to Mikobata’s ore processing plant. In addition to freight cars, the railway also operated
passenger cars for the convenience of the mine workers and others commuting between the two towns. The passenger
cars cost just one yen to ride, so the train became known as the One-Yen Train (ichi-en densha). 1t operated from 1945
until 1985. Three of the passenger cars remain on display near the Akenobe mine, and one has even been restored for

visitor rides on a newly constructed 70-meter section of track.
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Meishin Train was used to transport ore between Akenobe Mine and the Mikobata processing center (Former Mikobata
Mine). The operation of the train began in 1945 as a passenger train and became popular under the name “One-Yen

Train” derived from the train fare (1 yen).
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Built in 1929, the Akenobe Mine Meishin Train was a six-kilometer electric railway that carried ore from the
mine in Akenobe to the processing plant in Mikobata. In 1945 the mine added passenger cars designed to fit on the
narrow-gauge railway, allowing employees to travel between the towns. In 1949 this service was extended to the general
public, and it became a convenient commuter route. The train cost just one yen to ride, so it was known as the One-
Yen Train (ichi-en densha). Passenger trains ran daily until 1985, two years before the Meishin Train ceased operation and
the Akenobe mine closed.

Three of the passenger cars remain on display in Akenobe. They are called “Silver” (Shirggane), “Copper”
(Akagane), and “Iron” (Kurggane). In 2010, a nationwide fundraising campaign and the work of volunteers created a 70-

meter track for the “Iron” train to carry visitors. It operates once a month from April to November.
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No.31 Akenobe Mine Ruins and Mining Town <fRoFHEE. TER>
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Operations at the Akenobe mine began around the ninth century. Various metals have been discovered, but
copper and tin were the most plentiful. Tradition holds that Akenobe even contributed some of the copper used in
Nara’s famous Buddha at the temple of Todaiji.

Under government control during the Edo (1603-18678) and early Meiji Period (18687—-1912), the Akenobe
mine was sold to the Mitsubishi Company in 1896. It closed in 1987, and all tunnels below the third level were flooded.
The upper levels, however, were preserved for educational purposes. Accessible by guided tour, these areas are in nearly
the same condition they were when the mine was in operation. Minecart tracks and heavy mining machinery are also

on display.
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Tin, silver, and copper were all dug at the mine. Even now, though digging is not performed any more, these tunnels
remains at the site. Located at the foot of the mine, the historic townscape includes miner and mining family residences,

hot springs, and theaters, all still retaining the atmosphere brought about by the miners and people who lived there so

long ago.
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No. 32 Akenobe Mine Ruins and Mining Town <fRoFHEE. TER>
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The Akenobe mine was in operation from around the ninth century until its closure in 1987. Copper and tin
were its most plentiful ores, and at one point, Akenobe supplied 90 percent% of Japan’s tin. Even today the mine has
visible veins of ore, but by the 1980s it proved less expensive to import ore than to mine it.
When the mine closed, it had eighteen levels with a total of 550 kilometers of tunnels. Although its lower tunnels were
purposely flooded, the upper part of the mine has been preserved for guided tours.
The mine stays around 11 degrees Celsius year-round, making it ideal for the aging of soy sauce and sake. Sanyohai, a

local sake brewery, uses local rice and water to make a special sake called Senzakura, which is then aged in the mine.
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No.33 Nakaze Mine Ruins and Mining Town <fRoFHEE. TER>
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In 1573, gold was discovered in the Yagigawa River which runs through Nakaze. A mine was opened soon
after, and it became such an important source of income for the government that the mining community was as heavily
guarded as a castle town. The discovery of antimony followed, and by the mid-twentieth century Nakaze mine became
Japan’s largest source of antimony ore. The mine closed in 1969, but antimony refining continued. Today, 70 percent
of all domestic antimony products are still produced in Nakaze. The old mine is not open for tours, but the Nakaze

visitor center offers guided tours of the town.
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Nakaze Mine was the largest gold mine in Western Japan. Along with Ikuno Silver Mine, the mine became a publicly
owned mine in the Meiji Period. Factories related to the mine ate still in operation today, and areas of the townscape

related to the mine ruins can still be found today.
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Gold was first discovered in Nakaze’s Yagigawa River in 1573. A mine soon followed, and by 1633, the town
had swollen to around 3,000 homes and eight temples. Nakaze became such an important source of income for the
government that it was as heavily guarded as a castle town, with three gates controlling traffic in and out. Antimony
was later discovered, and Nakaze mine eventually became Japan’s largest source of antimony ore.

By 1969 it had become cheaper to import raw ore than to continue mining it, and the mine closed. Nakaze’s
population dropped quickly; while five of the eight Edo-period (1603—1867) temples remain, there are only eighty-
twoabout 82 occupied homes. Antimony refinement continued, however, and today 70 percent of all domestic
antimony products are still made in Nakaze.

Some beautiful examples of minerals taken from the Nakaze mine are on display at the visitor center. One of
the most stunning pieces found, 626 grams of native gold fused with quartz, is exhibited at the Smithsonian Museum

in Washington D.C.
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No.1 Honden, Main Shrine, Kasuga Taisha Shrine <H=R. HRE>
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Honden, Main Shrine

Kasuga Taisha Shrine and the sacred Mt. Mikasa have been important religious sites since the shrine’s foundation in
the middle of the Nara period (710-784). The shrine continues its role as an important and active Shinto place of

worship. Approximately 2,200 festivals, rites, and ceremonies are conducted at the shrine each year.

Within the main shrine complex, the most important area is the sacred ground surrounded by a corridor, with a large
central gate, which is situated on the high ground toward the back of the compound. Behind the central gate are four
Shinto shrines, one for each of the four principal deities enshrined at Kasuga Taisha Shrine. In front of the four shrines
is the Oro, which is used today for rituals and as a place for people pray to the four kami deities. The sacred space
surrounding the four main shrines has been used for Shinto rites since ancient times. The Oro was used for Buddhist

rites until the Meiji period (1868—1912), when the government ordered the separation of Buddhism and Shinto.

The basic form of the shrine buildings has remained unchanged for over a thousand years, faithfully reconstructed
every twenty years in accordance with Shinto tradition. The replacement of the honden roof every twenty years using
cypress bark has special significance for the shrine and for the forests, since it takes time for cypress trees to regrow

their bark.

Sixty-one other kami are enshrined at Kasuga Taisha Shrine, and while some shrines are undecorated plain wood, most
of the shrine buildings are decorated in traditional Shinto orange and white. The vermillion used for the main four

main shrine buildings is used only at Kasuga Taisha Shrine.

The two-storied main gate (Nanmon) is the primary entrance to the shrine compound. The smaller Keigamon gate to
the left of the Nanmon is reserved for the exclusive use of the Fujiwara family, who commissioned the building of

Kasuga Taisha Shrine almost 1,250 years ago.

The main shrine was initially used only for the performance of sacred rituals and prayers for the peace of the nation.

However, beginning in the Edo period (1603-1867), it was opened to the public.
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National Treasure
Honden

Founded in 768

Honden is a main shrine which enshrines the deity of shintoism of Kasuga-Taisha. From the east front (on the
observers' right) Daiichiden, four approximately the same magnitude buildings ate standing in a row. These four
buildings are constructions of the architectural style called Kasuga-zukuri and these buildings are very famous for its

typical manner.

Although their buildings reconstruct every twenty yeats, they still convey their typical Heian Period (794-1191) form.
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Mt. Mikasa

Mt. Mikasa is located to the east of Kasuga Taisha Shrine and is also included in the UNESCO World Heritage Site

designation.

According to legend, Takemikazuchi no Mikoto, the god of thunder, came to Nara during the early Nara period (710—
784). In response to prayers for protection of the capital, he traveled from Kashima Jingu Shrine in Ibaraki Prefecture,

close to present-day Tokyo, riding a white deer.

Four deities are enshrined at Kasuga Taisha Shrine: Takemikazuchi no Mikoto, the god of thunder; Futsunushi no
Mikoto, the god of swords; Ame no Koyane no Mikoto, the god of wisdom; and the spouse of Ame no Koyane no
Mikoto, a goddess called Himegami. These kami were enshrined here when a shrine was built on this hillside in 768.

The building of the shrine allowed worshippers to pray to the kami without climbing to the top of the mountain.

Hunting and the cutting of trees have been prohibited on Mt. Mikasa since the Nara period. These restrictions allowed
the forest to flourish and have preserved one of Japan’s most beautiful primary forests. The forest includes such rare
species as the Hime Haru cicada. Mt. Mikasa is a very important source of water for Kasuga Taisha Shrine and Nara

City. Many of the streams flowing through Nara Park originate from the sacred Mt. Mikasa.
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No.3 Fujinami no Ya, Kasuga Taisha Shrine <RR.RE>
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Fujinami no Ya

This building was originally used by Shinto priests attending at the shrine. It now houses a display of bronze hanging

lanterns that are lit to recreate the atmosphere of Mandoro, the annual lantern festival held at Kasuga Taisha Shrine.

Until the end of the Edo period (1603—1867), all the approximately 3,000 stone lanterns and bronze hanging lanterns
were lit every night. This consumed around 280 liters of oil each evening. The enormous cost was funded by the

Tokugawa shogunate.

The 3,000 lanterns of Kasuga Taisha Shrine are now lit only twice a year, in February and August. People gather from

all around Japan to participate in these festivals and experience the exquisite beauty of the flickering lanterns.

The lanterns in the Fujinami no ya allow visitors to experience in miniature something of the atmosphere of the lantern

festivals.
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Wakamiya Shrine

Wakamiya Shrine is located to the right (east) of the main shrine complex of Kasuga Taisha Shrine. It was originally
constructed in 1135 and is dedicated to Ame no Oshikumone no Mikoto, the kami of water and purification. There
are fifteen other subsidiary shrines, each honoring a Shinto deity that offers protection against the various troubles

experienced in everyday life.

The Kasuga Wakamiya Onmatsuri is an important four-day festival held each year from December 15th through
December 18th in honor of the primary kami of Wakamiya Shrine. The festival, held since 1136, commences with

prayers for protection against famine and epidemics.

On the third day of the festival, at midnight, priests transport the kami from Wakamiya Shrine to a temporary shrine
outside the main shrine in an area known as Otabijo. This temporary shrine is constructed from pine wood and located

near the first torii gate of Kasuga Taisha Shrine.

Traditional arts and music are performed before the temporary shrine as offerings to the gods. Many of the

performances at the Onmatsuri are very rarely if ever to be seen elsewhere in Japan.

Shortly before midnight on the night of December 17th, the priests transport the kami back from Otabijo to Wakamiya

Shrine, where the deity returns to protecting Nara and its inhabitants.
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Wakamiya-jinja Honden Founded in 1135
Wakamiya-jinja Hainoya Founded in 1178

The deity of wakamiya has been enshrined at the present position since 1135. Only one day when the annual festival
Kasuga Wakamiya-onmatsuri (National Folk Cultural Asset) parade pay homage, The deity of wakamiya go across to
Otabisho.

An architectural structure, the same kind of Hainoya is depicted in "The Gongen-kenki of Kasuga-Taisha" (1309).
The back end of the roof shingled with the banl of Hinoki (Japanese cypress) is combined with roof of Kaguraden.
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The Man’yo Botanical Garden

The Man’yo Botanical Garden was established in 1932. It contains approximately 300 species of the plants mentioned

in the Man’yoshu, the oldest existing collection of Japanese poetry, which was compiled in the eighth century.

Noted scholar Sasaki Nobutsuna (1872—-1963), who specialized in Man yoshu studies, founded the garden and gathered

many of its plants.

Classical Japanese poems from the Marn’yoshu are displayed inside the garden alongside the plants that they mention,

allowing visitors to appreciate the various species in their historical and poetic contexts.

The Man’yo Botanical Garden is famous for its more than 200 wisteria trees in twenty different varieties. The flowers

bloom between late April and early May.
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Fuji, Wisteria

The beautiful pink and purple blooms of the fuji, or wisteria plant, appear in the spring. Fuji is native to Japan, and
features throughout the shrine. It is the crest of Kasuga Taisha Shrine and is used in the headdresses worn by shrine
maidens. Wisteria is the official crest of the Fujiwara clan, who established Kasuga Taisha Shrine and held important

posts in the imperial court in the Nara period (710-784).

Sunazuri no Fuji, the ancient wisteria growing on the grounds of Kasuga Taisha Shrine, is more than seven centuries
old. Its name means “the wisteria with flowers drooping down to reach the sand” because its pendant clusters of
flowers often measure more than one meter in length. This wisteria is depicted in the Kasuga Gongen Genki, a picture

scroll that was donated to Kasuga Taisha Shrine in 1309.
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Stone Lanterns

Kasuga Taisha has the largest and best-preserved collection of stone lanterns anywhere in Japan. Approximately 2,000

stone lanterns line the approach to Kasuga Taisha Shrine.

The oldest lanterns date to the Heian period (794—1185) and are located on the path from the main shrine to Wakamiya
Shrine. The lanterns were donated over the centuries by wealthy aristocrats, monks, and members of the wartior class,

who could afford to give lanterns to Kasuga Taisha Shrine.

At the start of the Edo period (1603—1867), wealthy merchants began donating lanterns too, and toward the end of
that period, common people grouped together to donate a lantern. One famous lantern, located on the right side of

the second torii gate, was donated by 800 people.

Until the Edo period, all of the lanterns at Kasuga Taisha Shrine were lit each evening, consuming 280 liters of oil per
night. Currently, the approximately 2,000 stone lanterns that line the paths of Kasuga Taisha Shrine are all lit only twice

a year, in February and in August.
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The Baba Horse Racing Course

The horse racing course runs along the approach to the main shrine compound of Kasuga Taisha Shrine. Traditionally
held during festivals to honor the deities, each competition consisted of three races with two horses, always running

from west to east, towards sacred Mt. Mikasa.

The original racing course measured 500 meters in length and began at the bridge just east of the first torii gate. The
traditional races held during festivals ended at the bridge near the entrance to the Man’yo Botanical Garden, where the

approach road curves from side to side toward the main shrine compound of Kasuga Taisha Shrine.

Although traditional racing ceased temporarily at the end of the Edo period (1603-1867), horse races are currently run

along this path each year on December 17th and are a central part of the Kasuga Wakamiya Onmatsuri Festival.
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Komainu Guardian Statues

The pair of stone komainu statues that stand near the second torii gate protects the grounds of the shrine from evil
spitits. Komainu came to Japan from China with the introduction of Buddhism.

Typically, the statue on the right, considered a guardian lion, has its mouth open, as if pronouncing “a,” the first syllable
of the Sanskrit alphabet. The statue on the left, considered a watchdog, is typically carved with a closed mouth, as if
pronouncing “um,” the final syllable of the Sanskrit alphabet. Together, these two syllables form the sacred Sanskrit

word “aum,” meaning the beginning and the end.

This “aum” feature can be seen at temples across Japan, including in the statues of two fierce warriors, or Nio, that are

found in Niomon, Nio gates.
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Honja Osugi Giant Cedar Tree

This large sacred cedar is believed to be between 800 and 1,000 years old. It is also believed to be the same tree as that

depicted as a small sapling in the Kasuga Gongen Genki, a famous picture scroll donated to Kasuga Taisha Shrine in 1309.

The ancient cedar measures over 23 m in height and is almost 8 m in girth. The hemp rope tied around the trunk wards

off evil and indicates that the tree is sacred.

A second, smaller tree, called the Shinpaku or Ibuki, grows from the base of the great cedar. It protrudes through the

roof of the nearby Naoraiden Hall. The Naoraiden is used by the imperial envoy during the Kasuga festival every year.

Since the great cedar is sacred to Kasuga Taisha, nothing is allowed to restrict or impede its growth. When the tree

started to grow in the direction of the Naoraiden, a hole was cut into the roof to accommodate the tree.
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Honsha-6sugi (Cryptomeria japonica)
Height 23.0m Circumference 7.94m

This Japanese cedar is estimated to be over 1000 years old and it is depicted in a picture scroll “The Gongen-kenki of

Kasuga-Taisha (1309).

A tree expand from root of Japanese cedar to west side through the roof of Naoraiden is Chinese juniper.
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Ukimido Pavilion

This hexagonal wooden pavilion seems to float on the waters of the Sagiike Pond in Nara Park. The Ukimido was
constructed in 1916, and its cypress bark roof especially makes it an excellent example of traditional Japanese

architecture.

Visitors can cross the wooden bridge to the Ukimido to enjoy the views in every season of the year. The pavilion and
Sagiike Pond are famous as a cherry blossom viewing spot in the spring. During the cherry blossom season, the Ukimido

is lit up in the evenings.

In autumn, the pavilion offers spectacular views of the colorful foliage in Nara Park, while in winter the snow-capped

sacred mountain rising behind Kasuga Taisha Shrine is reflected in the pond.
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Fuseshika no Temizusho Purification Fountain

This fountain is used for ritual purification before praying to the gods of Kasuga Taisha Shrine. The water comes from

the Mizuya River, which originates on the sacred Mt. Mikasa.

Similar fountains can be found at the entrances to shrines throughout Japan and are an important part of Shinto
worship. Visitors purify themselves by rinsing their hands and mouths at these fountains as preparation for offering a
prayer and to show respect for the deities enshrined there. Shinto worship places special emphasis on purity, cleanliness,

and renewal.

The running water used in the fountain is believed to be purer than stagnant water. Dippers are used to scoop up the
water so people’s hands do not enter the fountain. Many purification fountains in shrines and temples have statues of
dragons, which are associated with water in Japan. However, at this fountain the water flows from the mouth of one

of the sacred Kasuga Taisha deer, which is holding a scroll in its mouth.
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Chakutoden Arrival Hall

This Arrival Hall is used to welcome the imperial envoy at the beginning of the Kasuga Festival, which is held in March.
The festival is held to pray for the peace of the Japanese nation and its people, and special ancient rites are performed
here by the emperot's envoy at the start of the festival. The Kasuga Festival is one of only three festivals in Japan that

is attended by an imperial envoy.

The original Chakutoden was constructed in 916. It was rebuilt in 1413 after a fire. The building is restored at regular
intervals in accordance with the Shinto precepts of renewal and purity. The most recent renovations were conducted
in 2011. More than 170,000 pieces of bark were used to restore the roof. The bark is stripped from cypress trees, each

of which is at least a century old. This does not harm the trees.

In accordance with Shinto tradition, methods and materials identical to those used in the original construction of the

building over 1,000 years ago were used in the restoration.
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Ichi no Torii First Torii Gate

The first torii gate marks the main entrance to Kasuga Taisha Shrine and is designated an Important Cultural Property.

Originally constructed during the Heian period (794-1185), the current gate dates to 1638.

This gate lies directly west of Mt. Mikasa, the sacred mountain east of Kasuga Taisha Shrine. To the west of the torii
is the Sanjo Road, which once connected Kasuga Taisha Shrine with the center of Heijokyo, the first permanent capital

of Japan, which was established in 710.

Torii gates mark the entrance to the sacred space of a Shinto shrine. The first torii gate of Kasuga Taisha Shrine is one
of the first torii gates to be painted vermilion. This shape of torii originated at Kasuga Taisha Shrine, hence the name

“Kasuga Torii.” It is one of the eatliest torii with straight top lintels and slightly tapered pillars.
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Kasuga Taisha Shrine

Kasuga Taisha Shrine was established over 1,250 years ago, to enshrine and worship deities to protect the ancient capital
of Nara, also known as Heijokyo. During the Nara period (710—784), Nara was the center of Japanese culture as well

as the first permanent capital. Many important elements of Japanese art, cuisine, and government were developed here.

Eatly in the Nara period, Takemikazuchi no Mikoto, the deity enshrined at Kashima Jingu Shrine in Ibaraki Prefecture,
descended to Mt. Mikasa on a white deer, in answer to prayers for the protection of the capital. Kasuga Taisha Shrine
was built on the mountainside to enshrine the deity, because the mountain is considered sacred ground and climbing it
to worship the deity is forbidden. The shrine is located to the east of the ancient capital, in the direction of the rising

sun.

Four principal deities are enshrined at Kasuga Taisha Shrine:
Takemikazuchi no Mikoto, the god of thunder; Futsunushi no Mikoto, the god of swords; Ame no Koyane no Mikoto,

the deity of wisdom; and Himegami, the spouse of Ame no Koyane no Mikoto.

These gods are also worshipped by Buddhists respectively, as Shakyamuni, the historical Buddha; Yakushi Nyorai, the
bodhisattva of medicine and healing; Jizo, the savior of all sentient beings; and the Eleven-Faced Kannon, the goddess

of mercy.

Monks from the nearby Kofukuji Temple, which also has close ties with the Fujiwara clan, have performed Buddhist

rituals at the Kasuga Taisha Shrine since the Heian period (794-1185).

The shrine was built by the Fujiwara family, which held important political positions in the Nara period. The Fujiwara
was one of four great families that dominated Japanese politics during the Heian petiod. The Shrine's crest includes a
wisteria because it appears on the crest of the Fujiwara clan, and the Shrine grounds are famous for their wisteria

blooms.

In addition to its extensive grounds and sacred buildings, Kasuga Taisha Shrine features the largest and best-preserved




collection of stone lanterns and bronze hanging lanterns in Japan. Its treasure hall contains important Heian period

works of art, while its Man’yo Botanical Garden is home to 200 wisteria plants in twenty varieties.
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Deities enshrined at Kasuga Taisha

The 1st Altar is for Takemikazuehi-no-mikoto
The 2nd Altar is for Futsunushi-no-mikoto

The 3rd Altar is Amenokoyane-no-mikoto




The 4th Altar is for his consort Himegami

The origin of Kasuga Taisha dates back to the year 768, when these four deities were invited to reside here on the side

of Mount Miksa out of a desire for the prosperity of the nation as well as the happiness of its citizens.

These four deities, known as Kasuga-sume-ookami or Kasuga-Daimyojin (the Great Deities of Kasuga), are enshrined

respectively in their own splendid Kasuga-style altars.

The shrine continues to attact people's respect and worship. Even today, as in the past, more than 2200 time-honored
rituals are conducted annually, including  daily morning and evening sacred foods-donating rites. These rituals are held

not only for Japan, but also for world peace, happiness, and mutual prosperity.
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Rokudo no Tsuji, the Intersection of Six Spiritual Worlds

Rokudo no Tsuji is the name for the intersection near the end of the horse racing course. It is believed that a hell that

is connected with the kami of Kasuga Taisha exists underneath the southern end of this area.

It was believed that Ame no Koyane no Mikoto, the god of wisdom enshrined at Kasuga Taisha Shrine, would relieve

the pain of sinners in this hell if they were associated with the shrine.

The Buddhist term rokudo refers to six states of existence, or the six different paths that a human soul can follow after
death. It is believed that a spirit experiences many, if not all, of these states in the cycle of birth, death, and rebirth that

precedes enlightenment.

In the past, the four primary Shinto deities enshrined at Kasuga Taisha Shrine were also worshipped by Buddhists,
making this shrine an important holy site for both faiths. While Buddhism and Shinto are now separated, many Japanese

people continue to worship both Shinto kami and Buddhist deities.
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Yogo no Matsu Sacred Pine Tree

The Yogo no Matsu is a sacred pine tree located just beyond the first torii gate. The original pine tree is depicted in the

Kasnga Gongen Genki, a famous picture scroll that was dedicated to Kasuga Taisha Shrine in 1309.

According to legend, the deities of Kasuga Taisha Shrine descended to earth via pine trees. Since then, the pine has
been considered a sacred tree. During the annual Kasuga Wakamiya Onmatsuri Festival, ancient performing arts and
special ceremonies are held in front of the pine tree.

This tree served as the model for the pine trees painted as the backdrop on Noh stages all across Japan.

Noh is one of the oldest performing arts in the world, dating back more than 600 years. Noh performances incorporate

chant, dance, and drama, and the main performers wear stylized masks.

Descendants of the Yogo no Matsu have replaced the original tree many times over the centuries, and the next

generation is growing in close proximity to the old pine.
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Keishoden Hall

The Keishoden was built in 1699 and is used by the priests of Kasuga Taisha to pray for the peace and stability of
Japan. It was donated to Kasuga Taisha Shrine by Keishoin (1627-1705), the mother of the fifth Tokugawa shogun,
Tsunayoshi (1646—1709).

The architectural style is typical of the Genroku period (1688—1704), with a facade that looks like a residential building.
This building is a symbol of the strong connection between Kasuga Taisha Shrine and the Tokugawa shogunate, which
ruled Japan during the Edo period (1603—1867). The Keishoden is normally closed to visitors, but it is occasionally

open to the public for ceremonies and special events.

Despite her low birth, Keishoin became one of the concubines of Shogun Tokugawa Iemitsu (1604-1651) and gave
birth to Iemitsu’s heir. After Iemitsu’s death, Keishoin became a Buddhist nun, but continued to advise her son, the
fifth shogun Tsunayoshi, until her death in 1705. Keishoin is remembered for her wisdom and her patronage of temples

and shrines, including Kasuga Taisha Shrine.
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Nara City Cultural Property

Keishoden
Founded in 1699

It is called Keishéden as it was dedicated by Keishoin, who was a mother of Shogun Tsunayoshi in the middle of
the Edo Period (1680-1704). Initially it was dedicated as a prayer service room. It is divided into an altar and

antechambers on the both sides.
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Haraedo Shrine

Haraedo Shrine was first built in the early Heian period (794-1185). It is located near the purification fountain and
enshrines the Shinto deity Seoritsuhime, the kami of exorcism. The opening ceremony of the annual Kasuga Festival,

the most important festival at Kasuga Taisha Shrine, is held at this shrine.

Before reaching Haraedo Shrine, worshippers pass the second torii gate and perform ritual ablutions at the purification

fountain.

Worshippers in the Shinto faith are required to cleanse themselves physically and spiritually before worshipping at the

shrine to show respect for and to find favor with the kami.
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Ni no Torii Second Torii Gate

The second torii gate stands on the approach to the main shrine of Kasuga Taisha Shrine. Torii are generally made of
wood, although some are made of stone, metal, or other materials. They are normally painted bright vermilion, but

they may also be left unpainted.

The second torii gate marks the entrance to the most sacred area at the interior of the shrine. The &omainu statues in

front of this torii gate watch over worshippers and protect the approach.

The carriage house is close to the Ni no Torii gate. Worshippers would leave their horses or carriages here and proceed

on foot to show respect for the kami of Kasuga Taisha Shrine.
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Tsubogami Shrine

Tsubogami Shrine is located near the entrance to the Man’yo Botanical Garden, on the approach to the main shrine of
Kasuga Taisha. This small, bright vermillion shrine enshrines the god of sake brewing, one of the sixty-one kami

worshipped at Kasuga Taisha Shrine.

Followers of the Shinto faith customarily pray to many different kami, and visit different shrines depending on their

personal needs, profession, or life experience.
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Deer and Tobihino

About 1,300 wild deer live in Nara Park. The deer are revered because they are messengers of Takemikazuchi no
Mikoto, the god of thunder and one of the four principal deities of Kasuga Taisha Shrine. It is said that in the early
Nara period (710-784) this deity, which is worshipped at Kashima Jingu Shrine in Ibaraki Prefecture near Tokyo,
descended on Mt. Mikasa riding a white deer.

Deer have been revered in Nara for over 1,250 years, and the deer have mostly lost their fear of people. Many of the
deer will bow at you, in the hope of receiving the special crackers that visitors can purchase in the park. Each June and
July, the deer give birth to spotted fawns that can be seen following their mothers around the grounds of Kasuga Taisha

Shrine and Nara Park.

Many plants and trees at Kasuga Taisha Shrine have fences to prevent the deer from eating them.

Periodically a horn is used to summon all the deer to the Tobihino, the lawns near Kasuga Taisha Shrine, an event

called Shika Yose, literally “Deer Gathering,”
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Site of the East and West Pagodas of Kasuga Taisha Shrine

Two pagodas once stood to the north of the first torii gate. The western pagoda was built in 1116 by Fujiwara no
Tadazane (1078-1162), a member of the influential Fujiwara clan that founded Kasuga Taisha Shrine. The eastern

tower was constructed in 1140 by order of Emperor Toba (1103-1156).

Both towers burned to the ground in 1180 during a battle. They were rebuilt thereafter but were struck by lightning

and burned down again in 1411.

The pagodas are depicted in the Kasuga Mandala, and are similar to the five-storied pagoda of nearby Kofukuji Temple.

The foundation stones of the two pagodas may be found near the Nara National Museum.
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Ringo no Niwa Apple Garden

The open area in front of the two-storied Chumon gate is called the Apple Garden. The first apple tree to be planted

here was donated by the Emperor Takakura (1161-1181) as an offering to the gods of the shrine.

The current tree was presented as a gift to Kasuga Taisha Shrine by Japanese schoolchildren in 1955. Every year, the

apples from the tree are presented as offerings to the kami of Kasuga Taisha Shrine.

Ancient ceremonial music and sacred dance are performed in the Apple Garden throughout the year.
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Ringo-no-ki (Malus domestica)

Since ancient times, this area is called "Ringo-no-niwa" (Apple Yard) and people divined their harvest of the year
depending on quantity of seeds planted.

It is quoted that Emperor Takakura (1168-1189) had donated the original tree at the end of Heian Period (794-
1191). It died down after that and the current tree was donated in 1957.
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Nanmon South Gate

The two-storied south gate, which is 12 m high, is the primary entrance to the main compound of Kasuga Taisha

Shrine.

Prior to the construction of the Nanmon, the main entrance to the shrine was the Keigamon gate, which stands to the
west facing sacred Mt. Mikasa. It is believed that the Nanmon was built specially for the exclusive use of the nobility.

Both the Nanmon and the Keigamon gates are now open to the public.

At the annual Kasuga Festival, the imperial envoy enters through the Keigamon if he is a member of the Fujiwara

family. Imperial envoys not belonging to the Fujiwara family use the Nanmon gate.
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Lantern Dedicated by Keishoin

This famous copper lantern is decorated with the crest of the Tokugawa shoguns, which ruled Japan during the Edo
petiod (1603-1867). It was donated to Kasuga Taisha Shrine by Keishoin (1627—-1705), the mother of fifth shogun
Tsunayoshi (1646-1709).

Keishoin was born into a low social class, but she became the concubine of Shogun Tokugawa Iemitsu (1604-1651)
and gave birth to Iemitsu’s heir. As the mother and personal advisor to the shogun, she achieved the highest position
possible for a woman of her time. Keishoin became a Buddhist nun after Iemitsu’s death, but continued to advise her

son, Shogun Tsunayoshi, until her death in 1705.

Her patronage of Kasuga Taisha Shrine included the donation of this lantern and the Keishoden hall, which serve to

display the strong connection between Kasuga Taisha Shrine and the Tokugawa shogunate.
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Dadaiko Ceremonial Drums

The Dadaiko are the largest ceremonial drums still in use in Japan. During the annual outdoor performances at the
Kasuga Wakamiya Onmatsuri Festival, the drums accompany traditional bugaku dances performed as offerings to the
deity of Wakamiya Shrine. The drums stand 6.5 m tall and are made of painted wood, with cow-leather faces held in
place by tuning ropes. The traditional swirling tomoe designs painted on the drums’ faces are closely associated with

Shinto shrines and have been used in Japan for many centuries.

The original drums were made during the Kamakura period (1185-1333) and donated to Kasuga Taisha Shrine by
Minamoto no Yoritomo (1147-1199), the warrior who founded the Kamakura Shogunate. These replicas date from
1976 when the original drums required replacing after centuries of ceremonial use. The original drums are now on
display on the second floor of the Treasure Hall Museum at Kasuga Taisha Shrine. They are listed as Important Cultural

Properties.

The carved wooden decorations surrounding the drums represent flaming jewels and are based on the philosophy of
yin and yang. This philosophy was originally brought to Japan from China during the fifth and sixth centuries. It
describes the complementary and interconnected nature of opposing forces in the universe. The first drum is decorated
with a dragon and the sun, which represent the male, or yang. The second drum features a phoenix and the moon,

representing the female, or yin.
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Dadaiko drum (pair)

This pair of drums is used in the bugakn dance music performances held outdoors during the Wakamiya Shrine
On-matsuri festival, one standing to the left and one of the right. They are 6.5 meters tall and are the largest
such drums in use.

The drum faces are made of cow leather, stretched over either end of the barrel-shaped wooden bodies, and
held taut by tuning ropes. A triple zomoe design is painted on the frum face of the left drum surrounded by a red
circle, with a double fom0e design on the right drum surrounded by a blue design.

The carved decoration that surrounds the drums is in the shape of a flaming jewel. It was believed that wishes
mafe to this jewel would be fulfilled. The designs on the surrounds of each of the drums are based on Inyo gogyo
shiso (the philisophy of yin and yang). That right drum surround is carved with phoenixes with the moon at the
top and is associated with yin (the female side), whilst the left drum surround is carved with dragons, topped by
the sun, which is associated with yang (the male side).

The original drums were used in the Wakamiya Shrine On matsuri festival until 1975. These replicas were made
in 1976 to replace the originals with had become damage through centuries of usage.
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Marumadotei Sutra Repository

The sutra repository dates back to the Kamakura period (1185-1333). Its thatched roof and large, rounded windows

are rarely seen in buildings of this period. The structure is listed as an Important Cultural Property.

Originally located on the grounds of Kasuga Taisha Shrine, Marumadotei was moved to its current location in southern

Nara Park during the Meiji period (1868-1912), when Buddhism and Shinto were separated.

The building is often lit up at night and is considered particulatly beautiful in spring and autumn, when flowering plum

trees and colorful foliage create spectacular backdrops for this unique example of Japanese architecture.
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Kinjiraden Kenukigata Tachi Sword

Kinjiraden Kenukigata Tachi Sword is a National Treasure and is one of the most important sacred treasures of Kasuga

Taisha Shrine. It is only rarely on public display.

This is one of only three Heian period (794-1185) complete swords of this type that survive in Japan. It is considered

to be the prototype for the katana, the Japanese longsword traditionally used by samurai.

This sword was created and donated to Kasuga Taisha Shrine as a holy artifact to be placed in one of the main shrine
buildings, and was not intended for use in battle. The metal fittings of the sword and sheath are made of very pure
gold, and are an indication of the faith of those who commissioned and donated this precious object. The mother-of-

peatl inlays of the sheath portray a cat pursuing a sparrow through a bamboo grove.
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Gakuzuka Sacred Stone

This stone predates the building of Kasuga Taisha Shrine, and was left untouched as a symbol of the ancient worship
of nature when the shrine was built. It is said that a sign board (shagaku) bearing the name of Takemikazuchi no
Mikoto, the god of thunder, was buried beneath this stone. The board is thought to have fallen when it was struck by

lightning in 772. The name Gakutsuka means “burial mound of the (sha)gaku.”

The fence both protects the stone and delineates the area around it as sacred space, and is one of the features of Shinto
belief. The fence here is proof that the stone has been an object of veneration since before the building of the Kasuga

Taisha Shrine.

AR DIRER (HAEEER)
R

COAREERALDERICT TIHFIEL. BROMHZRHIENEV TRINRIISNIER. COGARCERENFL
feo BD—DELT, 772 F(CECEDE T UL KEREsy (BOM) ORAINGCEHINIATRRZIBDI.CENSER
EREZDIBNIZLDFRNGHOFT . EAROZIR, [HEEMBDSNTEITY,

ZOBE%ZSTD, MEZ&RIH. ADRDICHNERIFENELUIZ COLIICLT. MERIZFIPEDZREL. RHd
A HEOFHHTHD. FEAARHOZEIILUAILD, AZRDBEMN G EDIEHELITNET .

ARFELURIDREERF
BU




909

No.31 Meotodaikokusha Shrine, Kasuga Taisha Shrine <RE.RE>

(M) FEEAKXT
(Bl SRIEAR] QR J—RAEER

TEhofc kBRI X
Meotodaikokusha Shrine

This shrine is dedicated to Okuninushi no Mikoto and his wife. The two deities are believed to protect the household.
It is very popular with worshippers who come to pray for good luck in finding love, finding a spouse, or for happiness

in married life.

Pilgrims write their wishes or prayers on heart-shaped votive tablets and dedicate them in the hope that the kami will
fulfill their wishes. A water basin situated near the shrine is used for an unusual form of fortune telling in which

fortune-telling papers are immersed in the water.

Meotodaikokusha Shrine is one of fifteen subsidiary shrines that surround the Wakamiya Shrine. Believers worship at

each of the fifteen shrines in turn, starting at the Meotodaikokusha.
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A Short History of the Daijoin Temple

The original Daijoin Temple was built during the eleventh century and affiliated with Kofukuji Temple, the most
important temple in Nara at the time. Daijoin burned to the ground in 1180, and again in 1451 during a peasant revolt.
Zen’ami (1386-1482), a renowned medieval landscape designer, redesigned the garden, integrating ponds, bridges,

plants and trees. The resulting garden was considered one of the most beautiful in Japan.

During the Meiji period (1868—1912), the garden was closed, and fell into ruin. By the 1920s, it was part of the Nara
Hotel, and had been converted into tennis courts and a putting green. After World War II, the garden was recreated
and a Heritage Center built to showcase the garden’s history, along with scale models, maps, and important artifacts

from the original temple. This historic garden is open to the public all year round.

A History of the Daijoin Garden

Daijoin was originally founded in 1087 as a subsidiary temple of nearby Kofukuji, the family temple of the powerful
Fujiwara clan and one of the most important Buddhist temples in Nara. The original abbots of Daijoin were part of
the Imperial family, or high-ranking court nobles, many of whom were Fujiwara clan members. The temple prospered
during the second half of the Heian period (794-1195). It burned to the ground in 1180 and was subsequently rebuilt
at its present location. In the turbulent Muromachi period (1336—1573), the temple and its gardens were destroyed by

fire again, in the 1451 Tokusei Ikki peasant revolt.

Daijoin’s twentieth high priest, Jinson (1430—1508), arranged for Zen’ami, one of Japan’s most famous landscape
designers, to restore the garden. Zen’ami redesigned it, integrating ponds, bridges, plants and trees. The resulting garden
was considered one of the most beautiful in Japan. Many samurai nobles, including Shogun Ashikaga Yoshimasa (1436—

1490), came to Daijoin not only to worship but also to appreciate the temple’s famous grounds.

During the Meiji period (1868—1912), Buddhism was officially considered a dangerous foreign influence in Japan. Many
Buddhist temples were closed and fell into disrepair, including Daijoin. By the 1920s, the grounds had become a part

of the Nara Hotel, and the former temple garden featured tennis courts and a putting green. After World War 11, a full




restoration began. A heritage center was constructed at the entrance, to preserve and showcase the history of Daijoin
through scale models, maps, and artifacts from the original temple. After decades of research, excavation, and
restoration, the site was finally reopened to the public in 2010. Visitors can stroll the grounds year round, enjoying the
seasonal beauty of this historic garden, which features cherry blossoms in the spring, lush green scenery in summer,

spectacular autumn foliage, and snowy landscapes in the winter months.
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Garden landscape depicted in Daijoin shiki shinkei zu

Daijoin shiki shinkei zu is a colored picture commissioned by Ryuon, senior prelate of Kofukuji Daijoin temple at the
end of the Edo period (mid -19th century). A western pond unearthed in the course of archaeological excavation

coincides well with what is shown in this picture, painted from a vintage point in the western sky above the temple.

Renovation of the western pond aimed at reproducing late Edo period garden scenery, based on the picture and the
excavation results. Items such as stone bridges were reconstructed from the picture, but as most of the ornamental

stones of the garden had been lost they have not been reproduced.
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The Daijoin Temple Garden: Historical Background

Originally established at a different site in 1087, the Daijoin Temple was moved to its present location, after the first
structure burned to the ground in a civil war in 1180. The collection of objects on display at the Heritage Center

includes important artifacts from Daijoin and its priests, as well as a model reconstruction of the temple and garden.

One of the temples most celebrated leaders was Jinson (1430—1508), Daijoin’s twentieth chief priest. The son of Ichijo
Kanera (1402—-1481), chief advisor to the emperor, Jinson served as a priest of Daijoin for seventy years. His diary,
known as [ishazgejiki, is one of the most important sources of information about the temple and its history. Temple
historians believe that it was Jinson who entrusted the famous landscape designer Zen’ami with the restoration of the
temple garden after it burned in 1451. Thereafter, Daijoin and its garden became so famous for their beauty that high-
ranking members of the ruling samurai class, including Shogun Ashikaga Yoshimasa (1436—1490), visited not only to
pray, but also to see the temple and its grounds. The portrait of Jinson on display in the Heritage Center made during

the last years of his life depicts the priest holding a string of prayer beads in his left hand and a folding fan in his right.

The scale model at the center of the room depicts the temple of Daijoin and its famous garden as it appeared in 1463,
after the restoration by Zen’ami. Historical paintings of Daijoin, as well as the diaries and personal records of its priests,
allowed historians to construct this model even though the temple buildings had disappeared over a century before.
Period paintings reveal that the buildings’ architecture harmonized beautifully with the nearby pond and surrounding
landscape. There have been other buildings not included in this model in the garden over its history. For example, the
garden once contained a famous tea house, Hassoan. Originally situated near the pond, it was moved to the grounds

of the Nara National Museum in 1892.

The garden outside the Heritage Center is the only remaining example of Zen’ami’s work, which makes it extremely
important in Japanese gardening history. In 1958, the Japanese government designated this garden, including the pond
and approximately 3,000 square meters of the surrounding grounds, as a “National Place of Scenic Beauty,”

guaranteeing its preservation for future generations to enjoy.

Although many of the temple’s treasures were damaged during a fire in 1451, the Heritage Center collection contains




several works of art from Daijoin, including historical paintings of the building and a sketch of the garden showing
the pond and the island at its center. These precious items, along with others inherited from the nearby Buddhist temple
of Kofukuji that was affiliated with Daijon at the time, are also important examples of Japanese art from the

Muromachi period (1336-1573).
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TITLE: About the Nyonin Michi (Women’s Pilgrimage Route)

What Is the Nyonin Michi (Women’s Pilgrimage Route)?

The Women’s Pilgrimage Route, or Nyonin Michi, is the route female pilgrims once used to circumnavigate Koyasan,
which follows a 16-km course through the mountains encircling the sacred plateau. Koyasan is home to over a hundred
Shingon Buddhist temples, as well as the Danjo Garan Sacred Temple Complex, Okunoin cemetery, and the mausoleum
(Gobyo) of Kobo Daishi (also known as Kukai, 774-835), the Japanese priest who brought Shingon esoteric Buddhism
to Japan from China and founded Koyasan. The Nyonin Michi connects a number of historical routes once used to
access and circumnavigate the Koyasan plateau. Today, visitors can walk a number of these routes, including the
Nyonindo Halls Course, the Koya Sanzan Course, and the Fudozaka Course, to experience the history of Koyasan

more closely.

The History of the Nyonin Michi and the Nyonindo Halls

The Nyonin Michi routes came into heavy use during the Edo period (1603-1867), when these mountain paths
functioned primarily as pilgrimage routes and access points for Koyasan. These routes also served as important
transportation routes, connecting towns and villages on all sides of the sacred mountain. Seven official “gates” (guehi)
along the Nyonin Michi functioned as entrances to Koyasan at various places along the trail. Small buildings, known as
myonindo halls or women’s halls, were constructed at each of these locations, as well as at one additional location along
the pilgrimage route. The nyonindo halls were meeting and resting points, as well as lodgings, although most of the halls
were barely large enough for several people to sleep in side by side. Today, only one of these halls remains: the restored
Fudozaka Guchi Nyonindo Hall, which is adjacent to the first bus stop after Koyasan Station. However, markers at the
locations where the other #yonindo halls once stood contain unique information about the halls, the Nyonin Michi, and

the natural history of Koyasan.

The precise locations of the gates and women’s halls occasionally shifted in response to ecological changes and the
needs of the people who used the routes. However, the seven gates and the Nyonin Michi remained the primary access

points for Koyasan until after the start of the Meiji period (1868—1912). While portions of the route now follow the

paved roads through Koyasan, many parts retain their original character as forested walking trails.




A Vital Religious and Transport Route

The Nyonin Michi was used by men and women of all ages, both for religious pilgrimages and for the transportation
of goods. The route is called the Nyonin Michi (lit., Women’s Road) because religious restrictions prohibited women
from entering the sacred precincts of Koyasan until the Meiji period. Before that time, this route was the closest
approach that women could make to the sacred plateau. Many women climbed the holy mountain and walked the
Nyonin Michi, both to worship and to get as close as possible to relatives living and studying at Koyasan. While the
women could not descend to the plateau itself, they could “visit” by walking the pilgrimage route, listening to the

temple bells, and looking down on the buildings of Koyasan from viewpoints along the Nyonin Michi.

Experience the Beauty and History of Koyasan

While some of the historical views are now obscured by Koyasan’s protected pines and cedars, visitors to Nyonin Michi
can still observe Koyasan’s temples and numerous views of the sacred peaks of Mt. Tenjiku, Mt. Yoryu, and Mt. Mani.
Also known as the “Koyasan Sanzan,” or Three Mountains of Koyasan, these sacred peaks are believed to stand guard
over Kobo Daishi as he continues his eternal meditation at Okunoin. Hikers can hear the temple bells at various times
throughout the day, and the flowers and foliage of the Nyonin Michi’s mountain trails are unique and beautiful in every

se€ason.

In addition to offering walks through protected forests and important historical sites, the Nyonin Michi gives visitors

a rare opportunity to follow in the footsteps of centuries of Japanese pilgrims, travelers, and priests.
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No.2 General use signboard about Nyonin Michi, Nyonin Michi, Koyasan <SEFHT, FOFRLE>
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TITLE: About the Nyonin Michi (Women’s Pilgrimage Route)

The Nyonin Michi, or Women’s Pilgrimage Route, is the route female pilgrims once used to circumnavigate Koyasan,
which follows a 16-km course through the mountains encircling the sacred plateau. The Nyonin Michi connects a
number of historical routes once used to access Koyasan. Of these routes, the Nyonindo Halls Course, the Koya
Sanzan Course, and the Fudozaka Course can still be walked, together or separately, by visitors wanting to experience

Koyasan’s history more closely.

During the Edo period (1603-1867), the Nyonin Michi served as both an access and a pilgrimage route to Koyasan, as
well as an important travel route for the Kii Peninsular region. Small buildings, known as nyonindo halls or women’s
halls, served as meeting points and lodgings at eight different locations along the Nyonin Michi. Today, only the restored
Fudozaka Guchi Nyonindo Hall remains. At the other locations, markers contain unique information about the Nyonin

Michi and Koyasan.

The Nyonin Michi remained the primary access route to Koyasan until after the start of the Meiji period (1868—1912).

While portions of the route now follow paved roads inside Koyasan, many parts remain forested walking trails.

Men and women of all ages used the Nyonin Michi, primarily for purposes of religious pilgrimage, but also for travel
and transporting goods. The route is called the Nyonin Michi (lit., Women’s Road) because religious restrictions
prohibited women from entering the sacred precincts of Koyasan until the Meiji period. Before that time, many women
walked the route to worship and to “visit” relatives living and studying at Koyasan by looking down on the plateau
from viewpoints along the Nyonin Michi. Today, the route still offers glimpses of Koyasan’s temples and views of the

sacred peaks of Mt. Tenjiku, Mt. Yoryu, and Mt. Mani.

In addition to offering walks through protected forests and important historical sites, the Nyonin Michi gives visitors

a rare opportunity to walk in the footsteps of centuries of Japanese pilgrims, travelers, and priests.
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Koya-Nakakuchi (Koya Kaido)

Many a worship traveled these roads to Mr. Koya after kobo-Daishi passed away. These seven paths became known as
the Koya-Nakakuchi, or literally the “seven entrances to Mr. Koya.” At the time, it was strictly forbidden for women
to climb the mountain, so a temple where women could worship and seck lodging, called nyonindo(literally “a temple
women may entet”’), was built at the entrance to each of the roads.

X Kobo Daishi entered into eternal meditation on March 21, 835, surrounded by his devoted disciples. He is believed

to be alive and continues to provide relief to those who ask for salvation.
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No.3 Ryujin Guchi Nyonindo Hall Site, Nyonin Michi, Koyasan <EEFHT, FOFRLLE>
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TITLE: Ryujin Guchi Nyonindo Hall Site

The Ryujin Guchi Nyonindo Hall once stood at this location and served as a meeting or resting place, as well as
lodgings, for travelers on the Nyonin Michi (Women’s Pilgrimage Route). This particular #yonindo hall offered travelers
a view of the massive Daimon, or Great Gate, that serves as the official entrance to the Danjo Garan Sacred Temple
Complex. Women and other travelers could also glimpse the buildings inside Danjo Garan from nearby locations along
the Nyonin Michi, and several times each day they could hear the ringing of temple bells. The shrine of the Tasuke no
Jizo, a unique and sacred Buddha statue known for granting a single heartfelt wish to devout believers, sits only a couple

of minutes’ walk along the path from this location.

Like all of the halls on the Nyonin Michi, the Ryujin Guchi Nyonindo Hall would have been constructed, and repaired,
using wood from the trees that grow on Koyasan. The halls were customarily just large enough for several people to
shelter beneath the roof. Other buildings, including small shops and shrines, were sometimes built near the nyonindo

halls at various times to provide additional services for travelers along the Nyonin Michi.
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Koyasan Pilgrimage Routes Nyonin-michi Pilgrimagee Route

Until The early Meiji period, it was strictly forbidden for women to enter Koyasan, so that temples where women could
worship and seek lodging, called Nyonin-do Hall (literally “a temple women may enter”), were built at the entrance to
each of the seven paths to Koyasan.

Nyonin-do Hall at Fudozaka-guchi is the only one temple of seven that still remains now.

Koya-Nanakuchi

Koya-Nanakuchi is the name for a set of seven paths to Koyasan, or literally the “seven entrance to Koyasan”, which
may worshippers traveled after Kobo Daishi Kukai passed away. They are Choishimichi Pilgrimage Rouge, Kyo Osaka-
michi Route, Kuroko-michi Route, Oomine-michi Route, Kumano Kodo Kohechi Route, Ainora-michi Route, and
Arida-Ryujin-michi Route. At the time, it was strictly forbidden for women to enter Koyasan, so a temple where women
could worship and seek lodging, called Nyonin-do Hall (literally “a temple women may enter”), was built at the entrance
to each of the routes.

X Kobo-Daishi Kukai entered into eternal meditation on March 21, 835, surrounded by his devoted disciples.

He is believed to be alive still and continues to provide relief to those who ask for salvation.
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TEHNOIEREERER X
TITLE: Daimon Guchi Nyonindo Hall Site

The Daimon Guchi Nyonindo Hall was originally located at the top of a steep road up the side of the holy mountain
that connected Koyasan and the Nyonin Michi (Women’s Pilgrimage Route) with the Hashimoto area. The road
intersected the Nyonin Michi between the summit of Mt. Benten and the Daimon, or Great Gate, that marks the
entrance to the Danjo Garan Sacred Temple Complex. Because the road was extremely steep, and often difficult to
travel, a second route was eventually constructed. The newer path intersected the Nyonin Michi closer to the Daimon,
and contained more switchbacks, making the trail easier to ascend than the older, direct route. After construction of
the second trail, the old path fell into disuse and was eventually closed. Today, both routes have been replaced by the

paved modern road that enters Koyasan near the Daimon.

This stretch of the Nyonin Michi passed the closest to Koyasan’s sacred precincts, giving women and other travelers
the best opportunity to glimpse the sacred buildings and hear the temple bells of Danjo Garan. The path also passes
through several 7077, traditional Shinto gates that mark the entrance to a sacred space. Historically, Shinto and Buddhism
coexisted peacefully in Japan, with many important holy sites, including Koyasan, being recognized as sacred to both

the Shinto and Buddhist faiths.
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TEHNOIEREERER X
TITLE: Ainoura Guchi Nyonindo Hall Site

The seven locations where roads led down from the Nyonin Michi (Women’s Pilgrimage Route) to the sacred plateau
of Koyasan were historically referred to as “gates” (guchi), even though no physical barriers existed to block the path.
The Ainoura Guchi Nyonindo Hall stood beside the gate where the Nyonin Michi intersected with a path to the

Koyasan plateau, as well as a road that led down the side of the sacred mountain to the village of Ainoura.

On sunny days, this location offers spectacular views of the mountains of Wakayama to the south and west, especially
when autumn foliage paints the mountainsides with vibrant colors. The slopes are also home to kgyamaki, or Japanese
umbrella pines, an evergreen species unique to Japan that has grown here for over 200 million years. Because its long-
lasting, fragrant needles grow in spiral shapes that resemble flowers, the kgyamakss branches are often used in formal

arrangements and as offerings at temples, shrines, and graves in Koyasan.

Travelers from Ainoura and other locations around the sacred mountain often climbed the slopes to worship at
Koyasan, bringing with them special offerings that represented their region, town, or village. Carrying these items up

the mountain for presentation at Koyasan demonstrated the pilgrims’ devotion, respect, and religious faith.
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TEHNOIEREERER X
TITLE: Otaki Guchi Nyonindo Hall Site

The Otaki Guchi Nyonindo Hall stood near Rokuro Pass, at the gate that connected Koyasan with Kumano, another
region of great historical and spiritual importance in Japan. For centuries, people have traveled on foot through the Kii
Mountain Range, including Koyasan, on religious pilgrimages. While traveling along the Nyonin Michi or Women’s
Pilgrimage Route, some of these pilgrims would have stopped to rest, or spend the night, at the Otaki Guchi Nyonindo
Hall or one of seven other halls constructed along the roughly circular, approximately 16-km trail. Although small, the

halls provided important meeting and resting spots for pilgrims and other people traveling the Nyonin Michi.

Before the mountain’s forests became part of protected heritage and wildlife areas, the timber was regularly cut and
used for construction and repair of temple buildings and halls like the #yonindo halls. Although protected forests now
obscure some portions of the view, the Otaki Guchi Nyonindo Hall once offered one of the best viewpoints of the
Koyasan plateau and Kumano mountains. Visitors wishing to experience the breathtaking Kumano peaks today can
find a spectacular overlook just five minutes’ farther along the Women’s Pilgrimage Route, on the way to the Ainoura

Guchi Nyonindo Hall Site.
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TEHNOIEREERER X
TITLE: Omine Guchi Nyonindo Hall Site

Like the other halls along the Nyonin Michi (Women’s Pilgrimage Route), the Omine Guchi Nyonindo Hall served as
a meeting point and lodging place for travelers until its closure during the early Meiji period (1868—1912). As the name
suggests, this nyonindo hall served as the gate to Mt. Omine, one of Japan’s most sacred mountains, which played an
important role in the training of yamabushi, or mountain ascetic priests. Mt. Omine is located approximately fifty
kilometers east of Koyasan, in Nara Prefecture. For centuries, priests and pilgrims have traveled on foot between the

holy mountains for training and as an act of worship.

While the path connecting the Omine Guchi Nyonindo Hall with Koyasan is located only a couple of minutes’ walk
southwest along the Nyonin Michi, the road that led to Mt. Omine did not branch off from the route at this location.
That portion of the trail branched off the Nyonin Michi near the summit of Mt. Mani, in the portion of the route
now known as the Koya Sanzan (Three Mountains of Koya) Course. Because the sacred mountains were left in a
natural state as a sign of respect, the Omine Guchi Nyonindo Hall was placed farther down the trail, at this location,

where travelers would also be closer to supplies and to the temples of Koyasan.
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TEHNOIEREERER X
TITLE: Kuroko Guchi Nyonindo Site

Although the precise location of the Kuroko Guchi Nyonindo Hall is no longer known, the hall once stood along this
portion of the Nyonin Michi (Women’s Pilgrimage Route). While many parts of the Nyonin Michi have been preserved
as unpaved hiking trails, this stretch of the route now follows paved roads through a portion of Koyasan that developed
after the sacred valley opened to female visitors during the Meiji period (1868—1912). Originally, travelers on the
pilgrimage route could stop at one of the eight #yonindo halls (women’s halls) to rest or spend the night. Despite the

name, the halls were used by both men and women travelers, religious and secular alike.

Heading northeast from this location, the Women’s Pilgrimage Route follows a circuitous path over the sacred peaks
of Mt. Tenjiku, Mt. Yoryu, and Mt. Mani, also called the Koyasan Sanzan, which are said to keep watch over Kobo
Daishi’s eternal meditation at Okunoin. The route was placed across these mountains both for religious purposes and
to avoid passing through the holy cemetery of Okunoin. The Fudozaka Guchi Nyonindo Hall and the peak of sacred

Mt. Benten (Bentendake) lie in the opposite direction, just a short walk to the west along the trail.
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TITLE: Tanigami Nyonindo Hall Site

The Tanigami Nyonindo Hall is unique among the halls that once existed on the Nyonin Michi (Women’s Pilgrimage
Route). Each of the other seven myonindo halls was located beside a “gate” (guehi), or access point, where roads led up
to Koyasan from towns and villages at the base of the holy mountain and beyond. However, no road led up from the
base of the mountain at this location. Here, a branching path led only down to the Koyasan plateau, making this a
shortcut to Koyasan rather than a “gate” connecting the sacred mountain to other parts of Wakayama. The Tanigami
Nyonindo Hall was located near the place where the trail begins the upward climb to Mt. Benten, a sacred peak
dedicated to the goddess Benzaiten, whom Kobo Daishi (also known as Kukai, 774—835) enshrined there shortly after

founding Koyasan.

Like the other halls on the Women’s Pilgrimage Route, the Tanigami Nyonindo Hall served as a meeting and lodging
place for people walking the pilgrimage route, traveling to and from Koyasan, or transporting goods along the road.
Although all people are welcome at Koyasan today, religious restrictions prohibited women from entering the sacred
plateau before the Meiji period (1868-1912). Until that time, women often walked this path year-round as a form of

religious pilgrimage, staying at these #yonindo halls.
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TITLE: Fudozaka Guchi Nyonindo Hall

The Fudozaka Guchi Nyonindo Hall is the last remaining nyonindo hall (women’s hall) on Koyasan. It sits near the first
bus stop after Koyasan station, just west of the gates that once marked the limit beyond which women could not pass
until after the start of the Meiji period (1868—1912). Before that time, religious restrictions prevented women from
entering the sacred precincts of Koyasan. In addition to providing shelter for female pilgrims, the Fudozaka Guchi
Nyonindo Hall served as a meeting and resting place for people of all ages traveling on the Fudozaka Pilgrimage Route

or along the Nyonin Michi (Women’s Pilgrimage Route).

According to local history, construction of the first Fudozaka Guchi Nyonindo Hall at this location was arranged by a
nun named Kosugi, who grew up in Echigo (now Niigata Prefecture). After its completion, Kosugi lived at the #yonindo
hall, offering care and lodging to female pilgrims. Today, she is considered a guardian deity of the Fudozaka Guchi
Nyonindo Hall.

The hall fell into disrepair during the Meiji period, but has since been restored and is now a functioning temple. The
Fudozaka Guchi Nyonindo Hall, as it exists today, is larger than many of the women’s halls that stood in other places
along the Women’s Pilgrimage Route. Inside, it houses a collection of historical artifacts, including photographs, relating

to the building and its history.

Historical documents and paintings reveal that numerous buildings stood at this location at different times during
Koyasan’s history. In addition to the nyonindo halls, small shops and shrines were constructed here to meet the needs of

travelers and pilgrims.

Three hiking courses converge at this location, including the Nyonindo Halls Course (approx. 7 km) and the Koya Sanzan
Course (approx. 9 km), which together comprise the historic Nyonin Michi (Women’s Pilgrimage Route) encircling the
sacred Koyasan plateau. In addition, the Fudozaka Course, which pilgrims once used to climb the mountain from

Gokurakubashi, terminates at the Fudozaka Guchi Nyonindo Hall.
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TITLE: Rokuro Pass

Considered one of the best viewpoints on the Nyonin Michi (Women’s Pilgrimage Route), Rokuro Pass is said to have
received its name due to its spectacular views of the Kii Mountain Range and the Koyasan plateau. In Japanese, rokuro
kubi means “to stretch the neck (or head)” in order to obtain a better view. Upon reaching Rokuro Pass, travelers often
stopped to appreciate the misty peaks of the Kii mountains, the autumn foliage of Koyasan, and the mystical sound

of temple bells ringing in the sacred valley.

Also known as the “gateway to Kumano,” Rokuro Pass is one of the seven traditional “gates” or entrances to Koyasan.
Each of the gates was located at an important historical crossroad where paths leading up the sides of the mountain
intersected with both the Nyonin Michi and with trails leading down onto the sacred plateau. The roughly circular
pilgrimage route circumnavigates the top of the sacred mountain and was used as both a transit route and a pilgrimage
trail. From the Edo period (1603—1867) until the introduction of modern transit routes to Koyasan during the early
Meiji period (1868-1912), Rokuro Pass and the Nyonin Michi were vital hubs connecting the Kumano region with the

rest of Wakayama and Japan.

Although religious restrictions prevented women from entering Koyasan until the Meiji period, many women walked
the pilgrimage route through Rokuro Pass, both as religious pilgrims and while traveling between locations on either
side of Koyasan. From here, as well as from other places on the Nyonin Michi, men and women could see the temples
and other sacred buildings of Koyasan, allowing them to “visit” these important sites without descending to the sacred

plateau.
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TEHNOIRERERX
TITLE: Entsuritsuji Temple

Since its re-establishment during the twelfth century, the sacred monastery of Entsuritsuji Temple has played an
important role in the training of priests on Koyasan. To this day, Koyasan Shingon priests must spend one hundred
days in training and meditation here before being ordained. Entsuritsuji Temple is one of several religious training

centers on the Koyasan plateau.

Entsuritsuji Temple was re-established by Chogen (1121-1206), the Japanese Buddhist priest who also rebuilt the
famous temple of Todaiji, in Nara City. In addition, this temple was originally home to several important Buddhist
statues produced by Unkei (approx.1150-1223) and his contemporary Kaikei (dates unknown), two of the best-known
artists of the Kei school, which flourished during the Kamakura period (1185-1333). Some of these important statues

have now been moved to Koyasan’s Reihokan Museum for conservation, restoration, and display.

Entsuritsuji Temple is open to the public only one day each year, at the Hanamatsuri festival, celebrated during the
fourth month of the lunar calendar. Due to the strict and solemn nature of the important religious training conducted
here, visitors are not normally allowed to enter the temple or its precincts. For this reason, visitors are asked to respect

the “Do Not Enter” signs posted at the entrances to Entsuritsuji Temple.

AR DIRER (HAEEER)
S4NL . FIEBESF

12 HECOBELE., HBERFOMEELER L. BFLOBRERMEITEIZIEBRIGAER>TVWET L IRET
6. BEERTE. BEICRBFIC. T 100 BRE. B1TEEEAERZL GRS TEWWTF A . BBEESFEEEFIL
([CHBLDONDIEITIEIZD 1 DTY,

FEEFE REMOBRLEF. REAFOLEZUALBUE. BIR1121-1200 M EREUFUI, S5, ZOFICE
=Y. S 1185-1333)[SEIEU. BIROER (1150~1223 tH)E. FFROREEZERFHEVND. 2 A
DERLBEZREMBMETLEERMAMENEARIDSN TVELIZ, IRTE. COEBERMAMFOLKOMNE. REF. &R




B BRODIC. SFILOZEFECEEINTVET.

FBEFE F(C—HOH KIZE 4 AOTERDOBIC—HRARINE T CCTITOHN TV EERMEI T, B
R REBE THBH, BE. REENFPEANASLFFFRIENTLERA. O, RFE(CE. &
BEFAOCHBIEADZELE IOANADE BN KHENTNET

AEELARIDREERRR S
U




924

No.13 Kotsugi Pass, Nyonin Michi, Koyasan <= EFHT, FOFRLLIE>
(Mesg&l L ANE
(RBEFEHAK] BN O17
http://koyasan.net/

TEHNOIERFERFR X
TITLE: Kotsugi Pass

Kotsugi Pass sits between the sacred peaks of Mt. Tenjiku and Mt. Yoryu, about halfway along an 8.6-km stretch of
the Nyonin Michi (Women’s Pilgrimage Route) now known as the Koya Sanzan Course. Historically, this pass was
known as Yamato Guchi, or “the Yamato Gate Route,” because people from Yamato (now known as Nara Prefecture)

once used this route to travel to Koyasan on pilgrimage.

A small wooden structure near the edge of the path enshrines a statue known as the Koyasu Jizo. For centuries, people
have visited this shrine to pray in the hope that Jizo will bless them with children. Although the statue’s exact age is

unknown, carvings on the stone indicate this Jizo is at least several centuries old.

Kotsugi Pass is also famous for being the place where the renowned warrior lord Toyotomi Hideyoshi (1537—-1598)
fled from Koyasan. According to local legend, Hideyoshi performed a tea ceremony on the holy plateau, despite the
ceremony being forbidden on Koyasan. When the furious gods sent a thunderstorm to strike the peak, Hideyoshi fled
on horseback through Kotsugi Pass to escape their wrath. Legend aside, it is known that Hideyoshi initially came to
Koyasan intending to burn the holy precincts to the ground but had a change of heart and ended up an ardent patron

and protector of the area.
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TITLE: Tasuke no Jizo

This shrine is home to the Tasuke no Jizo, or Helping Jizo, a stone statue of the bodhisattva Jizo originally discovered
in neighboring Kumano. According to legend, the man who discovered the Jizo was walking in a lonely valley when he
heard a sound that led him to this statue. Not wanting the holy relic to remain alone in such a desolate place, the man

brought it to Koyasan where a shrine was built to honor and protect the Jizo.

It is said that the Tasuke no Jizo will grant a single, heartfelt request or prayer to any person who asks. However, this
Jizo will bestow such a blessing only once in a lifetime. When the prayer is granted, people often bring a round object,
like a stone, to the shrine as a symbol of gratitude. Many of the stones around the statue’s base were left by worshippers

whose prayers the Jizo has granted.
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TITLE: Otake Jizo

The Otake Jizo is one of the largest cast copper statues on Koyasan. The statue takes its name from Mrs. Yokoyama
Take, a woman from Edo (now known as Tokyo) who donated this Jizo to Koyasan in May of 1745. According to an
inscription on the base of the statue, the bodhisattva Jizo appeared to Mrs. Take in a dream while she was staying at
the nearby Fudozaka Guchi Nyonindo Hall to pray for the soul of her deceased husband. Upon waking, Mrs. Take
decided to commission and donate a statue of Jizo to Koyasan. The Otake Jizo has remained on display at this location

since that time.

Known as Ksitigarbha in Sanskrit, Jizo is a bodhisattva—a benevolent being who attains Buddhahood but remains
compassionately attached to this wozld to help other souls in need. Jizo is a protector and patron of travelers, children,
and those in need, including the souls of the deceased. He is often portrayed as a Buddhist priest with a halo around
his head. His left hand holds a wish-fulfilling jewel, while his right hand wields a staff with which he forces open the

gates of hell to help imprisoned souls escape.
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Otake-Jizo

Otake-Jizo is the biggest cast-capper-made Buddhist statue on Mt. Koya. The name, Otake-]izo, originated from the
name of the donor, Mrs. Take Yokoyama. The fact that Mrs. Yokoyama, or Otake-san, lived in Moto-lida-cho, Edo

(now Tokyo), is known by the inscription on the pedestal; also the date of the foundation, May 15, 1745, is on it.

While Otake-san was confining herself at Nyonin-do to pray for her deceased husband, Jizo Bodhisattva showed up in

her dream. Then, it is told, that an idea to build a Jizo statue occurred to her.
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TITLE: Koyasan Three Mountains Viewpoint (Koya Sanzan)

The three holy peaks of Mt. Mani, Mt. Yoryu, and Mt. Tenjiku are often referred to collectively as the Koya Sanzan, or
Three Mountains of Koyasan. The mountains rise in an arc around the northern perimeter of Okunoin, the cemetery
where Kobo Daishi (774-835), also known as Kukai, remains in eternal meditation. According to Shingon Buddhist

belief, the holy peaks stand guard over Kobo Daishi’s mausoleum (Gobyo), protecting from harm.

The sides of the mountains that face the Koyasan plateau are managed by Kongobuji Head Temple and the other
temples of Koyasan to protect the unique, primeval forest growing on these sacred slopes. This forest is one of the
few places in Japan where native species from northern Honshu grow naturally alongside a secondary forest of

temperate zone plants.

The summits of Mt. Mani, Mt. Yoryu, and Mt. Tenjiku can be seen from numerous spots along the Nyonin Michi
(Women’s Pilgrimage Route). For centuries, pilgrims and travelers have enjoyed these beautiful mountains in every
season, from the brilliant green foliage of eatly spring to autumn’s fiery colors and winter’s snow. Today, hikers walking
the Koya Sanzan Course can follow in the footsteps of the devout, climbing these peaks and strolling through Koyasan’s

primeval forest.
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TITLE: Kuroko Pass

Located between the sacred summits of Mt. Mani and Mt. Yoryu, Kuroko Pass is one of two historical approaches
connecting Koyasan with Nara Prefecture. The other, Kotsugi Pass, is approximately 1.4 km farther along the path, on
the opposite side of Mt. Yoryu. Although the trails that led from Nara to the Nyonin Michi (Women’s Pilgrimage
Route) are now defunct, this was once a well-traveled road used by religious pilgrims and for the transportation of

people and goods between Koyasan and other places in the Wakayama region.

A small wooden shrine at Kuroko Pass houses a statue of the bodhisattva Jizo. Originally known by the Sanskrit name
Ksitigarbha, Jizo is the protector and patron of travelers, children, and those in need, including the souls of the
deceased. Jizo statues were often placed near crossroads to protect travelers, who customarily stopped to leave offerings

and pray at these roadside shrines.

A shortcut path to the crossroads at a landmark named “Ipponsugi” (Single Cedar) branches off from the Nyonin
Michi at this location, near a set of railroad tracks once used to carry lumber down from Koyasan. Although this forest

railroad fell into disuse during the 1960s, its tracks are still visible in places along the trail.

AR DIRER (HAEEER)
A4 Bl

Sl EEILEBHILEVWSEILOM(CHS. BFFILZRRIBEDRC 2 DOEEMASED 1 DTI. £ 1
DOFHERE, HIILZRETORIAL ERUVC 1.4km F(CATOETAICHDET . RENSLZABADLLIEEFE
SEOHNTVFEAN MO TIEROZVETUZ. MALENBBMCEH. SEFILEFFRULDOAMDIZPREDRET.
APMEBESNHIfEDNTVFELIZ,

RO/ NESBAS DT (CFBHENDOE T #BLE(F. TT>IZTAHILINEWIYI R )Y MEDZBITAISNT
B, RN FED, BT 2E. SEBEOBOTES, YEEE TI . IRAZTIHIC, TFRICFLMMBNEN
N RARIZELEFD. COBIROHILICHHIMPESDZ T 2ON BB TU.




BEIOI —FA21(CH DT FEADTER. COBFITZABNMSDIKRLTVET . T4 SEFILMS ARzt
FEROFRIEEMENE) £\ ILEMALCTATICBOTVE T, 1960 FARER(C, COFKBFBERRICIRDEUIN, 1L
BRVDFRIENS TEEIIICRANE T,

AEELARIDREERRR S
U




929

No.18 Ipponsugi (Single Cedar), Nyonin Michi, Koyasan <= EFHT, FOFRLIE>
Mzl Lz A8

(@ FEEAR] iR, D17
http://koyasan.net/

TEHNOIERFERFR X
TITLE: “Ipponsugi,” the Single Cedar

The Ipponsugi, or Single Cedar, was planted in this location over 550 years ago to serve as a living landmark for travelers
on the Nyonin Michi (Women’s Pilgrimage Route). Cedars (Cryptomeria sp.), known as sugi in Japan, grow extremely tall
and straight, making them easily visible at a distance. This was especially true before the Meiji period (1868—1912),
when many of the surrounding native trees in this area were harvested for timber and did not grow as tall or as close
together as they do today. For centuries, travelers and pilgrims used the Ipponsugi as a meeting point and a landmark

to help them navigate the forested slopes between Kotsugi Pass and Mt. Tenjiku.

Similar landmark cedars, as well as donated decorative cedars, stand in other locations on Koyasan. A trio of ancient
cedars, known as Sanbonsugi (Three Cedars), grows about five minutes’ walk from Ipponsugi, marking the end of a
shortcut to Kuroko Pass. Additionally, the paths of Okunoin cemetery are lined with massive cedars, donated as
saplings that now tower above the grounds. More donated cedars stand near the Daimon, or Great Gate, at the official

entrance to Koyasan.
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TITLE: Daimon

The Daimon, or Great Gate, stands at the western entrance to Koyasan. This massive wooden gate traditionally
represented the official entrance to the Danjo Garan Sacred Temple Complex and the Koyasan plateau. After the

original forir-style gate was destroyed by fire, the Daimon was constructed here in 1705.

Similar gates mark the entrance to many Japanese Buddhist temples. However, while most daimon face south, Koyasan’s
great gate faces west, in the direction of the Pure Land Buddhist paradise—and China, where Koyasan’s founder, Kobo
Daishi (774-835), also known as Kukai, studied Shingon Buddhism before bringing esoteric Buddhist teachings back
to Japan. The Daimon also faces the Japanese island of Shikoku, Kobo Dashi’s birthplace and the location of an
important Shingon Buddhist pilgrimage route that circles the island, passing through eighty-eight temples along the

way.

The two-tiered wooden gate stands 25.1 m high. Three large wooden plaques on the upper tier display three characters
that, together, read “Koyasan.” The upper level of the gate also contains colorful depictions of waves, representing the

hope that both the gate and Koyasan will never again be destroyed by fire.

Two massive statues of 7z, or guardian kings, stand in the bays on either side of the Daimon. These statues serve as
guardians of Koyasan and are among the largest 770 statues remaining in Japan, second only to the massive pair in the
Great South Gate of Todaiji Temple in Nara. On the pillars between the statues, two wooden plaques display
inscriptions in classical Chinese expressing that “each morning, Kobo Daishi emerges from his meditation to watch
over Koyasan and help bring peace,” emphasizing the Shingon Buddhist belief that Kobo Daishi remains in eternal

meditation for the benefit of Koyasan and all people, both in Japan and around the world.
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Daimon. The grand gateway

Important cultural treasure

Situated at the west end of the basin of Koyasan. It is the western entrance to Koyasan. Roads from Kinokawa valley
and Aritagawa valley met here. The gateway was reconstructed in 1705. Recently it was repaired with the opening of

the motor-car road in recent time. It has got activity as an important entrance to Koyasan.
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TEDNOIREERR X
TITLE: Sannoin and Miyashiro Shrine

Sannoin and Miyashiro Shrine are dedicated to Niu Myojin and Kariba Myojin, a pair of Shinto deities that were
venerated in this area before the founding of Koyasan. After studying esoteric Buddhism in China, Kukai (774—-835),
popularly known by the posthumous name Kobo Daishi, returned to found Koyasan as a center for Shingon ascetic
training, study, and worship. Before doing so, he asked permission from, and sought the protection of, the Japanese
deities who inhabited this mountain. In response to KKobo Daishi’s prayers, the deity Kariba Myojin, a hunter-god, sent
two dogs, one white and one black, to guide Kobo Daishi to the location where Koyasan should be established. As a
sign of respect and gratitude, Kobo Daishi arranged for the construction of this shrine, which was originally established
in 819. Kariba Myojin and Niu Myojin are also venerated at shrines in the Amano area, and priests from Koyasan travel

there to pay respect to these deities in addition to conducting worship rituals and making offerings at Sannoin Shrine.

The deities enshrined here are believed to protect not only Koyasan but also the pilgrims and other worshippers who
come to practice and study on this sacred mountain. The Miyashiro shrine consists of three primary buildings: one for
Niu Myojin, another for Kariba Myojin, and a third shrine dedicated to a host of other Shinto deities. The shrines,
which can be seen rising above the trees beyond the 7077 gate at the entrance to Miyashiro Shrine, feature traditional
Shinto architecture, including roofs of hinoki (Japanese cypress) bark. The existing shrines date to 1522 and are

designated an Important Cultural Property of Japan by the government.

The worship hall of Sannoin features a hip and gable roof covered with hinoki bark, and it was most recently rebuilt
in 1845. Although the deities themselves are enshrined beyond the o777 gate, worshippers pay respects to the deities at

Sannoin, where rites on their behalf are performed regularly.

This shrine exemplifies the peaceful coexistence of the Shinto and Buddhist faiths in Japan. Throughout history,
Japanese Buddhist temples have recognized and shown respect for the native Shinto deities inhabiting locations that

are simultaneously revered as Buddhist holy sites.
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The Shrines of the Divinities.

(Important cultural treasures) and Sanndin

The shrines are dedicated to Goddess Nyu. God Koya(Kariba) and minor divinities. Kobo-daishi invited the guardian
divinities of Koyasan from Amano at the foot of Kéyasan. Priests in the mountain have worshipped the two divinities

since old time. The hall of the worship in front of the shrines is used for religious discussion of the priests that are

held on fixed dates.
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TEHNOIEREERR X
TITLE: Great Pagoda (Konpon Daito)

After founding Koyasan, Kobo Daishi (774—835), who was also known as Kukai, arranged for the construction of the
Konpon Daito, or Great Pagoda. The pagoda was intended not only to serve as a place of worship, but also to contain
a three-dimensional representation of the Womb Realm Mandala for use by Shingon priests as an important tool for
training and ongoing meditation. Although construction of the Konpon Daito began in 816, Kobo Daishi entered his
eternal meditation before the building was complete. His successor, Shinzen Daitoku (804—891), oversaw the remaining
work, which was completed in 876.

The Konpon Daito is a two-storied pagoda, believed to be the first of its kind in Japan. In the rain, or in windy
conditions, visitors can hear the ringing of the dozens of bronze wind bells connected to the spire. Portraits of the
eight patriarchs who spread the teachings of esoteric Buddhism, known within the Shingon sect as the Eight Great
Doctrine-Expounding Patriarchs, are painted on the corners of the Konpon Daito’s interior walls. These patriarchs
include not only Kobo Daishi but also Huiguo (746-805), known in Japanese as Keika, the Chinese Buddhist monk
who taught Kobo Daishi the principles of esoteric Buddhism.

The pagoda interior houses the rare, three-dimensional representation of the Womb Realm Mandala, a ritual
visualization of the metaphysical universe and an important part of Shingon Buddhist practice. At the center sits a
massive statue of Dainichi Nyorai (known in Sanskrit as Vairocana), surrounded by other statues and pillars with
paintings depicting the other Buddhist deities of the Diamond Realm. Most mandalas appear in painted form, or as

tapestries, making the Konpon Daito a unique opportunity to experience this symbolic and sacred Buddhist teaching.

The pagoda has been destroyed by fire and lightning, and subsequently rebuilt, on multiple occasions, most recently

during the eatly twentieth century.

RS DIRER (HAEEER)
A4 IRAKEE

EEFILZESIIE. Z2BERNSNDINEAREN(774-835) (IABAKRIBEDRII 218D F U, COEFHTODHZEL TR
TR EEBEOIFRCIERCEOTEETHDY - MEFOIASRIEZHIIIBHTU, IRAKED
BB 816 FICIAFDFULN, SAEKREDIZDTTABICHKEDIEIBAEASN KU, #EAEB THOLERKTE




(804~891) HFEDDERZEEL. 876 F(CTE TUFUIT,

BAKB(E SEBFRECTEERRTOEOEENNTHED, —EETOIETY . MPLEOBRC(E. RKiFH
(&, SHBCENDE 2 DRFENMEDDZZEULDHET . BEOBAZILHILES\EN . BAKEOEDOACHNN
TWVWET,, CZ(XFELERBIDH TR, SNERRDICEE R Z B LA, PEEOZEBE THIER(746-805 b3 F
nTuEg,

ERICEEULLVIREROILAREFRENDDFIT . CNFEM EFNRMEREZRIFULEDOTHD, EEZZIEOT
BETYI., PCHIRSHBARBUEROE (BORAVIYRGETIE Vairocana ELTHISNTVEY) (& ERIFROIY
b PHAKREFEOGL. ENSMEMIAECEFENTVET ., SRELTEBBROMINTOVDIED. F(EHEDT
RFINDZFNZNTT, 2O, IRAKIE(ES DRI THEERZEBOER AR TEHESTT .

RAKIEE NEOEICLD, AEBRE R BESINTEELL. BEIEOBRERF 2 0 tHico#HBITITONE
L/’T:o

ARBELBI DR B S
Konpon Dait6 (Great Fundamental Pagoda)

The Konpon Dait6 is the tallest building in Koyasan. After Kobo Daishi Kukai was granted the use of Koyasan by
Emperor Saga in 816, he decided to build the first monastic complex entirely dedicated to the teaching and practice of
Esoteric Buddhism. He planned to construct two large two-storied pagodas diagonally behind the Kondo in the eastern
and western directions. Plans called for the Konpon Dait6 to be about 48.5m high, and because of its great size it was

finally completed around 876, over 40 years after K6bo Daishi entered eternal meditation.

In later centuries the Konpon Dait6 was destroyed in fires caused by lightning strikes five times, and rebuilt each time.

After the great fire of 1843, only the foundation stones remained. The existing building was rebuilt in 1937.

Architecturally , the Konpon Dait6 is classified as an early form of the two-storied pagoda. The body of the pagoda is
circular, with a square lower storey with an attached pent roof and walls. The majestic Konpon Dait6 is today exactly

as it was when it was first constructed, and is known as a symbol of Kéyasan.
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TEDNOIREERR X
TITLE: Fudodo (Acala Hall)

The Fudodo, or Acala Hall, has been designated a National Treasure by the government of Japan. The hall, which is
not open to the public, enshrines images of Fudo Myoo, known in Sanskrit as Acala, a highly venerated deity in the
Shingon sect of Buddhism, along with his eight attendants. In Shingon Buddhism, Fudo Myoo is seen as a
manifestation of the celestial Buddha, Vairocana (known in Japanese as Dainichi Nyorai), who delivers Buddhist truth
through fear and might, though he also has great compassion for all people. For this reason, Fudo is often portrayed

as scowling, carrying a sword and rope, and surrounded by a halo of fire.

Although the exact date of its construction remains unknown, tradition holds that the Fudodo was originally built in
the ninth year of the Kenkyu era (1198) at the request of Imperial Princess Hachijo, the daughter of Emperor Toba
(1180-1239). It is also believed that the original hall enshrined an image of Amitabha, also known as Amida, the
Buddha of Infinite Light. The Fudodo was originally constructed at a different location within Koyasan and rebuilt
during the fourteenth century. It was moved to its current location in 1908 and most recently refurbished in 1996. The
Fudodo has a unique architectural style, combining elements from residential buildings of the Heian period (794—1185)

with elements of traditional temple architecture, like its sloping roof of hinoki (Japanese cypress) bark.

It is believed that the original images of Fudo’s attendants were created under the direction of the sculptor Unkei
(approx.1150-1223), a famed artist of the Kamakura period (1185-1333). The original statues are now kept in

Koyasan’s Reihokan Museum.

naﬁﬁFu%Y@'ﬂiDR (EZKDEIDR)
AANL : RENE

AHEREECHEEINTOFT . CORBEF—HRAFTRISVFEAN EEERICBLTRICEENTVS
AEAE (UPRTUYNETE Acala EFHENTVET) & ABIBAECOSFES 8 ADNAREFHIESNTVE
¥, BEEBRCHVT, REBAEEFXRBIMROHIRLEEDNTVET, BNEBINSEBOEXZREITHES
ODNFIN FEEFIC, EARBSHIDRVEBEOTVET COMs, EHOME T, RILIBZIFS. ROIEHEEH
FKFNZENZNTT,




EEOBIZBEAREATIN. BR 9 F (1198 F) (. BPLEDEL., N\ELfrzFEELL TEIENZUL T
ABNTVET . B B EFERPELNRMTESN TOZEBENNTVET , BEEEA B E FREFLLOF THEID
SPRCEIIEN. 14 HIRICEEINELI, 1908 F(IRTEDIZFANEZEIN. 1996 FICHEFESINFUL. RABE
(F. BEN(COEEBDOEMTY . LR (794-1185) DEFEOEZR(CINZ. IR E TIEOIBERIOHDERBE R
RNRFROBREEFNTVFET,

N\KREF(E, BRERF(1185-1333)[CAUTHOIREXIEM. R (1150-1223 LB)(CEIDEBNIZEENDNTVET ., ]
MIEEILEFRECHIEFT,

AREELAIOREEMHH X
Fud6do (Acala Temple)

A national treasure

According to a tradition,the temple was built by Bushop Gyo6sho according to the vow of princess Hachijo in 1197,
Though the exact date of construction is unknown, it is supposed to date from the later Kamakura periods The altar
is at the back of the inner shrines The rood has a gentle slop. The whole building is reminiscent of the style of the

residence in the Heian periode
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TEDNOIREERR X
TITLE: The History of Koyasan

Koyasan is a sacred plateau located on a mountain more than 800 m above sea level, and it serves as a spiritual center
for the study and practice of Shingon esoteric Buddhism. Founded by the Japanese priest Kobo Daishi (774-835),
originally known as Kukai, over twelve centuries ago as the headquarters of Koyasan Shingon Buddhism, Koyasan
remains an active center of Buddhist worship, study, and meditation to this day. In 2004, Koyasan was named a

UNESCO World Heritage Site, as part of the Sacred Sites and Pilgrimage Routes in the Kii Mountain Range.

In addition to the sacred temple complex of Danjo Garan, Koyasan is home to 117 Shingon temples, the Nyonin Michi
(Women’s Pilgrimage Route) that circles the Koyasan plateau, and the holy cemetery of Okunoin, which is also the site

of Kobo Daishi’s mausoleum (Gobyo).

Kobo Daishi learned the teachings of esoteric Buddhism while studying in China. Upon his return to Japan in 8006, he
established the sect now known as Koyasan Shingon Buddhism and searched for a place to construct a center for
esoteric Buddhist training and practice. Legend says that just before leaving China, Kobo Daishi threw his sankosho (a
double-ended, three-pronged ceremonial scepter) toward Japan. Upon reaching Japan, he searched for the scepter and,
with the assistance of the Shinto deities who inhabited this holy mountain, located the sankosho in the branches of a

pine tree on Koyasan. This famous tree still grows near the Miedo, or Great Portrait Hall, of Danjo Garan.

In 816, the Emperor Saga (786—842) granted Kobo Daishi permission to establish Koyasan. Although construction
commenced that year, Kobo Daishi entered eternal meditation in 835, before completion of the temple complex.
Thereafter, his disciple and successor, Daitoku Shinzen, along with a number of other disciples, spearheaded the effort
to complete the grand Danjo Garan complex that Kobo Daishi had envisioned. Today, it is believed that Kobo Daishi
remains in eternal meditation at his mausoleum (Gobyo) in Okunoin, praying for the peace and prosperity of Japan and

the enlightenment of people around the world.
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Foundation of Koéyasan

Situated to the south of the river Kinokawa in Ito county.Wakayama prefecture. Koyasan is a basin on a mountain 820
meters above the sea level. It was granted to Kobo-daishi as a place of meditation by the imperial court 1,200 yeats
ago. Practitioners at Koyasan endeavour to identify themselves with the Buddha by spiritual unification. Kobo-daishi
sent his disciples to explore Koyasan since 816. They cleared the precinct called Danjé on Mt.Koyasan. He planned to
establish not only a monastery. Shrines of guardian divities. But a grand stupa. But it was extremely diffic It. Monastery

Chuin was the residence of Kobo-daishi and his disciples.
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TEHNOIRERERX
TITLE: Tokugawa Mausoleum

Since its founding by Kobo Daishi (774-835) during the ninth century, Koyasan has drawn people from all social
standings, including many members of Japans medieval warrior ruling class. The Tokugawa mausoleums were
constructed in 1643 by Tokugawa Iemitsu (1604—1651), the third Tokugawa shogun, who ruled Japan from 1623 to
1651. Iemitsu arranged for the construction of mausoleums to enshrine the spirits of his grandfather Shogun
Tokugawa leyasu (1543—1616), who unified Japan and founded the Tokugawa Shogunate, along with his father, Shogun
Tokugawa Hidetada (1579-1632).

When facing the mausoleums, the building on the right is dedicated to Ieyasu, while the one on the left is for Hidetada.
Although neither of the former Tokugawa shoguns is actually buried in these mausoleums, the buildings are officially
designated Important Cultural Properties by the government of Japan and also remain an important memorial to two
of Japan’s greatest and best-known historical figures. A mortuary chapel for later generations of Tokugawas was once

located just to the east of these mausoleums, but it was destroyed by fire in 1888 and was not rebuilt.

Both buildings are excellent examples of Edo period (1603—-1867) mausoleum architecture which featured numerous,
elaborate carvings and beautiful metalwork on every surface. The decorations were designed to accentuate, rather than
draw attention from, the graceful lines of the architecture, which include the surrounding verandas and railings,
undulating bargeboards over the entry, and a box-like roban base over the peaked roof to prevent leaking where the

sections of the roof meet at the center.

Although not open to the public, every inch of the interior of each mausoleum was skillfully and painstakingly
decorated. The adornments include golden overlays, elaborate metalwork, and colorful paintings, all designed to pay

homage to shoguns Ieyasu and Hidetada.
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Mausolea of the Tokugawas

Important cultural treasures

A pair of similar buildings are existent at the back of the Daitokuin. the head monastery of the community of the
Hijiris (itinerant priests) in former days.

The cach side of the temple is only 6-7meters longbut the temples are highly adorned with wooden sculptures.
Variegated colors. Lacquer decoration and ornamental metal works.

They were probably completed in 1643.
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The Kyo-Osaka Michi Fudozaka Pilgrimage Trail follows a portion of the historical route that once connected Koyasan
with the cities of Kyoto and Osaka. The trail begins near Gokurakubashi Station, the lower terminus of the Koyasan
cable car line. From there, the trail follows a steep, curving path which splits in two at Irohazaka slope. One trail follows
the original Fudozaka course, while the second follows an easier route constructed in 1915 to replace the more difficult
original trail. Today hikers can choose to follow either the newer, easier route or the more historical course. The two
routes cross once, near the Kiyomeno Fudodo (Kiyomeno Fudo Hall), and become a single route once more at

Hanaorizaka slope, approximately 400 m below the trail’s endpoint at the Fudozaka Guchi Nyonindo Hall.

Near the Fudozaka Route grow forests of gyamaki, or umbrella pine (Sciadopitys verticillata), a conifer native to Japan
that has grown on the slopes of Koyasan since prehistoric times. Because its needles grow in spiral patterns that
resemble flowers and remain fresh long after cutting, branches from the &gyamaki are often used in formal arrangements

and as offerings at temples and graves at Koyasan.

Historically, routes like the Fudozaka Pilgrimage Trail were used not only by religious pilgrims but also by other
travelers. People used the various routes up Koyasan, as well as the Nyonin Michi (Women’s Pilgrimage Route), to travel
and transport goods between locations on opposite sides of Koyasan and also to other places throughout Japan. The
Fudozaka Pilgrimage Trail was one of the most important, and busiest, of these routes, and the Fudozaka Guchi
Nyonindo Hall was a key meeting place and lodging point for the travelers using this route to climb the sacred mountain.
For much of Koyasan’s history, the Fudozaka Guchi Nyonindo Hall was also the closest women could get to entering
Koyasan. Until the Meiji petiod (1868-1912), religious restrictions prohibited women from entering the sacred plateau.

However, many women climbed the mountain and circled Koyasan using the Nyonin Michi.

In addition to the Fudozaka Guchi Nyonindo Hall, other buildings were constructed near the terminus of the Fudozaka
Pilgrimage Trail at vatious times during Koyasan’s history. The number and nature of these buildings changed over

time to meet the needs of travelers on the Fudozaka and other travel routes.

The Fudozaka Pilgrimage Trail fell into disuse during the early Meiji period when trains, roads, and the Koyasan cable




car replaced the hiking routes as the primary means of access to Koyasan. However, religious pilgrims and hikers
continue to use this route, as well as the longer Koyasan Choishimichi Pilgrimage Route, to approach Koyasan on foot

for recreational and religious purposes.
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The slopes of Koyasan are one of the few remaining native habitats of &gyamaki, or Japanese umbrella pine (Scadopitys
verticillata). Although these slow-growing trees have existed for over 200 million years, and once grew widely around
the world, most of the koyamaki forests died, or were destroyed, about two million years ago. Today, Japan is home to
most of the world’s remaining koyamaki. Due to preservation efforts and the designation of this area as a protected

site, this forest on Koyasan has the largest concentration of koyamaki in Japan.

Koyamaki have no close genetic relatives and are the only members of their scientific family (Sciadopityaceae) and genus
(Sciadopitys). For this reason, and because of their long history in the fossil record, koyamaki are sometimes referred to
as “living fossils.” The trees produce seed-bearing cones that take over a year to mature, and their needles grow in a
spiral shape that resembles an umbrella or a flower, giving rise to its common English name, “umbrella pine.” Its

Japanese name, koyamaki, is a reference to Koyasan.

Because the koyamaki’s beautiful spiral needles remain alive and fresh long after being cut, it is a long-standing tradition
on Koyasan to use koyamaki branches in place of flowers in formal arrangements and as offerings at temples and

graves.

In nature, the koyamaki’s trunk and branches normally grow straight and tall. However, regular pruning can cause the
tree to assume a gnarled or twisted shape. For this reason, koyamaki growing in protected forests or in the wild may
look quite different from the ones that grow near temples, where their branches are regulatly pruned for offerings and

rituals.

Visitors can enjoy these beautiful, symbolic trees throughout the entire length of the Nyonin Michi (Women’s

Pilgrimage Route) and can also see them growing in the gardens of many temples in Koyasan.
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TITLE: Kiyomeno Fudodo (Kiyomeno Fudo Hall)

Kiyomeno Fudodo (Kiyomeno Fudo Hall) is a temple dedicated to the deity Fudo Myoo. The temple, which takes its
name from the deity, enshrines an image of Fudo Myoo (Sanskrit: Acala), one of the most important Buddhist deities
revered by the Shingon sect of esoteric Buddhism. Although often depicted with a fierce expression and surrounded
by a flaming halo, Fudo is considered a compassionate incarnation of the celestial Buddha, Dainichi Nyorai (Sanskrit:
Vairocana), who delivers Buddhist truth to human beings. Pilgrims traveling up the trail to Koyasan would stop to pray

and make offerings to Fudo Myoo before continuing their journey to the top of the sacred mountain.

Tradition states that the original image of Fudo Myoo enshrined at this hall was created by Kobo Daishi (774-835),
also known as Kukai, the Japanese priest who founded Koyasan as a center of esoteric Buddhist teaching and worship.
The original Fudo statue was 84 cm tall and carved from cedar. Because the image was damaged by time and weather,

it is now stored at the Koyasan Reihokan Museum for safekeeping.

The hall is currently located about halfway up the Fudozaka Pilgrimage Trail, between the trail’s starting point at
Gokurakubashi Station and its upper terminus at the Fudozaka Guchi Nyonindo Hall. However, the Kiyomeno Fudodo
was originally located along the earlier iteration of the Fudozaka Trail. The first hall suffered damage, and was rebuilt,
during the seventeenth century and again in 1883. When the Fudozaka Trail was renovated and relocated to this position

in 1915, the Fudodo was also moved to its current location.
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Bentendake, or Mt. Benten, is one of the sacred peaks that rise around the Koyasan plateau like the petals of a lotus
flower. The Shinto shrine on the summit of Mt. Benten venerates the goddess Benzaiten, a Japanese deity derived from
the Hindu goddess Saraswati. Associated with and worshipped by both the Shinto and Buddhist faiths, Benzaiten is
the patron goddess of everything that flows, including music, water, time, speech, and wisdom. The goddess is believed

to protect the springs of water that flow to, and supply, this sacred plateau.

In addition to the shrine atop Mt. Benten, six smaller shrines to Benzaiten stand at various locations on Koyasan.

According to the Kii Shoku Fudoki, an ancient record of the area roughly corresponding to present-day Wakayama
Prefecture, Kobo Daishi, also known as Kukai (774—835), traveled to Nara (then known as Yamato) around the time
he founded Koyasan, to invite the goddess Benzaiten to protect this new center of Buddhist teaching and worship.
The goddess agreed and returned to Koyasan with Kobo Daishi, placing a portion of her essence into an enchanted
peatl that Kobo Daishi buried in the ground at the summit of Mt. Benten. Since that time, the goddess has been an

important protector and patroness of Koyasan.
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Mt. Yoryu (1,009 m) is one of the Koya Sanzan, or “Three Mountains of Koyasan”—three neighboring peaks that
surround the northern end of the Koyasan plateau. It is believed that these three mountains stand guard over the
mausoleum (Gobyo) at Okunoin where Kobo Daishi (774-835), originally known as Kukai, the Japanese Buddhist priest

who founded Koyasan, remains in eternal meditation.

Like many holy places in Japan, Mt. Yoryu is considered sacred to both the Buddhist and Shinto faiths. The small
Buddhist shrine on the summit of Mt. Yoryu contains an image of Kannon, the Buddhist goddess of mercy, that dates
back to at least the Edo period (1603—1867). Nearby, a small wooden Shinto shrine venerates the native deities of the

mountain.

For centuries, travelers on the Nyonin Michi (Women’s Pilgrimage Route) have stopped atop Mt. Yoryu and other holy
peaks to pray and make offerings to the deities enshrined here. Visitors are recommended to stop on the mountaintop
to enjoy the unique primeval forest that grows on the Koyasan Sanzan, which showcases growth patterns that are rarely
found in Japan. This is one of the few places where native trees from northern Honshu grow naturally alongside a

secondary forest of temperate zone plants.
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